CMOS PHOTODETECTORS FOR LOW-LIGHT-LEVEL IMAGING APPLICATIONS

CMOS PHOTODETECTORS FOR LOW-LIGHT-LEVEL IMAGING APPLICATIONS

By

Naser Faramarzpour B.Sc. Sharif University of Technology, 2002 M.S. McMaster University, 2004

A Thesis

Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

> McMaster University Hamilton, Ontario, Canada

© Copyright by Naser Faramarzpour, April 2008

Doctor of Philosophy (2008) (Electrical and Computer Engineering) McMaster University Hamilton, Ontario

TITLE:

CMOS photodetectors for low-light-level imaging applications

AUTHOR:

Naser Faramarzpour, B.Sc. Sharif University of Technology, Tehran, Iran M.S. McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada

Prof. M. Jamal Deen and Prof. Shahram Shirani

SUPERVISORS:

NUMBER OF PAGES:

152

ii

ABSTRACT

Weak optical signals have to be measured in different fields of sciences including chemistry and biology. For example, very low levels of fluorescence emission should be detected from the spots on a DNA microarray that correspond to weakly expressed genes. High sensitivity charge-coupled devices (CCDs) are used in these applications. CCDs require special fabrication and are difficult to integrate with other circuits. CMOS is the technology used for fabrication of CPUs and other widely used digital components. CMOS is not optimized for light detection. CMOS circuits are however cheap, low power and can integrate several components.

Active pixel sensor (APS) is the most common pixel structure for CMOS photodetector arrays. In this work we provide an accurate analysis of the APS signal using new models for the capacitance of the photodiode. We also provide a complete noise analysis of the pixel to calculate the SNR of the pixel and provide optimum operation points. We propose a new mode of operation for APS that can achieve at least 10 dB higher SNR, than conventional APS, at light levels of less than $1 \,\mu$ W/cm². We fabricated several APS pixels in CMOS 0.18 μ m technology and measured them to confirm the proposed analyzes.

There are applications like fluorescence lifetime imaging that require both sensitivity and fast response. Photomultiplier tubes (PMTs) are commonly used in these applications to detect single photons in pico- to nano-seconds regime. PMTs are bulky and require high voltage levels. Avalanche photodiodes (APDs) are the semiconductor equivalent of PMTs. We have fabricated different APDs along with different peripheral circuitries in CMOS 0.18 μ m technology. Our APDs have a 5.5 percent peak probability of detection of a photon at an excess bias of 2 V, and a 30 ns dead time, which is less than the previously reported results.

The low price of CMOS makes modern diagnosis devices more available. The low power of CMOS leads to battery-driven hand-held imaging solutions, and its high integration leads to miniaturized imaging and diagnosis systems. A low-light-level CMOS imager paves the way for the future generation of biomedical diagnosis solutions.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my gratitude to my supervisor Prof. M. Jamal Deen. It is difficult to put in words my extent of appreciation for him. He has helped, supported and encouraged me throughout this work. His dedicated guidance and unconditional assistance has motivated me in the past six years to become a better scholar and a better person.

I would also like to express my deep appreciation and sincere thanks to my cosupervisor Prof. Shahram Shirani for his guidance, help and encouragement. All he has ever taught me will surely outlive this phase of my life.

I am also thankful to Dr. Q. Fang for his cooperation and valuable advices during optical measurements, Dr. K. Sartipi for his help with my TA duties, Dr. A. Rezvani for providing some CMOS technology parameters, and Drs. L.W.C. Liu, S.A. Igdoura and J.W. Swart for their collaborations in the biomedical field.

I wish to thank Prof. S. Kumar of the ECE department and Prof. P. Jessop of the Engineering Physics department for acting as members of my Supervisory committee.

My thanks also go to my colleagues at the Communications Research Lab., S. Naseh, F. de Souza Campos, S. Asgaran, H. Mazhab Jafari, A. Ebrahimi Moghaddam, M. Eldesouki, M. Kfouri, M. Naser, W. Shinwari and F. Mohammedy. I also thank Dr. O. Marinov for his technical assistance and theoretical discussions.

I thank the Canadian Microelectronics Corporation (CMC) for arranging the fabrication of the test chips, the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council (NSERC) of Canada, and the Canada Research chair program for partially funding this work.

I would also like to thank the administrative and technical staff of the ECE department of McMaster University: Cheryl Gies, Helen Jachna, Terry Greenlay and Cosmin Coroiu.

Last but certainly not least, I thank my wife and my parents for their emotional support and encouragement. This thesis is dedicated to them.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

| A/D | Analog to Digital | | | |
|---------|---|--|--|--|
| ADC | Analog to Digital Conversion | | | |
| AGC | Automatic Gain Control | | | |
| AMIS | AMI Semiconductor | | | |
| AMS | Analog mixed signal | | | |
| APD | Avalanche Photodiode | | | |
| APS | Active Pixel Sensor | | | |
| BJT | Bipolar Junction Transistor | | | |
| C-V | Capacitance-Voltage | | | |
| CCD | Charge-Coupled Device | | | |
| CCE | Charge Conversion Efficiency | | | |
| CDS | Correlated Double Sampling | | | |
| CFA | Color Filter Array | | | |
| CMC | Canadian Microelectronics Corporation | | | |
| CMOS | Complementary Metal-Oxide-Semiconductor | | | |
| dB | Decibel | | | |
| DC | Direct Current | | | |
| DESSIS | Device Simulation for Smart Integrated Systems | | | |
| DNA | Deoxyribonucleic acid | | | |
| DOP | Depth of Field | | | |
| DR | Dynamic Range | | | |
| IBM | International Business Machines Corporation | | | |
| ECE | Electrical and Computer Engineering | | | |
| FET | Field Effect Transistor | | | |
| FF | Fill Factor | | | |
| FPN | Fixed Pattern Noise | | | |
| GC-LBT | Gate-controlled Lateral Bipolar Transistor | | | |
| GENESIS | General Neural Simulation System | | | |
| GI | Gastrointestinal | | | |
| GMAP | Geiger-mode Avalanche Photodiode | | | |
| GND | Ground | | | |
| I-V | Current-Voltage | | | |
| IEEE | Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineering | | | |
| JPL | Jet Propulsion Laboratory | | | |
| LDD | Lightly Doped Drain | | | |
| LED | Light-Emitting Diode | | | |
| LOCOS | Local Oxidation of Silicon | | | |
| MOS | Metal-Oxide-Semiconductor | | | |
| MOSFET | Metal-Oxide-Semiconductor Field-Effect Transistor | | | |
| MPU | Microprocessor Unit | | | |
| NHK | Nippon Hōsō Kyōkai, or Japan Broadcasting Corporation | | | |
| NMOS | n-channel MOSFET | | | |
| PAPS | Pseudo-Active Pixel Sensor | | | |

| PCR | Polymerase Chain Reaction | | |
|-------|---|--|--|
| PDP | Photon Detection Probability | | |
| PG | Photo-Gate | | |
| PMOS | p-channel MOSFET | | |
| PMT | Photo-multiplier Tube | | |
| PPS | Passive Pixel Sensor | | |
| PR | Preset | | |
| PRNU | Photo-Response Non-Uniformity | | |
| PSD | Power Spectral Density | | |
| PSS | Periodic Steady-State | | |
| QE | Quantum Efficiency | | |
| RF | Radio Frequency | | |
| RMS | Root Mean Square | | |
| RNA | Ribonucleic Acid | | |
| SAPD | Silicon Avalanche Photodiode | | |
| SDRAM | Synchronous Dynamic Random Access Memory | | |
| SNR | Signal-to-Noise Ratio | | |
| SoC | System-on-a-Chip | | |
| SOI | Silicon on Insulator | | |
| SPAD | Single Photon Avalanche Diode | | |
| STI | Shallow Trench Isolation | | |
| TIRFM | Total Internal Reflection Fluorescence Microscopy | | |
| TX | Transmission gate | | |
| UDTV | Ultra-High Definition TV | | |
| UHF | Ultra High Frequency | | |
| UV | Ultraviolet | | |
| VLSI | Very Large Scale Integration | | |

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| ABSTRACT | III |
|--|-----------------------|
| LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS | V |
| LIST OF FIGURES | X |
| LIST OF TABLES | XVIII |
| CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION AND APPLICATIONS | 1 |
| 1.1. Emerging applications | 1 |
| 1.1.1. DNA microarrays 1.1.2. Fluorescence lifetime imaging 1.1.3. Total internal reflection fluorescence microscopy 1.1.4. Fluorescence spectroscopy 1.1.5. Camera pill | 1 3 4 5 7 |
| 1.2. Current solutions | 9 |
| 1.2.1. Basics of silicon photodetection1.2.2. CCD1.2.3. PMT | 9 10 12 |
| 1.3. Integrated photodetectors | 14 |
| 1.3.1. Imaging system1.3.2. Advantages of CMOS photodetectors1.3.3. Limitations of CMOS photodetectors | 15 16 17 |
| 1.4. Effect of scaling | |
| 1.4.1. Effect on Photodiodes 1.4.2. Effect on APS arrays 1.4.3. Effect on APD detectors | |
| 1.5. Signal notations | |
| 1.6. Outline of thesis | |
| 1.7. Contributions | |
| CHAPTER 2 THREE-TRANSISTOR ACTIVE PIXEL SENSOR (APS) | 28 |
| 2.1. Introduction | |
| 2.1.1. Passive pixel sensor circuit | |
| 2.1.2. Three transistor active pixel sensor circuit | |
| 2.2. Overview of APS implementations in literature | |

| 2.3. APS signal during integration | 31 |
|--|----------------------------|
| 2.3.1. <i>C-V</i> analysis for exponential junction and our <i>C-V</i> measurements 2.3.2. Analysis of APS signal and comparison to measured APS signal | 32 36 |
| 2.4. APS noise | 38 |
| 2.4.1. Fixed pattern noise. 2.4.2. Reset noise | 38 38 40 43 45 |
| 2.5. Signal to noise ratio (SNR) of APS | 47 |
| 2.5.1. Optimum integration time and maximum SNR of pixel 2.5.2. Our measurements | 48 49 |
| CHAPTER 3 IMAGE SENSOR WITH PIXEL-LEVEL PROCESSING | 53 |
| 3.1. Review of APS variations in literature | |
| 3.1.1. Photogate APS | 53 |
| 3.1.2. Logarithmic pixels | 54 |
| 3.1.3. Current-mediated | 55 |
| 3.1.4. High DR | 56 |
| 3.1.5. In-pixel ADC | 57 |
| 3.1.6. Pseudo-active pixel senor | 59 |
| 3.1.8 Conventional APS | 01 |
| 3.2 APS nixels with internal comparator and integrator | 62 |
| | 02 |
| 3.2.1. APS with comparator | 63 |
| 3.2.3. Comparison | 70 |
| 3.3. Multisampling, time-domain APS | 71 |
| 3.3.1. Architecture and frame-rate analysis | 72 |
| 3.3.2. Experimental results. | 76 |
| 3.4. Lateral BJT | 77 |
| 3.4.1. Structure | 77 |
| 3.4.2. Principle of operation of GC-LBT as photodetector | 79 |
| 3.5. APS array | 81 |
| CHAPTER 4 DC LEVEL MODE APS | 82 |
| 4.1. Analysis of DC level mode | 84 |
| 4.1.1 Sense node voltage during reset | 84 |
| 4.1.2. Sense node voltage after integration and DC level mode analysis | 87 |

| 4.1.3. Noise analysis of DC level mode: Auto-regressive noise model | 9 |
|---|------------------|
| 4.2. DC level SNR optimization | 3 |
| 4.3. Measurements and comparison | 6 |
| CHAPTER 5 AVALANCHE PHOTODIODES AND APD-BASED SYSTEMS 10 | 0 |
| 5.1. Overview of APD implementations in literature 10 | 1 |
| 5.2. APD design | 2 |
| 5.2.1. APD layout | 2 3 |
| 5.3. APD fabrication | 4 |
| 5.4. APD characterization | 5 |
| 5.4.1. I-V characteristics1005.4.2. Breakdown voltage vs. temperature1005.4.3. Discussion on breakdown mechanism and microplasma1005.4.4. Quantum efficiency of Geiger-mode APDs110 | 6 7 9 5 |
| 5.5. Comparison | 8 |
| 5.6. Geiger-mode passive APD | 9 |
| 5.6.1. Resistor vs. active load | 0 1 |
| 5.7. Geiger-mode APD with active peripheral circuitry | 3 |
| 5.7.1. Basics of peripheral circuitry: Schematic and layout | 3 6 8 9 |
| CHAPTER 6 CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS | 2 |
| 6.1. Conclusions | 2 |
| 6.2. Recommendations | 5 |
| REFERENCES | 8 |
| APPENDIX A | 8 |
| APPENDIX B | 0 |

LIST OF FIGURES

| baring DNA test samples and | Figure 1-1: Processes of printing a DNA microarray, preparing DI |
|--|---|
| ent. Microarrays are usually | scanning the microarray after the experiment. Micro |
| DNA sequences are tagged | printed on glass slides. Test and reference DNA se |
| hybridization. Outcome of a | with red and green fluorescent tags before hybridiza |
| 1.6]2 | microarray experiment is a two-color image [1.6] |
| the excitation pulse and the | Figure 1-2: (a) Fluorescence spectral response showing the exci |
| cence lifetime measurement | emission pulse. (b) Time resolved fluorescence lif |
| | [1.10] |
| gle of the light beam is high | Figure 1-3: (a) Simplified structure of a TIRFM. The angle of th |
| ther interface. (b) Transport of | enough to be totally reflected at the glass-water interf |
| the nuclear envelope of a | a single NTF2-Alexa633 molecule across the nuc |
| TIRFM (Figures taken from | biological cell (400 frames/s) recorded using TIRFM |
| | [1.13]). |
| n spectroscopy. The emitted | Figure 1-4: Simplified setup for excitation and emission spectro |
| I the excitation and emission | light from the lamp has a wide spectrum and the exc |
| relengths. The emission from | diffraction gratings are used to select the wavelengths |
| lar to the excitation beam in | the sample is sensed at an angle perpendicular to the |
| he excitation beam in the | order to minimize the interference of the excit |
| | photodetector. |
| s of the human GI tract, like | Figure 1-5: (a) It is difficult to reach some of the regions of the |
| opy methods. (b) PillCam of | the small intestine, with conventional endoscopy met |
| a camera and captures and | Given Imaging, is a capsule that contains a camer |
| ome of the pictures taken by | sends images from inside the GI tract. (c) Some of t |
| d [1.18]) | PillCam (Figures taken from [1.16], [1.17] and [1.18] |
| baring DNA test samples and ent. Microarrays are usually DNA sequences are tagged hybridization. Outcome of 1.6] the excitation pulse and the cence lifetime measurement gle of the light beam is high ter interface. (b) Transport of the nuclear envelope of TIRFM (Figures taken from a spectroscopy. The emitted the excitation and emission relengths. The emission from lar to the excitation beam in the excitation beam in the s of the human GI tract, like opy methods. (b) PillCam of a camera and captures and ome of the pictures taken b id [1.18]). | Figure 1-1: Processes of printing a DNA microarray, preparing Discanning the microarray after the experiment. Microarray of the microarray after the experiment. Microarray experiment of a gravity and the experiment is a two-color image [1.6] Figure 1-2: (a) Fluorescence spectral response showing the excient emission pulse. (b) Time resolved fluorescence life [1.10] Figure 1-3: (a) Simplified structure of a TIRFM. The angle of the enough to be totally reflected at the glass-water interfars a single NTF2-Alexa633 molecule across the nucleological cell (400 frames/s) recorded using TIRFM [1.13]). Figure 1-4: Simplified setup for excitation and emission spectron light from the lamp has a wide spectrum and the excient diffraction gratings are used to select the wavelengths the sample is sensed at an angle perpendicular to the order to minimize the interference of the excit photodetector. Figure 1-5: (a) It is difficult to reach some of the regions of the the small intestine, with conventional endoscopy met Given Imaging, is a capsule that contains a camer sends images from inside the GI tract. (c) Some of the PillCam (Figures taken from [1.16], [1.17] and [1.18] |

- Figure 1-6: A simplified diagram of the camera pill. The pill includes LEDs to illuminate the scene. It captures and transmits real-time video. The pill consists of batteries, and imaging, optics and wireless modules (Taken from [1.23], Fig. 1).
- Figure 1-7: Top and cross-sectional views of a CCD array. Charges are transferred within columns with a two-phase mechanism. Columns are separated with a thick field oxide and a p⁺ channel stop (Taken from [1.25], Fig. 3).

- Figure 1-11: Photomultiplier tube (Taken from [1.27]). An 11200 PMT array, made in super-K neutrino observatory in Japan. The colossal structure is filled

with 50000 tons of pure heavy water to detect subatomic particles thrown by supernovas billions of miles away (Taken from [1.28]).....14 Figure 1-12: Block diagram of an imaging system (Taken from [1.32], Fig. 1) 15 Figure 1-13: A late afternoon landscape picture of Hamilton lakeshore taken by a Canon PowerShot A60 digital camera, which uses a 2 Mega-pixel CCD imager. Blooming is observed in the column of pixels that are in line with Figure 1-14: A simplified cross-section of a CMOS chip, showing several layers of silicon dioxide and metal on top of the silicon surface. The light has to pass through a deep well, before reaching the surface of the photodiode. Figure 1-15: (a) Lifetime and (b) mobility of minority carriers in silicon. Both of the parameters decrease as the doping concentration level increases. (Taken Figure 1-16: (a) Different pixel sizes for CMOS image sensors. The pixel size shrinks by downscaling of CMOS technology, resulting in higher possible resolutions (Taken from [1.35], Fig. 12). (b) Sample APS layouts for a 0.5 μ m technology (10 μ m pixel) and a 0.35 μ m technology (7 μ m pixel) Figure 1-17: The maximum SNR that can be obtained from an APS pixel decreases as the technology scales down. The calculations are done assuming that the pixel size scales down proportional to the technology feature size...... 24 Figure 1-18: Variation of avalanche breakdown voltage in abrupt p^+/n junctions, as a function of donor concentration on the n side, for several semiconductors Figure 2-1: PPS pixel structure. Pixel readout and reset are both done at the column level. PPS is the most simple CMOS structure with highest fill-factor... 29 Figure 2-2: (a) Schematic of the three-transistor APS circuit. The dimensions of the photodiode is $20 \,\mu \times 20 \,\mu$, M₁ is $4 \,\mu / 0.4 \,\mu$ and M₂ and M₃ are $2.4 \,\mu /$ 0.4μ . (b) Applied reset voltage and measured output of the APS. The voltage levels at the beginning and at the end of integration are shown by v_2 and v_1 respectively. The difference $(v_2 - v_1)$ is proportional to the Figure 2-3: Doping profiles at the junction between two ion-implanted regions. Profiles are close to exponential at the proximity of the junction. w_n and

- Figure 2-10: (a) SNR of an APS has a peak before the pixel capacitance fully discharges. (b) The optimum integration time decreases as the photocurrent increases. The optimum SNR, however, stays around 54 dB. The reason for the small drop in SNR is that when the i_{PH} value becomes too small, comparable to i_{DK} , the shot noise of i_{DK} becomes important, and the SNR decreases.

- Figure 3-2: Logarithmic pixel. In this pixel the load transistor performs the logarithmic current to voltage conversion (Taken from [3.1], Fig. 9)..... 54
- Figure 3-4: (a) High dynamic range pixel schematic and (b) its layout. High dynamic range is achieved by varying b(t) (Taken from [3.7], Figures 1 and 2)... 57

| Figure 3-5: Digi resul 3) | al pixel sensor structure. Every four pixels share an ADC unit, ing is approximately 3 transistors per pixel. (Taken from [3.9], Fig. 58 |
|---|---|
| Figure 3-6: Sign conn | na delta converter cell schematic. It contains 19 transistors and acts to 5 bus lines (Taken from [3.10], Fig. 9) |
| Figure 3-7: (a) P passi Fig. 7 | eudo-active pixel sensor circuit and (b) the pixel. Pixel is similar to ve as it connects to the bus via a single transistor (Taken from [3.13], and 4)60 |
| Figure 3-8: Ring | reset pixel structure (Taken from [3.15], Fig. 1) |
| Figure 3-9: Com the c pixel | bined photo-gate and photodiode structure. The pixel schematic and prrelated double sampling circuit are shown at left. The layout of the is shown at right (Taken from [3.16], Fig. 1) |
| Figure 3-10: Lay simp 8 tra high in ea fill-fa | outs of different APS structures. (a) Three transistor APS has the est layout and highest fill-factor. (b) The APS with comparator has isistors. However, our compact design has kept the fill-factor at a evel. (c) The APS with integrator. This design considers a capacitor ch pixel that reduces the fill-factor of the pixel. However, the ctor is still at a reasonable level |
| Figure 3-11: AP illust is the sense gener | S with comparator. (a) General schematic and (b) Measured and rated waveforms. Channel 1 is the applied reset signal and channel 2 measured output, v_0 , of the pixel. Channel 3 and 4 show how the node voltage and reference level stand with respect to each other to ate the output |
| Figure 3-12: Full trans | circuit of Figure 3-11(a) with the dimensions of the photodiode and stors |
| Figure 3-13: (a) I jitter is the (jitte | Aeasured output of the APS with comparator, zoomed in to show the in its output. This jitter is the noise of the output as the pulse width output of the pixel. (b) Measured signal (pulse width) and noise) of the output of the pixel, as a function of light powers |
| Figure 3-14: AF meas while reade | S with integrator. (a) General schematic of the pixel and (b) its ared waveforms. Channel 1 shows the measured output of the pixel, channel 2 shows the reset signal applied to the pixel, for a 2.5 ms at time |
| Figure 3-15: Full trans 300 f | circuit of Figure 3-14(a) with the dimensions of the photodiode and stors. Junction capacitance of the photodiode is approximately F |
| Figure 3-16: Out light obser satur | but of the APS with integrator, sampled at different levels of incident power. Measurements are done at different wavelengths. It can be ved that a good linearity exists in the output, unless the output ites, as shown in the curve for the 700 nm light |
| | |

| Figure 3-17: (a) Multisampling pixel architecture. Each pixel consists of an n ⁺ /p-sub photodiode, a PMOS reset transistor, a clocked comparator and a D flip-flop. The PMOS reset transistor has $W/L = 0.4/0.4$, and the photodiode size is $5 \mu m \times 20 \mu m$. (b) Time diagram of the circuit signals. Output of the comparator, V_{CMP} , becomes high with the first clock after the sense node voltage drops below V_{REF} |
|--|
| Figure 3-18: Architecture of the multisampling, time-domain APS array |
| Figure 3-19: Schematic of the integrated (a) clocked comparator and (b) details of the circuit. (c) D flip-flop, with PMOS W/L = 0.4/0.4 and NMOS W/L = 0.4/0.35 |
| Figure 3-20: Minimum sampling time for different array sizes |
| Figure 3-21: (a) Discharge time of a pixel measured at constant reference voltage of 1.5 V and (b) spectral response of the pixel |
| Figure 3-22: (a) Cross-section of the GC-LBT, and its internal lateral and vertical transistors. (b) Photomicrograph of the fabricated GC-LBT. (c) top view of the device with showing the size of the important regions of the device. |
| Figure 3-23: Body floating and V_{GB} constant operation mode. (d) Body current generated vs. incident light power, (c) body voltage vs. body current characteristics and (b) the MOSFET drain current vs. the body voltage. The (a) photoresponse characteristics of the device is derived from the (d), (c) and (b) curves. 80 |
| Figure 3-24: Photomicrograph of the array structure fabricated in 0.18 μm CMOS technology |
| Figure 4-1: Total sense-node voltage versus time for different levels of photocurrent corresponding to different low-light-level illumination conditions. At the absence of photocurrent, the swing output is due to the internal dark current of the photodiode. The DC level varies more than the swing, for the same level of incident light |
| Figure 4-2: Steady-state DC level $((v_1 + v_2)/2)$ and swing $(v_2 - v_1)$ output of the sense node versus i_{PH} . The DC level has a value close to V_{DD} for zero photocurrent. The curve shown is the displacement of the DC level output from its dark-level value, which corresponds to the output signal. As the DC level corresponding to the zero photocurrent is constant for every pixel, CDS will not be necessary |
| Figure 4-3: Block diagram showing how reset and integration noise contribute to the steady DC level. Reset noise and integration noise are represented by V_{n2} and V_{n1} respectively. The total noise is calculated in $(v_1 + v_2)/2$ |
| Figure 4-4: (a) Exact values of β obtained in (4-17) and (4-19) are shown vs. i_{PH}, where t_{int} = 30 ms and v₂ = 2.3 V. Note that for low photocurrents, β ≈ 1. (b) Simplified noise diagram of Figure 4-3, assuming β = 1 |
| xiv |

- Figure 5-2: Device simulation of the APD under reverse bias, using the DESSIS tool. It shows that the maximum electric field will appear in the desired p^+/n -well junction. 104
- Figure 5-3: (a) Photomicrograph of the chip containing APD devices and circuit. Layouts of our APDs with (a) $5 \mu m$, (b) $10 \mu m$ and (c) $20 \mu m$ diameters. Design rules of the technology do not allow circular features. We have used 45° rotated lines to draw octagons, the closest shape that can be generated to circles.
- Figure 5-5: (a) Breakdown site of a regular p^+/n -well diode compared to (b) the breakdown site of the 10 μ m APD and (c) the breakdown site of the 5 μ m APD. The line shows the extent of the depletion region in the n-well. 107
- Figure 5-6: Variation of the breakdown voltage of APDs with temperature. The rate of change is approximately 7 mV°C⁻¹ that results in $\beta \approx 7 \times 10^{-4}$ °C⁻¹. 108
- Figure 5-7: Schematic of an abrupt p/n-junction at avalanche breakdown. The width of the depletion region with an electric field high enough for impact ionization, w_m , is only a small fraction of the total width of the junction depletion region. 109

- Figure 5-8: (a) Measured *I-V* curve of one of our 10 μm APDs at the onset of breakdown. This region is also known as the multiplication region of the APD, where the current (dark current here) is multiplied by a finite *M*. The curve clearly shows that the current increases in steps, before complete breakdown. (b) A zoomed version of (a) drawn in linear scale. Different sections of the current curve have resistive characteristics. Resistance of each of the microplasma regions are calculated. It can also be clearly seen that the third microplasma turns on and off a few times before being permanently on.

Figure 5-11: The APD circuit (a) and its measured signal, v_s , at (b) 19 V and (c) 20 V applied V_{DD} . The series resistor R = 100 k Ω and the probe resistor R_{PROBE} = 1 M Ω . 114

- Figure 5-16: plot of $\ln(I_D)$ against the inverse of the absolute temperature used for extracting the activation energy. 123
- Figure 5-17: (a) Schematic of the APD circuit with active quench and active reset and (b) diameter of the APD, size of the resistor in ohm, and W/L of the transistors of the circuit in micron. The timing block consists of two

mono-stables in series. Each mono-stable has a bias input that adjusts the width of the output pulse. The first mono-stable causes a delay, and second mono-stable dictates the width of the output of the timing block.

- Figure 5-18: The schematic of the mono-stable circuit used in the APD periphery. M1 and M2 have W/L of 5/0.35, and M3 has W/L of $4 \times 2.5/0.3$. The mono-stable is triggered by the falling edge of the input, and it generates a low level output pulse with the width that is adjusted by the V_{BM} input. 125
- Figure 5-19: Photomicrograph of the layout of the APD with the peripheral circuits. A large part of the layout area is taken by the capacitors, which are seen as the two L-shaped features at the bottom of the Photomicrograph....... 126

LIST OF TABLES

| Table 1-1: Emission wavelength of the maximum average fluorescence yield at the auto-fluorescence maximum of normal bronchial tissue in vivo for different excitation wavelengths [1.14] |
|--|
| Table 1-2: Principal device technology and electrical characteristics. (Taken from[1.33], Table II, with some modifications) |
| Table 2-1: Calculated $v_{S}(t)$ for different values of m . Note that the sense node voltage for $m = 4$ is what was experimentally found in the actual diode used in this work |
| Table 2-2: Shot noise calculated for different analytical models. 42 |
| Table 3-1: Different photogate APS structures |
| Table 3-2: Different photodiode APS structures |
| Table 3-3: Comparison of the APS structures |
| Table 5-1: Comparison of some of the reported APD implementations in CMOS with our APD. Note that the 50 kHz dark count for our APD in this table is for the worst case according to Figure 5-13 |

Chapter 1

INTRODUCTION AND APPLICATIONS

1.1. Emerging applications

CMOS image sensors have recently attracted much attention from the research community. Applications of CMOS imaging systems include machine vision [1.1], digital still and video cameras [1.2], surveillance [1.3] and medical imaging [1.4], [1.23]. These applications can benefit from a CMOS image sensor, as it can offer high integration of optoelectronics and electronic components, low cost and low power consumption. A major challenge in the design of CMOS image sensors is to reduce their high spatial and temporal noise [1.5]. Overcoming these challenges with CMOS photodetectors can particularly benefit biomedical imaging applications that require high sensitivity for low-light-level detection. In the following subsections, some of these biomedical applications will be introduced.

1.1.1. DNA microarrays

Although most cells in a living organism contain the same genes, not all of the genes are used in each cell. Some genes are turned on, or expressed, when needed. Many genes are used to specify features unique to each type of cell. Liver cells, for example, express genes for enzymes that detoxify poisons. In many cases, in order to understand how cells achieve such specialization, or to diagnose if they are malfunctioning, the genes that a cell is expressing should be identified.



Figure 1-1: Processes of printing a DNA microarray, preparing DNA test samples and scanning the microarray after the experiment. Microarrays are usually printed on glass slides. Test and reference DNA sequences are tagged with red and green fluorescent tags before hybridization. Outcome of a microarray experiment is a two-color image [1.6].

Microarray technology allows scientists to study the expression of many genes simultaneously, instead of studying them one by one [1.7], [1.8]. In a microarray, thousands of individual genes can be spotted on a single square inch slide. Each DNA fragment is single stranded, amplified in number, and put on the slide to form a spot. Figure 1-1 shows the process of making a microarray. In the laboratory, a sample solution is prepared to be tested by the microarray. Messenger RNAs, that are the working copies of the genes being expressed, are purified from cells of a particular type. They are reverse-transcript, amplified in number (PCR) and labeled by attaching a fluorescent dye that allows for them to be monitored later. Figure 1-2(a) shows how the emitted light from a sample fluorescent dye is related to the excitation light. The solution is then exposed to the microarray in a hybridization chamber to allow the DNAs in the solution to bind to the matching molecules on the microarray, if there is any match. Finally, the microarray is illuminated and scanned to obtain the microarray image. A microarray image shows the levels of fluorescence reflection of the spots that are related to the levels of the expression of the corresponding genes in

the sample [1.9]. Some of the spots can have extremely low levels of fluorescence emission, which need to be detected by ultra-sensitive imaging devices.



Figure 1-2: (a) Fluorescence spectral response showing the excitation pulse and the emission pulse. (b) Time resolved fluorescence lifetime measurement [1.10].

1.1.2. Fluorescence lifetime imaging

When testing molecules that have overlapping spectra, such as cancerous and noncancerous cells, one valuable method is time-resolved measurements such as fluorescence lifetime imaging. In such measurements, time resolved techniques are used to determine the relaxation times of fluorescence signals, which is the time it takes for the electronically or optically excited fluorophores to relax back to their

ground state. Since the signal has an exponential decay over time, integrating approaches that have integration times much longer than the average fluorescent lifetime cannot be used. Rather, averaging a number of repeated measurements in narrow sampling windows or gates (Figure 1-2(b)) have been shown [1.10] to be more effective. The background can also be removed by averaging the samples of a number of measurements without excitation. Such high-frame-rate applications require a fast and sensitive imager.

1.1.3. Total internal reflection fluorescence microscopy

Total internal reflection fluorescence microscopy (TIRFM) is a method to observe ultra-thin regions of specimens. It was developed by Daniel Axelrod in the early 1980s [1.11]. TIRFM uses evanescent waves to selectively illuminate and excite fluorophores in a restricted region of the specimen immediately adjacent to the glasswater interface. Evanescent waves are generated only when the incident light is totally reflected at the glass-water interface. The evanescent electromagnetic field decays exponentially from the interface, and thus penetrates to a depth of only approximately 100 nm into the sample medium. The penetration depth d is given by:

$$d(\theta) = \frac{\lambda}{4\pi} \sqrt{n_s^2 \sin \theta - n_c^2}$$
(1-1)

where n_S is the refractive index of glass, n_C is the refractive index of water, λ is the wavelength of light and θ is the angle of the totally reflected incident beam.



Figure 1-3: (a) Simplified structure of a TIRFM. The angle of the light beam is high enough to be totally reflected at the glass-water interface. (b) Transport of a single NTF2-Alexa633 molecule across the nuclear envelope of a biological cell (400 frames/s) recorded using TIRFM (Figures taken from [1.13]).

Total internal reflection fluorescence microscopy is used to observe single molecule fluorescence. Figure 1-3(b) shows an example of a series of frames obtained by the setup of Figure 1-3(a). The ejection of a protein molecule from the nuclear envelope can be observed. The application requires imaging systems that can detect the low levels of fluorescence reflection and also capture the high speed of cellular events.

1.1.4. Fluorescence spectroscopy

Fluorescence spectroscopy analyzes the spectrum of fluorescence emission from a sample. The approach is widely used in medical and chemical research fields. It is particularly used to study organic compounds, due to its non-invasive nature. Figure 1-4 shows a simplified schematic of a fluorescence spectroscopy setup.



Figure 1-4: Simplified setup for excitation and emission spectroscopy. The emitted light from the lamp has a wide spectrum and the excitation and emission diffraction gratings are used to select the wavelengths. The emission from the sample is sensed at an angle perpendicular to the excitation beam in order to minimize the interference of the excitation beam in the photodetector.

The output of the spectroscopy measurement is most of the time a fluorescence (emission) spectrum or an excitation spectrum. The wavelength of the excitation light is kept constant for obtaining the fluorescence spectra. For excitation spectra, however, the wavelength of the filter controlling the emitted light to the photodetector is kept constant, and the excitation light wavelength is scanned through the desired spectrum to measure the response. Conventional imagers, like charge-coupled devices or CMOS arrays, can typically detect light powers down to $1 \,\mu$ W/cm². In autofluorescence applications, the fluorescence yield, which is the ratio of the emitted light power to the absorbed light power, can be very small as the biological samples are not good fluorophores. The emitted light power to the sample is limited, as excess illumination can damage the sample. Table 1-1 shows examples of fluorescence yield for bronchial tissue [1.14]. Image intensifiers or Photomultiplier tubes are widely used in these applications to detect the low level of emitted light from the biological sample. The problem with these detectors is their large size, expensive price, and high output noise.

6

575

| Excitation wavelength (nm) | Maximum emission wavelength (nm) | Fluorescence yield at the emission maximum (pW/µW × nm) | Standard deviation at the emission maximum (pW/µW × nm) |
|-------------------------------|--|--|--|
| 350 | 460 | 7.9 | 5.5 |
| 365 | 460 | 6.9 | 3.2 |
| 380 | 475 | 4.7 | 2.8 |
| 395 | 480 | 4.5 | 2.3 |
| 405 | 490 | 4.2 | 2.5 |
| 420 | 500 | 4.5 | 3.5 |
| 435 | 515 | 4.0 | 3.3 |
| 450 | 520 | 3.5 | 2.7 |
| 465 | 530 | 3.1 | 2.4 |
| 480 | 550 | 3.5 | 3.3 |

2.3

2.1

Table 1-1: Emission wavelength of the maximum average fluorescence yield at the auto-fluorescence maximum of normal bronchial tissue in vivo for different excitation wavelengths [1.14].

1.1.5. Camera pill

495

Catheter-based video endoscopy, in which a 2 cm diameter tube containing fiber optic cables carrying visible light is inserted into the gastrointestinal (GI) tract of a patient, is one of the most widely used methods for GI cancer screening and diagnosis. Although catheter-based endoscopy provides useful diagnostic information, it has been documented that the procedure is relatively invasive and costly due to the need of specialized equipments, operating suites, as well as the presence of an endoscopist to administer the procedure [1.15].



Figure 1-5: (a) It is difficult to reach some of the regions of the human GI tract, like the small intestine, with conventional endoscopy methods. (b) PillCam of Given Imaging, is a capsule that contains a camera and captures and sends images from inside the GI tract. (c) Some of the pictures taken by PillCam (Figures taken from [1.16], [1.17] and [1.18]).

Alternatives that exclude the use of a catheter have recently been investigated and developed. These techniques use ingestible capsule-size cameras, typically the size of a large vitamin pill, to provide visible illumination and acquire the images of the GI tract. The most publicized capsule is the PillCam (previously marketed as M2A) capsule by Given Imaging [1.19]. These capsules were developed to challenge push enteroscopy and radiology in diagnosing diseases usually found in the GI tract: diseases such as obscure bleeding, irritable bowel syndrome, Crohn's disease, and chronic diarrhea [1.20].

Typical wireless imaging capsules are about 11 mm (diameter) \times 30 mm (length) and consist of an optical dome, a focusing lens, white light illumination LEDs, batteries, a wireless transmitter with antenna, and an imager. The images are captured over a 7–8 h period inside the GI tract, and then, transmitted using UHF-band radio-telemetry to aerials attached to the patient's body and connected to a waist belt that contains a receiver and electronic memory for storing the received video images. Propelled by

peristalsis, the pill travels through the GI tract without noticeable discomfort, and no air inflation is required [1.20]–[1.22]. Figure 1-6 shows a simplified diagram of a camera pill. The imager of a camera pill, has to consume low power, and be able to integrate with other electronic components of the system. The imager also has to be sensitive to low levels of light, due to the limited illumination of the LEDs in the pill [1.23].



Figure 1-6: A simplified diagram of the camera pill. The pill includes LEDs to illuminate the scene. It captures and transmits real-time video. The pill consists of batteries, and imaging, optics and wireless modules (Taken from [1.23], Fig. 1).

1.2. Current solutions

1.2.1. Basics of silicon photodetection

The basic operation of a photodetector (which can include photodiodes, photogates or phototransistors) is to convert light into electrons. Silicon as a semiconductor material is a good candidate to do so. We know that electrons in silicon can either be in the valence band or in the conduction band. Electrons in the latter band can also be referred to as free electrons. If we shine light on silicon, a photon that enters the silicon can collide with an electron in valence band and give it enough energy to jump into conduction band, leaving behind a hole. The band gap energy of silicon is

1.11 eV. So the incident photon should have at least this much energy to generate an e-h pair. As we have E = hv, and $\lambda v = c$, silicon will absorb photons with wavelengths less than 1.1 μ m. This includes visible spectrum which is between 0.4 μ m and 0.7 μ m. It is also worth mentioning that very high energy photons (low wavelength) on the other hand are absorbed so fast (so close to the surface) that cannot practically be sensed by the active part of the sensor. Hence, there will be a wavelength spectrum over which the sensor operates. The ratio of the electron-hole pairs generated to the number of photons incident to the sensor is called quantum efficiency (QE). The QE is a function of wavelength.

1.2.2. CCD

The charge-coupled device, CCD, was first introduced in 1970 [1.24]. It was soon adopted over many other kinds of solid-state sensors due to its relatively low noise and small pixel size. A CCD is an array of MOS capacitors. The electric field created beneath the capacitor gates is used to separate and store light-induced electrons and holes. Assume that a MOS capacitor is fabricated on a p-type silicon. By applying a large enough positive voltage to its gate with respect to the substrate, there will be a narrow inversion layer under the silicon-oxide interface. There will also be a depletion layer spread in the substrate. So there will be an electric field from the edge of gate-oxide interface all the way inside substrate until the edge of the neutral region. The time required to fill the inversion layer thermally is called thermal relaxation time. Now if we shine light on the MOS transistors, photons that are absorbed in the depletion region will generate electron-hole pairs which will help the process of thermal generation, causing a quicker construction of the inversion layer.

10



Figure 1-7: Top and cross-sectional views of a CCD array. Charges are transferred within columns with a two-phase mechanism. Columns are separated with a thick field oxide and a p^+ channel stop (Taken from [1.25], Fig. 3).

The above collected charge should be measured. CCDs do not have a charge measurement unit for each cell, but for each line of cells, or even the whole device. Cells are put closely in a line (the columns in Figure 1-7, or the rows in Figure 1-8), and their charge is handed over one by one to the end of the line. This is like people of a village trying to extinguish a fire by standing in a row between the fire and the water well, handing over buckets of water. At the end of the row, the charge will be emptied in the measuring unit.



Figure 1-8: Four phase and three phase mechanisms of charge transfer in CCD arrays (Taken from [1.26], Fig. 5).

The process of charge transfer is performed by controlling the gate voltage of cells. Assume that two cells are next to each other, one with an inversion layer under the high voltage gate, and the other empty of charge with a low voltage gate. If the gate voltages are swapped, charge will be transferred between cells. The process of

swapping voltages should be carefully controlled to assure the correct direction of charge movement. Different approaches use different number of cells per pixel to perform this job. (Figure 1-8)

Finally the collected charge should be read in the output node. A small sensing capacitor is used to convert the signal charge to a voltage which can be amplified before transmission. The performance of this stage is judged in terms of its charge conversion efficiency (CCE), the voltage generated per unit charge. The output structure achieves this by dumping the charge on a floating n^+ region, or into a storage capacitor underneath a floating gate.



Figure 1-9: Two output node structures for the CCD array: (a) Floating diffusion, and (b) floating gate (Taken from [1.26], Fig. 3).

Figure 1-9 shows the two possible output node structures. The floating diffusion node is the most common because of its easy fabrication. Then, the charge should be reset after each readout cycle. The voltage in this structure is linearly amplified (on chip) before sending out. The floating gate method on the other hand, doesn't need the reset mechanism (the charge can be sent to substrate). This can be important because reset operation introduces thermal noise which is different from pixel to pixel. It also has the advantage of being nondestructive. As drawn in the image above, the charge can still travel into the row of cells after sensing.

1.2.3. PMT

The photoelectric effect was discovered by Hertz in 1887, through exposing a negative electrode to UV radiation. Due to photoelectric effect, a material emits electrons after being exposed to photons with high enough energy. Photomultipier tubes, PMTs, use this phenomenon to convert photons into electrons, and then

multiply them to produce the output signal. PMTs became practical after the discovery of a compound photocathode (made of silver, oxygen and cesium, also called S1) that had photoelectric sensitivity about two orders of magnitude more that previously used photocathode materials.



Figure 1-10: Simplified structure of a PMT. A single incoming photon can result in a significant current at the PMT anode.

Light is detected in a photomulipler tube through the following processes. First, light passes through the input window. Second, light excites the electrons in the photo-cathode (C_0 in Figure 1-10) so that photoelectrons are emitted into the vacuum. Third, photoelectrons are accelerated and focused by the focusing electrode onto the first dynode (C_1 in Figure 1-10) where they are multiplied by means of secondary electron emission. This secondary emission is repeated at each of the successive dynodes. Finally, the multiplied secondary electrons emitted from the last dynode (C_3 in Figure 1-10) are collected by the anode (A_0 in Figure 1-10). Figure 1-11(a) shows a simple PMT.



Figure 1-11: Photomultiplier tube (Taken from [1.27]). An 11200 PMT array, made in super-K neutrino observatory in Japan. The colossal structure is filled with 50000 tons of pure heavy water to detect subatomic particles thrown by supernovas billions of miles away (Taken from [1.28]).

The combination of high gain, low noise, high frequency response and large area of collection have meant that these devices still find applications in nuclear and particle physics, astronomy (Figure 1-11(b)), medical imaging and motion picture film scanning. Semiconductor devices like avalanche photodiodes are replacing photomultipliers in some applications, as we will discuss in Chapter 5, but photomultipliers are still used in most cases.

1.3. Integrated photodetectors

The earliest solid-state image sensors were the bipolar and MOS photodiode arrays developed by Westinghouse, IBM, Plessy and Fairchild in the late 1960's [1.29]. The three-transistor APS was first described by Noble in 1968 [1.30]. The 1970's and 1980's were mostly dominated by research and development of CCD arrays. The MOS structure was researched again by Andoh at NHK, in collaboration with Olympus and Mitsubishi Electric, since the late 1980's [1.31].

CMOS image sensors can offer low-power and high-speed operation, and simultaneously, a much higher level of device integration. The advances in deep

submicron CMOS technologies and integrated microlens have made CMOS image sensors a practical alternative to the long dominating CCD imaging technology. Perhaps the main advantage of CMOS image sensors is that they are fabricated in standard CMOS technologies, which allows for full integration of the image sensor along with the analog and digital processing and control circuits on the same chip, and its lower cost. This camera-on-chip system leads to the reduction of power consumption, cost and sensor size and it also allows for integration of new sensor functionalities.

1.3.1. Imaging system

A simplified diagram of an imaging system architecture is shown in Figure 1-12. The first step is to focus the scene on the plane of the image sensor, in the optical setup of the imager. Advanced imagers have an array of microlenses deposited on the image sensor to focus the light on top of each pixel on the light sensitive area of the pixel. Color imagers use a color filter array, CFA, to capture the color information of the scene. A CFA consists of an array of band pass filters for red, green and blue colors.



Figure 1-12: Block diagram of an imaging system (Taken from [1.32], Fig. 1)

The output of the image sensor is digitized by an ADC unit. Color correction and white balancing is applied to the image in photography applications. Finally, the image is converted to the desired data format to be transmitted out of the imaging system.

1.3.2. Advantages of CMOS photodetectors

A CMOS imager can be integrated with the ADC, color processing and image enhancement and compression units on the same chip as the image sensor. This will drastically reduce the size of the imaging system and its cost. Another immediate advantage of using CMOS imagers is their low power consumption. These advantages make CMOS imagers a good candidate for miniaturized and hand-held imaging systems.

Compared to CCDs, CMOS imagers do not suffer from smear and blooming. In the CCD structure, during readout, the stored charge packets are shifted towards the output node. During this readout time, the CCD is still exposed to light and the photogeneration can contaminate charge packets transferring through the cell, that belonged to another pixel. This effect is called smear and can be minimized by either having a second shielded row of CCD pixels, for shifting the charges, or by ensuring that the shift register is read out in an effectively shorter time interval than the integration time of the device. Although both solutions are effective, the first one limits the fill-factor of the device, and the second one limits its frame rate.



Figure 1-13: A late afternoon landscape picture of Hamilton lakeshore taken by a Canon PowerShot A60 digital camera, which uses a 2 Mega-pixel CCD imager. Blooming is observed in the column of pixels that are in line with the sun.

Electrons and holes that are generated under a pixel can diffuse to the neighboring pixels. Thus, a pixel may generate an output signal that is corresponding to another

pixel, and as a result, the total quality of the image will be degraded. The diffusion of carriers to the neighboring pixels in CMOS detectors can be prevented by putting pixels in separate wells, or by creating SiO_2 trenches around the pixels. The same tricks can be applied to separate CCD columns. However, charge transfer mechanisms of CCDs do not permit total isolation of pixels in a column, and as a result blooming is not avoidable even in most modern CCD cameras as shown in Figure 1-13.

1.3.3. Limitations of CMOS photodetectors

The architecture of CMOS photodetectors and imagers are limited by the design rules of standard CMOS. The depth and doping concentration of the n+ and p+ regions and wells are also fixed by the technology. Therefore, the designer of CMOS imagers has limited room for layout variations. As a result, the performance of the photodetector devices in CMOS is very much dependent on the technology, as will be discussed in detail in next section.

CMOS imagers, compared to CCDs, have more complex pixels with in-pixel circuitry. The paths from the pixels to the output are also different for different pixels. As a result, the variation of the device parameters affects the response of different pixels on a CMOS imager, causing significant fixed pattern noise.

The dark current of CCDs is significantly lower than CMOS imagers. This is mainly due to the optimized design of CCDs for dark output. Also, the dark current of CCDs is manly due to the thermal generation of carriers in the depletion region, and the leakage in MOS capacitors is negligible. In photodiodes however, the leakage current can be significant. Although the dark current can be corrected, the dark current shot noise will degrade the output quality of CMOS pixels.

The fill-factor of CMOS pixels is low, compared to CCDs. CCD do not have any inpixel circuits and they do not need any data buses. On the other hand, CMOS pixels suffer from several layers of metal and silicon dioxide that cover the surface of silicon, as well as the passivation layer that is put on top of the chip at the end of the process. Figure 1-14 shows a schematic of a CMOS photodiode with these layers.
The layers force the light to pass through a deep well, from the top dioxide layer to the silicon surface, resulting in some optical diffraction as well as interference of dioxide layers and cross-talk.





1.4. Effect of scaling

The evolution of CMOS technology has had a significant effect on the characteristics of CMOS image sensors. The minimum feature size of CMOS technology is known to shrink approximately at a scale of 0.7 every three years. This downscaling is, in general, targeted to reduce the cost and increase the clock frequency of digital circuits, like SDRAMs and MPUs. However, analog circuits that are implemented in CMOS technology have not necessarily benefited from this downscaling.

| Year | 1980 | 1983 | 1986 | 1989 | 1992 | 1995 | 1998 | 2000 | 2002 | 2004 | 2007 |
|--|------------------|--------------------|----------------------|----------------------|-----------------------------------|-----------------------------------|-----------------------------------|-----------------------------------|--------------------------------------|--------------------------------------|--------------------------------------|
| Min. feature size (µm) | 2 | 1.5 | 1.0 | 0.7 | 0.5 | 0.35 | 0.25 | 0.18 | 0.13 | 90 nm | 65 nm |
| $L_{\rm eff}(\mu m)$ | 1.6 | 1.2 | 0.8 | 0.6 | 0.42 | 0.28 | 0.2 | 0.14 | 90 nm | 65 nm | 45 nm |
| Isolation | LOCOS | LOCOS | LOCOS | LOCOS | LOCOS | LOCOS | LOCOS | STI, SOI | STI, SOI | STI, SOI | STI, SOI |
| Gate oxide | SiO ₂ | SiO ₂ | SiO ₂ | SiO ₂ | SiO ₂ | SiO ₂ | SiO ₂ | SiO ₂ /ON | ON | ON | ON |
| Gate oxide (nm) | 41-47 | 29-50 | 20-35 | 14-24 | 10-17 | 7.4 | 5.8 | 2 | 1.5 | 1.1 | 0.8 |
| Gate electrode | n+ poly | n+ poly | n+ poly, silicide | n+ poly, silicide | n+, n+/p+ poly, silicide | n+, n+/p+ poly, silicide | n+, n+/p+ poly, silicide | n+, n+/p+ poly, silicide | n+, n+/p+ poly, silicide | n+, n+/p+ poly, silicide | n+, n+/p+ poly, silicide |
| Substrate doping (cm ⁻³) | 1016 | 2×10 ¹⁶ | 4×10 ¹⁶ | 8×10 ¹⁶ | 1.2×10 ¹⁷ | 2.5×10 ¹⁷ | 3.4×10 ¹⁷ | 5×10 ¹⁷ | 7×10 ¹⁷ | 1×10 ¹⁸ | 2×10 ¹⁸ |
| Source/drain junction | Abrupt | Abrupt | LDD | LDD | LDD | LDD, S/D ext | LDD, S/D ext, raised S/D | LDD, S/D ext, raised S/D | LDD, S/D ext, raised S/D | LDD, S/D ext, raised S/D | LDD, S/D ext, raised S/D |
| Source/drain junction depth (µm) | 0.5-0.6 | 0.45- 0.55 | 0.4-0.5 | 0.35- 0.45 | 0.3-0.4 | 0.2-0.3 | 0.1-0 <mark>.1</mark> 5 | 0.07- 0.13 | 48 nm- 95 nm | 27 nm- 45 nm | 18 nm- 37 nm |
| Power supply (V) | 5 | 5 | 5 | 5 | 5 | 3.3 | 2.5 | 1.8 | 1.2 | 1 | 0.8 |
| Threshold voltage (V) | 1.0 | 0.9 | 0.8 | 0.7 | 0.6 | 0.5 | 0.43 | 0.37 | 0.34 | 0.3 | 0.3 |
| Threshold voltage variation (mV) | 170 | 125 | 80 | 75 | 75 | 60-70 | 50 | 40 | 30 | 25 | 20 |

Table 1-2: Principal device technology and electrical characteristics. (Taken from [1.33], Table II, with some modifications)

Table 1-2 shows the downscaling of CMOS technology and variation of corresponding device parameters in the past 30 years. The constant decrease of the power supply voltages and the threshold voltages can be observed in Table 1-2. As an immediate result, the design of the signal amplification circuits becomes challenging due to the small analog voltage swing. Further, the decrease of gate-oxide thickness also increases the leakage current of the gate of the MOS transistors and degrades the performance of the input stage of analog circuits. In this section, we will discuss how these changes affect the CMOS image sensors.

1.4.1. Effect on Photodiodes

The carriers that are generated within the depletion region of a photodiode are detected immediately. Many of the photo-generated carriers, however, are not generated within the depletion region. They are generated in the neutral substrate and they diffuse to the photodiode active region. The diffusion length of these minority carriers, in the case of electrons for example, is given by:

$$L_n = \sqrt{D_n \tau_n} , \qquad (1-2)$$

where τ_n is the carrier lifetime and D_n is the diffusion coefficient of electrons. The diffusion coefficient and mobility are related by the simple Einstein relation:

$$\frac{D}{\mu} = \frac{kT}{q}.$$
(1-3)

For intrinsic silicon, $D_n = 35 \text{ cm}^2/\text{s}$. Carrier lifetime is greatly dependent on the quality of the silicon crystal. For intrinsic silicon, τ_n can range from 1 ms to 1 μ s. Both of these parameters depend on the substrate doping concentration, and they both decrease as the doping levels increase with technology down scaling. As a result, carriers that are generated deeper in the substrate have less chance of diffusing to the photodiode active area. Therefore, the spectral response of the photodetectors shifts towards blue and UV as the technology scales down.

PhD Thesis - N. Faramarzpour McMaster - Electrical Engineering



Figure 1-15: (a) Lifetime and (b) mobility of minority carriers in silicon. Both of the parameters decrease as the doping concentration level increases. (Taken from [1.34] and [1.36], Fig. 3-23).

We discussed in the previous section that in a CMOS photodiode, light has to pass through several layers of silicon dioxide and possibly dielectrics to reach the silicon surface. The number of metal layers, and the depth of the well that is shown in Figure 1-14, increase as the technology scales down. The photons will then have more chance of being diffracted, or trapped and reflected within the oxide and metal layers before reaching the silicon surface, reducing the optical quantum efficiency.

Scaling also affects the dark current. Although the thermally induced dark current remains fairly constant with device scaling, tunneling plays a significant role in devices fabricated in deep submicron CMOS technologies. This is a direct result of increased substrate doping concentration and narrower depletion regions. We will

elaborate this fact in more detail when we study the dark count of APDs in section 5.6.2.

1.4.2. Effect on APS arrays

The immediate positive effect of CMOS downscaling on the image sensors is the possibility of making smaller pixels and achieving higher resolutions. Figure 1-16(a) shows the pixel sizes reported for different CMOS imagers in literature. All the reported imagers use a three-transistor pixel structure. Downscaling of CMOS technology makes it possible to make smaller transistors. As a result, same pixel structures can be made in smaller areas as shown in Figure 1-16(b).



Figure 1-16: (a) Different pixel sizes for CMOS image sensors. The pixel size shrinks by downscaling of CMOS technology, resulting in higher possible resolutions (Taken from [1.35], Fig. 12). (b) Sample APS layouts for a 0.5 μ m technology (10 μ m pixel) and a 0.35 μ m technology (7 μ m pixel) (Taken from [1.33], Fig. 2).

It is important to mention a physical phenomenon here that limits the practical pixel size of any imager array. Diffraction is an optical effect that limits the resolution of an imager – no matter how many mega-pixels the camera may have. When light passes through a small opening (camera lens, or the diaphragm opening), it diffracts. As a result, the focused image on the plane of the imager blurs. This blurring becomes more significant for a smaller diaphragm opening, which is called aperture in photography. Aperture comes in f-units, and gets larger for a smaller opening. Aperture is important in photography, as it controls the depth of field (DOF). In

photography, DOF is the distance in front of and beyond the object that appears to be in focus. To increase the DOF, the aperture has to be increased. To decrease the diffraction, aperture has to be decreased. Thus we have conflicting requirements.

The diffraction limit is given by d, which is the minimum diameter of spot of light that can be formed at the focus of a lens. The diffraction limit is given by

$$d = 1.22\lambda \frac{f}{A},\tag{1-4}$$

where λ is the wavelength of the light, *f* is the focal length of the lens, and *A* is the diameter of the beam of light (limited by aperture). For example, the Canon EOS-20D camera, with a 55 mm lens, at around f/11, for 510 nm light, has a diffraction limit of about 6.4 μ m.

In Section 2.5, we will show that a practical upper limit on the signal-to-noise ratio of a three-transistor active pixel sensor is given by

$$SNR_{max} = 10\log(V_{DD}C_{PH}/q), \qquad (1-5)$$

where V_{DD} is the source voltage and C_{PH} is the capacitance of the photodiode. Assuming that the photodiodes are all n⁺/p-sub, the junction capacitance of an abrupt junction is given by

$$C_{\rm PH}(\nu) = \frac{A}{2} \sqrt{\frac{2q\varepsilon}{\nu + \varphi}} N_a , \qquad (1-6)$$

where A is the area of the diode, and N_a is the doping concentration of the substrate. Replacing v in (1-6) with V_{DD} and applying it to (1-5), we can evaluate how the maximum SNR varies as the technology scales down. Parameters that are affected with technology scaling are V_{DD} , N_a and A. These parameters are extracted according to Table 1-2. Figure 1-17 shows how the maximum achievable SNR varies with the technology feature size. We have assumed that the pixel scales down proportional to the CMOS minimum feature size, as shown in Figure 1-16. The photodiode area is assumed to be:

$$A = \left(10 \times L_{\min}\right)^2,\tag{1-7}$$

where L_{\min} is the CMOS technology feature size.



Figure 1-17: The maximum SNR that can be obtained from an APS pixel decreases as the technology scales down. The calculations are done assuming that the pixel size scales down proportional to the technology feature size.

1.4.3. Effect on APD detectors

In Chapter 5 we will introduce an integrated photodetector, called avalanche photodiode (APD), that operates in the breakdown region of the photodiode. The method requires the breakdown mechanism of the photodiode to be avalanche. This makes implementation of APDs in deep sub-micron CMOS challenging, if not impossible. In the next paragraph, we explain why.



Figure 1-18: Variation of avalanche breakdown voltage in abrupt p^{\dagger}/n junctions, as a function of donor concentration on the n side, for several semiconductors (Taken from [1.36], Fig. 5-22).

Table 1-2 shows that as the technology scales down, the level of doping concentrations in CMOS goes up. As a result, the width of the junction depletion regions of the diodes made in CMOS technology becomes smaller, and their breakdown voltage drops. Figure 1-18 shows the variation of the breakdown voltage with the doping concentration. It should be noted that the measured breakdown voltages of Figure 1-18 correspond to corner breakdown of the corresponding diodes. Considering Table 1-2, Figure 1-18 predicts that 0.18 μ m is the smallest scale technology that can accommodate an integrated APD. We will elaborate this fact further in Chapter 5.

1.5. Signal notations

In this work, we will follow the IEEE notation, as described in the standard [1.37]. Variables are named with the following convention:

Incremental small-signal quantities: all lower case (i_d) .

Quiescent large-signal quantities: all upper case (I_D) .

Instantaneous total values: lower case variable with an upper case subscript (i_D) .

RMS values: upper case variable with a lower case subscript (I_d) .

All the variables are italic. The subscripts are italic for single characters (v_S), and normal for digits (v_0), or two or more characters (i_{PH}). And for device elements:

Physical parameters: All upper case (C_{PH}).

Incremental model parameters: All lower case (g_m, r_o) .

1.6. Outline of thesis

The rest of this thesis is formatted as follows. Chapter 2 introduces the basic three-transistor active pixel sensor (APS). It gives an overview of the previous implementations of APS in the literature, and then presents some signal and noise analysis. Chapter 3 starts with an overview of the reported APS variations in the literature. Then, it introduces our implemented variations of APS and discusses their advantages and disadvantages. Chapter 4 presents a new mode of operation for APS, using the DC level of the sense node voltage, that results in improved low-light-level sensitivity. In Chapter 5, avalanche photodiode (APD) will be introduced as a tool for single photon detection. In all the above chapters, we have combined the theoretical analysis with measurements done on the corresponding devices and circuits that we have fabricated in 0.18 μ m CMOS technology. Finally Chapter 6 concludes with a summary of this work and recommended areas for future research.

1.7. Contributions

The research that is performed during this PhD work and presented in this thesis, has resulted in several publications. Here are the highlights of some of the major contributions done in this work:

Signal to noise ratio of the active pixel sensor is a measure of the quality of its output and it should be maximized. The SNR of a conventional APS is a function of several parameters. It can however be optimized for a certain duration of integration time. In [1.38], we have calculated this optimum operation point, shown that this maximum SNR is a property of the pixel and does not change with the level of incident light.

The analysis of the APS signal, that was previously reported in the literature, did not consider the voltage variation of the photodiode capacitance, or modeled the photodiode as an abrupt junction. We have shown that this analysis results in inaccurate signal prediction. We have performed C-V measurement and analysis on the APS photodiode fabricated in modern CMOS technology and obtained accurate C-V model for the photodiode that can precisely model the output signal of the APS [1.39].

There are several variations of the APS structure that incorporate pixel level circuitry. These variations are normally targeted for specific applications. We have designed, measured and compared three most commonly used APS structures in CMOS $0.18 \,\mu\text{m}$ technology to find the best structure for low-light-level applications [1.40].

A new mode of operation for the APS has been proposed that can detect light levels down to 10 nW/cm^2 which is about two orders of magnitude lower than the light levels that are detectable by the best conventional APS that are reported in the literature. This mode of operation uses the DC level of the APS sense node, instead of the swing, as the output. It does not change the structure of the pixel, and as a result, keeps its high fill-factor [1.41].

Avalanche photodiodes have been implemented in this work, for the first time to our best knowledge, in CMOS $0.18 \,\mu\text{m}$ technology. The APDs are measured and characterized, and their applicability to single photon detection are investigated. We have also designed integrated circuits for active quench and active reset of the APDs in Geiger-mode. Our APDs have a breakdown voltage of 10.2 V, a probability of detection of a single photon of about 5.5%, a dead-time of 30 ns, and a dark count of about 50 kHz [1.42].

This thesis uses some of the material presented in the publications mentioned above.

27

Chapter 2

THREE-TRANSISTOR ACTIVE PIXEL SENSOR (APS)

2.1. Introduction

2.1.1. Passive pixel sensor circuit

The passive pixel sensor (PPS) is the earliest and most simple CMOS pixel structure. In this structure, each pixel consists of a photodiode and a row-select transistor. Figure 2-1 shows the PPS structure. The PPS uses an integrating approach to detect light. Each operation cycle of the pixel can be divided into two periods. During the integration period, the select transistor is open and the photodiode is floating. The internal capacitance of the photodiode integrates the photocurrent and the dark current that is generated. At the end of the integration, rows are selected one at a time, and connected to the column read buses. The pixel charges are read in parallel for pixels in each row. Then, the photodiodes are reset to become ready for the next integration cycle. Finally, the select transistor is turned off again and the pixel is ready for the next cycle. The PPS has only one transistor per pixel, and thus has the highest FF. However, column readout of the rather small integrated charge of the photodiodes, significantly reduces the performance of this approach.



Figure 2-1: PPS pixel structure. Pixel readout and reset are both done at the column level. PPS is the most simple CMOS structure with highest fill-factor.

2.1.2. Three transistor active pixel sensor circuit

Figure 2-2 shows the widely used three-transistor APS circuit. The pixel consists of an n^+/p -sub photodiode, D, and three NMOS transistors. Transistor M₁ is the reset transistor, which resets the photodiode voltage level close to V_{DD} before integration. We call the photodiode voltage, which is shown in Figure 2-2(a) as v_S , the sense node voltage. Transistor M₂ is the source follower, which isolates the sense node from the column read bus. Finally, transistor M₃ is the select transistor, which connects the pixel to the readout bus.



Figure 2-2: (a) Schematic of the three-transistor APS circuit. The dimensions of the photodiode is $20 \ \mu \times 20 \ \mu$, M₁ is $4 \ \mu / 0.4 \ \mu$ and M₂ and M₃ are $2.4 \ \mu / 0.4 \ \mu$. (b) Applied reset voltage and measured output of the APS. The voltage levels at the beginning and at the end of integration are shown by v_2 and v_1 respectively. The difference $(v_2 - v_1)$ is proportional to the incident light power.

Compared to the PPS structure, APS has two main advantages. First, transistor M_1 performs an internal reset for each pixel. Second, transistor M_2 buffers the sense node, and prevents the small sense node capacitance of being loaded by the large column read bus capacitance. The disadvantage is having two more transistors in each pixel and thus, reduced fill-factor.

The operation cycles of the APS are shown in Figure 2-2(b). Waveform 2 is the applied reset signal to the pixel. The reset signal imposes an integration time of 20 ms, which is equivalent to a frame rate of 50 frames/s. Waveform 1 in Figure 2-2(b) is the output voltage, v_0 , which is closely related to v_5 . The voltage drops almost linearly during the integration cycle, due to the discharge of the sense node capacitance by the constant photocurrent. The voltage drop, $(v_2 - v_1)$, which is about 400 mV in this example, is proportional to the incident light level. The signal analysis during integration will be discussed in depth in section 2.3.

2.2. Overview of APS implementations in literature

Several APS implementations have been reported in the literature. The resolution of the pixels has increased in time with introduction of smaller-scale CMOS

technologies. In 1995, Jet Propulsion Laboratory (JPL) demonstrated a 128×128 APS array with on-chip correlated double sampling (CDS) and fixed pattern noise (FPN) reduction circuitry [2.1]. A 640 × 480 APS array with 5.6 × 5.6 μ m pixels was introduced by Toshiba in 1997, which had on-chip color filter arrays and microlenses [2.2]. A 800 × 1000 element APS array was also reported by VLSI vision in 1997 [2.3]. A high speed 1024 × 1024 array was introduced by Krymski *et al.* in 1999 [2.4], and an ultra-high speed (10000 frames/s) sensor was introduced by Kleinfelder *et al.* in 2001 [2.5]. A 3840 × 2160 array, with a pixel size of 4.2 μ m was suggested in [2.6] by Takayanagi *et al.* for UDTV applications, in 2005.

The above APS implementations all use three-transistor structure of Figure 2-2(a), which is the focus of this chapter. Several variations of the simple APS structure have also been fabricated and reported in the literature. We will cover most of these APS variations in Chapter 3.

2.3. APS signal during integration

During the integration period, the photodiode in the APS structure is floating. As a result, the junction capacitance of the photodiode is discharged by the internally generated photocurrent and dark current. Assuming a constant capacitance for the photodiode, and a constant photocurrent and dark current, then the sense node voltage of Figure 2-2(b), at time *t* from the beginning of integration, is given by

$$v_{S}(t) = v_{2} - \frac{i_{\rm PH} + i_{\rm DK}}{C_{\rm PH}} t$$
 (2-1)

In (2-1), v_2 is the sense node voltage at the beginning of integration as shown in Figure 2-2(b), C_{PH} is the junction capacitance of the photodiode, and I_{PH} and I_{DK} are the photocurrent and dark current. The junction capacitance of a diode however is not constant and varies with bias. In this case, it varies with the sense node voltage and as a result, (2-1) is not accurate. In the following subsections, an accurate analysis of the sense node voltage during integration is introduced [2.7].

2.3.1. C-V analysis for exponential junction and our C-V measurements

In a modern standard CMOS technology, the n^+ and p^+ regions, wells, and channel profiles are made by the ion-implantation method. Ion-implantation offers good control over the number of impurities and their profile. Therefore, junctions produced with this method can be well controlled. The doping profile of implanted impurities has approximately a Gaussian distribution [2.8] given by

$$N(x) = \frac{\Phi}{\sqrt{2\pi}\Delta R_p} e^{-(x-R_p)^2/2\Delta R_p^2},$$
(2-2)

where Φ is related to the doping dose, R_p is the projection range, and ΔR_p is the straggle of the implanted species. Assuming N(0) = A and $|x| \ll R_p$, then (2-2) can be approximated as

$$N(x) \approx A e^{x/\beta} , \qquad (2-3)$$

where A and β are defined as

$$A = \frac{\Phi}{\sqrt{2\pi}\Delta R_p} e^{-R_p^2/2\Delta R_p^2} \text{ and}$$

$$\beta = \frac{\Delta R_p^2}{R_p}.$$
(2-4)
(2-5)

Equation (2-3) indicates that if the junction is few standard deviations away from the range of the implantation, which is usually the case in CMOS technology, then the doping profiles at the junction can be approximated with exponential functions. In deep submicron technologies, extremely shallow implanted regions are desired. This calls for reduction of the thermal budget of the process and the creation of as-implanted profiles. Long channeling tails that would thermally be removed now become significant. This causes some deviation from the profile of (2-2), by reducing the slope of the deeper side of the implanted profile in the semi-logarithmic plot [2.8]-[2.10]. The profile however, in the semi-logarithmic plot, stays approximately

linear at few straggles away from the range of the implantation. Thus, the exponential approximation of (2-3) remains valid for such processes, provided adjustments of the parameters defined in (2-4) and (2-5) are made.



Figure 2-3: Doping profiles at the junction between two ion-implanted regions. Profiles are close to exponential at the proximity of the junction. w_n and w_p are boundaries of the depletion region.

For a pn-junction with exponential doping profiles as shown in Figure 2-3, the voltage drop across the depletion region and the static charge in the depletion region, can be calculated, given the boundaries of the depletion region. Parameters w_n and w_p , in Figure 2-3, indicate the depth of depletion of the n and p sides respectively. Assuming that the n side is more highly doped than the p side, that is $\beta_n \ll \beta_p$, then $w_n \ll w_p$ and we get

$$V = \frac{qA\beta_p}{\varepsilon} (\beta_p - w_p) e^{w_p / \beta_p} \text{ and}$$
(2-6)

$$Q = qA\beta_p (e^{w_p / \beta_p} - 1),$$
(2-7)

where Q is the charge per unit area. The parameter w_p should be eliminated from (2-6) and (2-7), and $dQ/dV|_v$ should be calculated as the voltage-varying capacitance of the junction. A closed form equation for C per unit area, given v, can be derived from (2-6) and (2-7) using a Lambert W function and C(v) is given by

$$C(\nu) = \frac{\varepsilon}{\beta_p} \left[1 + W(\frac{\varepsilon \nu}{\beta_p^2 q A e}) \right]^{-1}.$$
(2-8)

Note that the Lambert W function is the inverse of the function $f(W) = We^{W}$ [2.11], [2.12].

Equation (2-8) is the exact equation for the *C-V* characteristic of an exponential junction. However, it does not have a simple form for numerical evaluations and is difficult to be employed in the analysis. A $v^{-1/m}$ characteristic is traditionally assumed for the *C-V* relation of a pn-junction [2.13], [2.14] given by

$$C(\nu) = C_o \sqrt[m]{\frac{\nu_0 + \varphi}{\nu + \varphi}}, \qquad (2-9)$$

where φ is the built-in potential of the junction, and ν_0 and C_0 are the values of photodiode voltage and capacitance at the beginning of integration. Trying to fit (2-9) to (2-8), we found that m = 4 is the optimum choice. Note that m = 2 corresponds to an abrupt junction, and m = 3 to a linear junction. Thus, m = 4 can be a good approximation for an exponential junction.



Figure 2-4: (a) Measured C-V characteristics and (b) logarithm of capacitance versus voltage for different values of φ . The value of φ which produces a straight line is closest to the built-in potential of the junction.

We measured the *C*-*V* characteristic of photodiodes fabricated in a commercial 0.18 μ m technology to verify the above estimation of *m*. Measurements are done on 72 μ m² n⁺/p-sub junctions, made separately for the *C*-*V* measurements, from three different dies at two frequencies. Figure 2-4(a) shows the *C*-*V* curves obtained from our measurements. In order to extract *m*, according to (2-9), one can plot log(*C*) versus log($\nu + \varphi$) and relate *m* to the slope of the curve. However, the actual value of φ is unknown. Multiple plots can be made for different values of φ . The curve which is

closest to a straight line corresponds to the φ closest to the actual built-in potential of the junction. Figure 2-4(b) for $\varphi \approx 0.8$, suggests $m \approx 3.6$, approving that m = 4 can be used to describe the diode's *C*-*V* characteristic.

2.3.2. Analysis of APS signal and comparison to measured APS signal

Figure 2-2(a) shows the active pixel sensor circuit. During reset, transistor M_1 is turned on to bring the sense node voltage (v_S) up close to V_{DD} . During integration, M_1 is opened (in off-state) and the capacitance of the photodiode D will be discharged by its internally generated photocurrent i_{PH} and dark current i_{DK} . In a pinned photodiode APS, a transfer gate is used to transfer the charge to a readout node. In the three transistor structure of Figure 2-2(a), which is considered in this work, the charge is read directly from the sense node. An equation describing the sense node voltage during integration can be written as

$$\frac{dv_{S}(t)}{dt} \approx -\frac{i_{PH}(t) + i_{DK}(t)}{C(v_{S}(t))}.$$
(2-10)

In (2.10), the dC/dt term is not included. However, considering the small variation of the sense node capacitance during the long integration time, then (2-10) is a good approximation. Equation (2-10) has a closed form solution, assuming constant photocurrent and dark current and (2-9) for the voltage-varying capacitance of the photodiode. This solution is different for different values of *m*. Table 2-1 shows different closed form solutions for (2-10), where v_2 is the value of v_s at the beginning of integration as shown in Figure 2-2(b). Note that these formulas are valid before saturation of the pixel. In the case of saturation, the diode current relation should replace the fixed i_{DK} in (2-10) to obtain v_s .

Table 2-1: Calculated $v_{s}(t)$ for different values of *m*. Note that the sense node voltage for m = 4 is what was experimentally found in the actual diode used in this work.

| т | Junction | Sense node voltage (v _s) |
|---|----------|--|
| œ | Ideal | $v_2 - \frac{i_{\rm DK} + i_{\rm PH}}{C_0}t$ |
| 2 | Abrupt | $v_{2} - \frac{i_{\rm DK} + i_{\rm PH}}{C_{0}}t + \frac{(i_{\rm DK} + i_{\rm PH})^{2}}{4C_{0}^{2}}(v_{2} + \varphi)^{-1}t^{2}$ |
| 3 | Linear | $\left[(v_2 + \varphi)^{2/3} - \frac{2(i_{\rm DK} + i_{\rm PH})}{3C_0} (v_2 + \varphi)^{-1/3} t \right]^{3/2} - \varphi$ |
| 4 | Actual | $\left[(v_2 + \varphi)^{3/4} - \frac{3(i_{\rm DK} + i_{\rm PH})}{4C_0} (v_2 + \varphi)^{-1/4} t \right]^{4/3} - \varphi$ |

The choice of *m* has significant effect on the analytically derived sense node voltage. Figure 2-5 shows different analytic solutions of Table 2-1 for v_s , assuming different values of *m*. The curves deviate more as time increases. We have fabricated an APS that will be described in the next section. We have measured its output during the integration period that is also shown in Figure 2-5. A good agreement exists between the measured output and the analytic predictions obtained by solving (2-10) for m = 4.



Figure 2-5: Measured and calculated sense node voltage of APS vs. time. The curve is magnified to show that our analytical model best matches the measured APS output. The pixel is saturated in this example after 1.5 ms.

2.4. APS noise

Image sensors suffer from several fundamental and technological non-idealities. The sources of noise in an APS can be divided into two general categories: temporal and fixed pattern noise, FPN. Temporal noise is the most fundamental non-ideality in the APS. This type of noise is independent from pixel to pixel and it changes from frame to frame. The next subsections contain a description of FPN and also several types of temporal noise.

2.4.1. Fixed pattern noise

Fixed pattern noise is the pixel-to-pixel output variation under uniform illumination of the pixel array. This output variation is due to the device and circuit mismatches among the pixels and also the interconnect mismatches across the array. These variations cause two types of FPN: offset FPN, which is independent of the pixel signal, and gain FPN, which is also called photo-response non-uniformity (PRNU).

Offset FPN is fixed from frame to frame but may vary from sensor to sensor. There are more sources of FPN in CMOS imagers compared to CCDs, due to in-pixel circuitry and active readout circuits. Offset FPN can be substantially removed by a method called correlated double sampling, CDS. In this method, the APS output is sampled twice: once at the beginning of the integration period (v_2 in Figure 2-2(b)) and once at the end of the integration period (v_1 in Figure 2-2(b)). Gain FPN however, which might be due to the variation of the photodiode capacitance across the array, is not removed by CDS.

2.4.2. Reset noise

The dominant noise source during reset is thermal noise with the reported value of:

$$\overline{V_n^2} = \frac{kT}{2C_{\rm PH}} \,. \tag{2-11}$$

CDS can be used to remove reset noise. However, in some APS circuits and architectures that CDS is not employed, like the one that will be introduced in Chapter 4, reset noise will be present in the APS output.



Figure 2-6: (a) APS circuit during reset, and (b) the equivalent small signal circuit used for noise evaluations. I_n is the reset transistor equivalent noise source, g_d is the trans-conductance of M₁ and C_{PH} is the small signal capacitance of the photodiode.

Here, we also present the calculation of the reset noise for a special case when the DC variation of the photodiode voltage is small, and thus we can assume that the transconductance of the reset transistor and the capacitance of the photodiode are constant. The APS circuit during reset is shown if Figure 2-6(a) and the small-signal equivalent circuit for noise analysis is shown in Figure 2-6(b). In this case, the equation governing the output noise is

$$\frac{dV_{n}(t)}{dt} + \frac{g_{d}}{C_{\rm PH}}V_{n}(t) = \frac{I_{n}(t)}{C_{\rm PH}}.$$
(2-12)

The solution to the above equation for fixed g_d and C_{PH} is

$$V_{n}(t) = \frac{\int_{0}^{t} \frac{I_{n}(\tau)}{C_{\text{PH}}} e^{\frac{g_{d}}{C_{\text{PH}}}\tau} d\tau + K}{e^{\frac{g_{d}}{C_{\text{PH}}}t_{r}}}.$$
(2-13)

Further calculations show that K = 0. The mean square of (2-13) is given by

$$\overline{V_{n}^{2}} = \frac{1}{e^{\frac{2g_{d}}{C_{\text{PH}}}t_{r}}} \int_{0}^{r} \int_{0}^{r} \frac{\overline{I_{n}(\tau)}}{C_{\text{PH}}} \frac{I_{n}(\tau')}{C_{\text{PH}}} e^{\frac{g_{d}}{C_{\text{PH}}}(\tau+\tau')} d\tau d\tau'$$
(2-14)

and considering the shot noise during reset, we have $\overline{I_n(\tau)I_n(\tau')} = qi_d\delta(\tau - \tau')$ which results in

$$V_n^2 = \frac{q i_d}{2g_d C_{\rm PH}} \left(1 - e^{-\frac{2g_d}{C_{\rm PH}} t_l} \right).$$
(2-15)

The trans-conductance is defined as $g_d = -di_d/dv_s$. Using the approximation $g_d \approx i_d/v_T$ we will have

$$\overline{V_n^2} = \frac{kT}{2C_{\rm PH}} \left(1 - e^{-\frac{2i_d}{v_T C_{\rm PH}} t_r} \right),$$
(2-16)

which is the exact value of the reset noise. Equation (2-16) is approximated in literature by (2-11). This approximation is valid for the normal conditions of operation of an APS. However, if the reset time becomes small, like the DC mode of operation of the APS that will be introduced in Chapter 4, the exponential term in (2-16) can become significant, and the approximate (2-11) will be inaccurate.

2.4.3. Shot noise

The analysis of shot noise during integration is presented here. During the integration time, the photodiode junction capacitance is discharged with the internally generated photocurrent and dark current. The equivalent small-signal circuit for noise analysis is shown in Figure 2-7.



Figure 2-7: Equivalent circuit of the APS during integration.

The equation governing the photodiode voltage during integration, assuming constant photocurrent and dark current, is

$$\frac{d(v_{S} + V_{n})}{dt} = -\frac{i_{\rm PH} + i_{\rm DK} + I_{n}(t)}{C_{\rm PH}(v_{S} + V_{n})}, \qquad (2-17)$$

where the PSD of the shot noise is given by

$$S_{I_n} = q(i_{\rm PH} + i_{\rm DK}) \,\mathrm{A}^2/\mathrm{Hz}.$$
 (2-18)

If a constant photodiode capacitance is assumed, then (2-17) can be solved to obtain the noise power.

$$\overline{V_{n}(t)} = -\frac{\int_{n}^{\text{int}} (\tau) d\tau}{C_{\text{PH}}}$$

$$\overline{V_{n}^{2}} = -\frac{\int_{n}^{\text{int}} \int_{n}^{\text{int}} (\tau) \overline{I_{n}(\tau')} d\tau d\tau'}{C_{\text{PH}}^{2}} = \frac{\int_{n}^{\text{int}} \overline{I_{n}(\tau)^{2}} d\tau}{C_{\text{PH}}^{2}}$$

$$\overline{V_{n}^{2}} = -\frac{q(i_{\text{PH}} + i_{\text{DK}})}{C_{\text{PH}}^{2}} t_{\text{int}}.$$
(2-19)

Equation (2-19) is obtained by assuming a constant capacitance for the photodiode during integration time. To obtain a more accurate analysis [2.15], (2-17) is expanded considering the voltage variant C_{PH} to obtain

$$\frac{dV_n(t)}{dt} - \frac{1}{C_{\rm PH}^2(v_S(t))} \frac{dC_{\rm PH}(v_S(t))}{dv_S(t)} V_n(t)(i_{\rm PH} + i_{\rm DK}) = -\frac{I_n(t)}{C_{\rm PH}(v_S(t))}.$$
(2-20)

In order to solve (2-20), [2.15] has assumed the (2-9) model for the voltage varying capacitance of the photodiode with m = 2 to obtain the total noise power at the end of integration time to be

$$\overline{V_n^2} = \frac{q(i_{\rm PH} + i_{\rm DK})}{C_0^2} t_{\rm int} \times \left(1 - \frac{1}{2(\nu_0 + \varphi)} \frac{i_{\rm PH} + i_{\rm DK}}{C_0} t_{\rm int}\right)^2.$$
(2-21)

Here we present an alternative approach to extract the shot noise at the end of integration time with the more accurate model for the voltage varying C_{PH} . The noise power of the sense node at the end of integration can approximately be written as

$$\overline{V_n^2} \approx q(i_{\rm PH} + i_{\rm DK}) \int_0^{t_{\rm int}} \frac{1}{C_{\rm PH} (v_s(t))^2} dt$$
(2-22)

and after applying the equation for the voltage varying capacitance of the photodiode given in (2-9) for m = 4, it simplifies as the following:

$$\overline{V_n^2} = \frac{q(i_{\rm PH} + i_{\rm DK})}{C_0^2} \frac{1}{\sqrt{v_0 + \varphi}} \int_0^{i_{\rm int}} \sqrt{v_0 + \varphi - \frac{i_{\rm PH} + i_{\rm DK}}{C_0} t} dt$$

$$= \frac{q(i_{\rm PH} + i_{\rm DK})}{C_0^2} \frac{2}{3} (v_0 + \varphi) \frac{C_0}{i_{\rm PH} + i_{\rm DK}} \times \left[1 - \left(1 - \frac{i_{\rm PH} + i_{\rm DK}}{C_0} \frac{t_{\rm int}}{v_0 + \varphi} \right)^{3/2} \right]$$

$$\approx \frac{q(i_{\rm PH} + i_{\rm DK})}{C_0^2} t_{\rm int} \times \left(1 - \frac{1}{4(v_0 + \varphi)} \frac{i_{\rm PH} + i_{\rm DK}}{C_0} t_{\rm int} \right).$$
(2-23)

Let's evaluate the power of shot noise for some sample parameter values. For $i_{PH} = 100$ fA, $i_{DK} = 2.28$ fA, $C_0 = 22$ fF, $t_{int} = 30$ ms, $\varphi = 0.7$ V and $v_0 = 2.5$ V, the shot noise values are calculated as shown in Table 2-2.

Table 2-2: Shot noise calculated for different analytical models.

| Noise model | RMS shot noise, V_n |
|-------------|-----------------------|
| (2-19) | 1 mV |
| (2-21) | 0.95 mV |
| (2-23) | 0.99 mV |

Equation (2-21) from [2.15] underestimates the noise. This is mainly due to the photodiode modeling in [2.15] that assumes an abrupt junction for the photodiode. The results show that the simple noise model of (2-19), which is the noise assuming constant photodiode capacitance, is a good approximation.

2.4.4. 1/f noise

To find the output noise power due to the transistor 1/f noise, frequency domain analysis is typically performed. The 1/f noise approximates the state of the integrator at the end of t_{int} to be steady state:

$$\overline{V_n^2} = \int_{f_1}^{f_2} S_I(f) |Z(f)|^2 df$$

$$= \int_{f_1}^{f_2} \frac{S_{I_d}(f)}{g_m^2(t_r) + 4\pi^2 f^2 C^2} df,$$
(2-24)

where g_m is the transistor's transconductance, and S_{Id} is the transistor drain current 1/f noise power spectral density (PSD), given in a simple form by

$$S_I = \frac{\alpha_H}{N} \frac{I^a}{f} \text{ A}^2/\text{Hz},$$
(2-25)

where a = 2, N is the number of free carriers¹ and α_H is the Hooge's constant usually given as 2×10^{-3} . Assuming that the impedance of the sense node is dominated by the photodiode capacitance C_{PH} , then we get

$$\overline{V_n^2} = 2 \int_{1/t_{\text{int}}}^{\infty} \frac{\alpha_H}{N} \frac{I^a}{f} \frac{1}{(2\pi f C_{\text{PH}})^2} df$$
$$= \frac{\alpha_H (i_{\text{PH}} + i_{\text{DK}})^a}{N4\pi^2 C_{\text{PH}}^2} t_{\text{int}}^2.$$
(2-26)

The frequency limits are set to $f_1 = 1/t_{int}$ and $f_2 = +\infty$. These choices for the cutoff frequencies are quite arbitrary. Moreover, the circuit is not in steady state and thus it is not appropriate to use frequency domain analysis.

 $^{^{1}} J = q\mu_{n}n_{i}E \Rightarrow N \approx Ix/q\mu_{n}AV$, where x and A are the width and area, respectively, and I and V are the total current and voltage across the photodiode, respectively, q is the electron charge and μ_{n} is the electron mobility.

Here we will discuss the non-stationary 1/f noise model and time domain analysis to obtain more accurate noise power estimates. Now we consider 1/f noise during integration. Similar to the calculation of shot noise, the circuit is not in steady state and thus the frequency domain calculations are not accurate. Here, we propose the simple case at which the 1/f noise source is fed to the fixed capacitance of the photodiode, $C_{\rm PH}$. The noise power is then

$$\overline{V_n^2(t)} = \frac{q^2}{C_{\rm PH}^2 A^2} \int \int \zeta(t_1, t_2) dt_2 dt_1 .$$
(2-27)

With some suggestions from [2.16] we assume

$$\varsigma(\tau) = \int_{\lambda_L}^{\lambda_H} \frac{1}{4} e^{-2\lambda|\tau|} \frac{4kTAt_{\text{ox}}N_t}{\lambda\log\frac{\lambda_H}{\lambda_L}} d\lambda .$$
(2-28)

Equations (2-27) and (2-28) give the total 1/f noise at the end of integration to be

$$\overline{V_n^2(t)} = \frac{2q^2 k T N_t t_{ox}}{C_{\rm PH}^2 A \log \frac{\lambda_H}{\lambda_L}} \int_0^{\rm mt} \int_1^1 \int_{t_L}^{t_H} \frac{1}{\lambda} e^{-2\lambda(t_1 - t_2)} d\lambda dt_2 dt_1, \qquad (2-29)$$

where A is the channel area, t_{ox} is the effective gate-oxide thickness, N_t is the trap density and λ_L and λ_H are the lower and higher transition rate bounds in the carrier-number-fluctuation 1/f model that we have used. This model presents a PSD of

$$S_{V_g}(f) \approx \frac{q^2 k T N_t t_{ox}}{2C_{\text{PH}}^2 A \log \frac{\lambda_H}{\lambda_t} f}.$$
(2-30)

For f inside $[\lambda_L, \lambda_H]$, a fixed PSD for $f \ll \lambda_L$ and a $1/f^2$ varying PSD for $f \gg \lambda_H$. Thus we claim that (2-28) is a practical and relatively accurate model for 1/f noise.

2.4.5. Read-out stage noise



Figure 2-8: APS circuit with (a) column bias transistor and equivalent capacitance of the next stage. (b) Full APS circuit with CDS and read-out stages.

So far, we have only considered the noise that is induced by the photodiode or the reset transistor, M_1 . However, during the read-out stage, transistors M_2 and M_3 of the APS pixel are also active. Transistor M_2 buffers the small capacitance of the sense node. Select transistor, M_3 , electronically connects the APS output to the column bus. Each column bus is biased with an NMOS transistor, which is transistor M_4 in Figure 2-8(a). Here we will consider the noise contribution of transistors M_2 , M_3 and M_4 , to the output of the pixel shown in Figure 2-8(a).



Figure 2-9: Small signal equivalent circuits of the readout stage (transistor M_2 , M_3 and M_4 of Figure 2-8(a)) for (a) gain and (b) noise calculations ((b) is taken from [2.15], Fig. 8).

The gain of the buffer stage, which is v_o/v_s in Figure 2-8(a), is close to 1. The exact formula for the gain is obtained by solving the equivalent small signal circuit of Figure 2-9(a), which results in

$$\frac{v_o}{v_s} = \frac{1}{\{1 + 1/[g_{m_2}(r_2 \parallel r_4)]\}[1 + 1/g_{d_3}r_4]},$$
(2-31)

where g_{m_2} and g_{d_3} are the transconductance and output conductance values and r_2 and r_4 are the output resistance of the transistors in their respective small-signal models.

The noise of the readout-out stage is calculated by considering the thermal noise of the transistors M_2 , M_3 and M_4 . Figure 2-9(b) shows the small signal model for noise analysis. Assuming the following PSD for the thermal noise of the MOS transistors,

$$S_I = 4kT\gamma g_m A^2/Hz, \qquad (2-32)$$

assuming $\gamma = 2/3$, and defining $\alpha = [1/g_{d_3} + 1/g_{m_2}]$, then the total noise power in the output, due to thermal noise, is given by

$$\overline{V_n^2} = \frac{kT}{C_{\text{REF}}} \left(\frac{2}{3g_{m_2}} \alpha^{-1} + \frac{1}{g_{d_3}} \alpha^{-1} + \frac{2g_{m_4}}{3} \alpha \right).$$
(2-33)

Noise of the CDS stage can be calculated in the same way as was done for the readout buffer. Figure 2-8(b) shows the complete APS circuit that includes the CDS and readout stages. The only difference here is that the noise should be doubled as there are two CDS stages in parallel. Thus, with the same calculations, the noise of CDS stage at output will be ($\beta = [1/g_{d_7} + 1/g_{m_6}]$)

$$\overline{V_n^2} = \frac{2kT}{C_1} \left(\frac{2}{3g_{m_6}} \beta^{-1} + \frac{1}{g_{d_7}} \beta^{-1} + \frac{2g_{m_8}}{3} \beta \right).$$
(2-34)

2.5. Signal to noise ratio (SNR) of APS

The SNR expression can be obtained by calculating the total noise power using (2-16), (2-23), (2-29), (2-33) and (2-34), and the signal power using Table 2-1. For low-level light, interestingly, the SNR as a function of t_{int} has a peak value that happens before the photodiode fully discharges. Figure 2-10(a) shows the peak occurring for some value of t_{int} ($t_{int} = 1.07$ s, $v_S = 2.16$ V, and $V_n = 4.3$ mV). The peak happens at lower t_{int} as the light level is increased, as shown in Figure 2-10(b). The reason is that as i_{PH} increases, the photodiode discharges faster; thus, the decline in SNR starts at smaller integration times.





Figure 2-10: (a) SNR of an APS has a peak before the pixel capacitance fully discharges. (b) The optimum integration time decreases as the photocurrent increases. The optimum SNR, however, stays around 54 dB. The reason for the small drop in SNR is that when the i_{PH} value becomes too small, comparable to i_{DK} , the shot noise of i_{DK} becomes important, and the SNR decreases.

2.5.1. Optimum integration time and maximum SNR of pixel

Another interesting result that can be observed is that the maximum achievable SNR by the pixel does not vary with i_{PH} . It is shown in Figure 2-10(b) that the variation in SNR as a function of i_{PH} is negligible. The maximum achievable SNR is a property of the pixel and is not a function of the incident light level. A qualitative explanation can

be made considering that the peak SNR happens for integration times very close to the saturation of the pixel. Thus, the signal value $(i_{PH}/C_{PH})t_{int}$ is approximately equal to V_{DD} . Assuming that the noise sources are dominated by the photocurrent shot noise, its power $(qi_{PH}/C_{PH})t_{int}$ can be approximated by qV_{DD}/C_{PH} ; thus, the peak SNR will not be a function of photocurrent or integration time, but a function of the capacitance of the pixel and the source voltage (SNR_{max} $\approx 10\log(V_{DD}C_{PH}/q))$). In this example, the maximum SNR is about 54 dB.

The circuit of Figure 2-2(a) is also simulated to verify our theory. We have used the Cadence Spectre analog analyzer for signal and noise simulations of the circuit of Figure 2-2(a). The photodiode is modeled as a diode in parallel to a current source corresponding to the photocurrent. The simulation results, as shown in Figure 2-10(a), follow the analytic SNR very well before the saturation of the photodiode. The simulation suggests that the photodiode may saturate slightly earlier than predicted by our theory, which is due to different models for the leakages of the diode and the transistor in the simulator. Larger leakage currents help the diode to charge faster. The main point that we would like to make here, however, is about the maximum SNR. The maximum achievable SNR of the APS, which is about 53.9 dB, matches our theory very well.

2.5.2. Our measurements

A chip has been designed and fabricated in a commercial CMOS 0.18 μ m technology for testing the APS circuit. A photomicrograph of the chip is shown in Figure 2-11(a). The chip has been fabricated, packaged and bonded through CMC². Figure 2-11(b) shows a photomicrograph of an APS circuit on the chip. It corresponds to a pixel with a 20 μ m × 20 μ m photodiode size. The APS transistors are shielded with a top thick metal layer available in the standard process. The six metal connections to the APS can also be seen in Figure 2-11(b). They correspond to V_{DD} , *GND*, *Reset*, *Word*, and v_O in Figure 2-2(a). There is also a separate connection for the V_{DD} of the reset transistor, to facilitate studying the dynamic range of the pixel, and characteristics of the reset.

² Canadian Microelectronics Corporation. www.cmc.ca





Figure 2-11: (a) Photomicrograph of the APS chip that is fabricated in this work. The chip is fabricated in standard CMOS $0.18 \,\mu\text{m}$ technology. It contains several APS pixels. (b) The zoomed Photomicrograph of the three-transistor APS pixel. The metal layer connections to the pixel can be easily seen in the picture. A thick 6th layer metal shield is designed to cover the peripheral circuitry of the pixel.

Figure 2-12 shows the setups for measurements on the APS. Figure 2-12(a) shows the setup with a 633 nm, 0.5 mW, HeNe Research Electro-optics laser source. Figure 2-12(b) shows the setup with a 75 W, Xenon lamp. Xenon lamps have uniform irradiance over a wide spectrum range covering ultraviolet, visible, and near infrared. They also have good stability in the output power. The lamp is connected to the input port of an integrating sphere through a filter box. The chip is placed on a rail in front of an output port of the sphere. The optical power incident on the chip can be varied by moving it with respect to the sphere. The optical power has been measured by a Newport multi-function optical meter (model 2835-C) and a Newport photodiode (model 818-UV). An integrating sphere scatters light uniformly through multiple reflections along its interior, and provides nearly uniform light flux at its output.



Figure 2-12: Optical setups in our dark room for measuring the photoresponse and noise of the APS circuits. The figures show the setups using (a) a laser source and (b) a Xenon lamp. Laser source is used for selective measurement of the photodetector at a certain wavelength. Xenon lamp is used for wide spectral response measurements.

Many precautions are needed for noise measurements. For our measurements, the optical setup was placed on a vibration-isolation table, and the fan that cools the lamp was turned off. Also, measurements were performed in an optically dark room to minimize the background illumination. The dark room in our laboratory also provides 120 dB RF shielding to minimize the external RF disturbances. Finally, stable lamp and voltage sources were used, and connections to the chip were made using triaxial cables.

Results of our measurements will be reported in several places in the following chapters. The APS photo-responses will be discussed and compared in Section 3.2 and measurements on some APS variations will be presented in Sections 3.3 and 3.4. Signal-to-noise ratio of APS will be reported in 4.3. Measurements on avalanche photodiodes will be discussed in Sections 5.4, 5.5 and 5.7.

Chapter 3

IMAGE SENSOR WITH PIXEL-LEVEL

PROCESSING

This section will start with a review of some of the variations of the APS. Advantages and disadvantages of each of the structures will be discussed. Then, three different APS structures that are fabricated and measured in this work will be discussed. These APS structures are studied in the context of applications that require low-level light detection systems. The three APS structures studied were – a conventional APS, an APS with a comparator, and an APS with an integrator. A special focus of our study was on both the signal and noise characteristics of each APS structure so the key performance metric of signal-to-noise ratio can be computed and compared. The pixel structures that are introduced in this work can cover a wide range of applications, such as high-resolution digital photography using the APS with a comparator, to ultra-sensitive biomedical measurements using the APS with an integrator.

3.1. Review of APS variations in literature

3.1.1. Photogate APS

The photogate (PG) pixel structure is shown in Figure 3-1 [3.1], [3.2]. Incident photons pass through the PG and generate electrons that are stored in the potential well beneath the gate. The TX transistor allows the reset and signal levels to be read
through different channels utilizing true correlated double sampling (CDS), which reduces both reset noise and fixed pattern noise (FPN) [3.3].



Figure 3-1: A four-transistor APS pixel with photo-gate. Photons have to pass through the poly-silicon gate layer before reaching the silicon surface (Taken from [3.1], Fig. 6).

3.1.2. Logarithmic pixels

Logarithmic pixels are suitable in applications where wide dynamic range is desired. The load transistor produces a voltage that is proportional to the logarithm of the photocurrent [3.1], as shown in Figure 3-2. This is a non-integrating approach, and thus not suitable for low light level applications.



Figure 3-2: Logarithmic pixel. In this pixel the load transistor performs the logarithmic current to voltage conversion (Taken from [3.1], Fig. 9).

A major drawback of logarithmic sensors is their high FPN due to the sensitivity of the output with respect to the device parameters. Thus, CDS is not applicable at the

pixel level. An on-chip calibration approach has been suggested to reduce the FPN [3.4]. The circuit has an extra calibration current column bus. The pixel value is read twice, once with the photocurrent and a second time with the calibration current passing through the logarithmic load. A five-transistor pixel has been realized in a $0.5 \,\mu\text{m}$ process. The pixel pitch is $7.5 \,\mu\text{m} \times 10 \,\mu\text{m}$ in a 512×512 array. The implemented sensor has a dynamic range (DR) of 120 dB, temporal noise of 0.75 % of the total swing, and FPN of 2.5 %.

3.1.3. Current-mediated

The objective of this method is to achieve simple error correction techniques [3.5]. The pixel benefits from small size and simple operation (Figure 3-3). It has three transistors per pixel, and four bus lines that are controlled by two clock signals. The nonlinear photon-to-output signal transfer function however, limits the fixed-pattern noise correction.

The circuit operates as follows. For performing the reset function, RESET, SEL, and Reference enable transistors are turned on to force I_{REF} to pass through the photodiode and generate and store the reference voltage level in the sense node. During integration, photocurrent discharges the sense node similar to APS. A 512 × 768 imager is fabricated in this work in a 0.7 μ m process.



Figure 3-3: Current mediated pixel structure. The pixel has to be selected to perform reset (Taken from [3.5], Fig. 2).

There is another current-mode APS reported in the literature [3.6] that has on-chip FPN cancelation. This approach uses a new readout strategy in which only two current sources are active at any given time, resulting in reduced power consumption. Also, the same addressing signals are used for the electronic shutter, resulting in significant saving of silicon area. A 32×32 imager was fabricated in this work using AMIS 0.35 μ m CMOS technology.

3.1.4. High DR

There are many reported solutions for increasing the dynamic range (DR) of APS. The logarithmic pixel was one of them. Here is another approach with a pixel circuit that is very similar to APS as shown in Figure 3-4 [3.7].



Figure 3-4: (a) High dynamic range pixel schematic and (b) its layout. High dynamic range is achieved by varying b(t) (Taken from [3.7], Figures 1 and 2).

The gate of the spill transistor M_3 is held at a constant potential of approximately 1V. Charge generated over the large n⁺ diffusion area is thus sensed using the small capacitance of the sensing node. A high dynamic range is achieved by manipulating b(t). Unlike regular APS, for which b(t) is 0 and jumps to V_{DD} during the reset time, in this pixel structure, b(t) is gradually increased (either smoothly or in steps) to V_{DD} . This allows for much sharper integration slopes of the sense node to be sensed before saturation.

3.1.5. In-pixel ADC

Performing the analog-to-digital conversion inside the pixel can have many advantages. It makes the imager more compatible with digital CMOS, and also more scalable. It eliminates the column and read-out circuit noises. Finally, parallel ADC will provide very high operation speeds [3.8] as the pixel readout is not limited by the bus settling time. Maintaining all analog processing within the pixel can reduce overall system power and allow for easier scaling to larger array sizes.



Figure 3-5: Digital pixel sensor structure. Every four pixels share an ADC unit, resulting is approximately 3 transistors per pixel. (Taken from [3.9], Fig. 3).

Figure 3-5 shows the pixel circuit of the digital pixel sensor. The pixel performs sigma-delta ADC. The external circuit provides the pixel with the comparison level, V_{REF} , and reads the digital output bit by bit.

Another work has been reported [3.10] that implements a pixel parallel A/D conversion. This work suggests a free-running continuous oscillator sampled at fixed intervals to be used as a first order $\Sigma\Delta$ converter. The circuit is shown in Figure 3-6 and it is composed of four sections: a differential amplifier which continuously compares the photodiode voltage to V_{LOW} ; a bistable half-latch which triggers the reset; a regenerative section that switches the bistable latch and restarts the integration; and pulse capture logic that stores a bit upon reset. The circuit constantly compares the rising photodiode signal with V_{LOW} . It resets the photodiode and generates a "1" output as soon as v_S equalizes with V_{LOW} . The frequency of the output bit represents the signal. The work claims low-power and high DR. The drawback however is the pixel size, reported to be 30 μ m × 30 μ m for the implementation.



Figure 3-6: Sigma delta converter cell schematic. It contains 19 transistors and connects to 5 bus lines (Taken from [3.10], Fig. 9).

A similar work [3.11] reports a high-speed digital pixel sensor that could achieve 10,000 frames/s. It performs a fully pixel-parallel image acquisition. The pixel consists of a photogate circuit, a comparator, and an 8-bit memory. It uses the same technique as [3.10] for the A/D conversion. However, the pixel size is 9.4 μ m × 9.4 μ m and it is implemented in 0.18 μ m CMOS technology.

In a more recent work [3.12], an 8.3 M-pixel, 60 frames/s digital output CMOS APS has been reported. It is fabricated in 0.25 μ m CMOS with a 20 mm × 20 mm die size. The output resolution is 3840 × 2160 with a 4.2 μ m pixel size. In this work however, the ADC has been done in the column level, and not in the pixel. The ADC has a 10-bit output. The FPN generated in each pixel and the column analog signal chain is suppressed before the A/D conversion. The dynamic range is 55 dB and the noise floor is 42 e (full well capacity is 25,000 e).

3.1.6. Pseudo-active pixel senor

The so-called pseudo-active pixel sensor (PAPS) pixel structure is shown in Figure 3-7(b) [3.13], [3.14]. This structure offers low dark current and high fill-factor. The integration capacitor and source follower of the conventional APS are moved out of the pixel. The op-amp shown in Figure 3-7(a) fixes the photodiode anode voltage, v_{PIX} , that helps to reduce dark current.



Figure 3-7: (a) Pseudo-active pixel sensor circuit and (b) the pixel. Pixel is similar to passive as it connects to the bus via a single transistor (Taken from [3.13], Fig. 1 and 4).

This approach claims to reduce the dark current by isolating the photon-sensing area from the defective field oxide. An n⁺ ring reset structure is proposed. A fill factor as high as 45 % has been achieved. The pixel has been implemented using standard 0.35 μ m CMOS with a pixel size of 7.5 μ m × 7.5 μ m. Figure 3-8 shows the pixel structure of an ordinary APS pixel compared to the proposed pixel [3.15].



Figure 3-8: Ring reset pixel structure (Taken from [3.15], Fig. 1).

3.1.7. Combined structure

It has been suggested [3.16] that using a combined photogate and photodiode ring structure in an APS pixel can reduce the dark current. In a single integration period, the pixel performs the integration twice. Once with the PG voltage high, letting the photo-gate integrate, and once with photo-gate off. Then using the differential column structure shown in Figure 3-9, the difference is regarded as the signal value.



Figure 3-9: Combined photo-gate and photodiode structure. The pixel schematic and the correlated double sampling circuit are shown at left. The layout of the pixel is shown at right (Taken from [3.16], Fig. 1).

The dark current in the CMOS APS cell mainly results from the leakage current in the surface depletion region [3.16]. As the surface depletion region is not affected by the PG, it is claimed that the total sensed dark current in the two periods are the same (considering equal integration times). The subtraction will then eliminate the dark current induced voltage. The circuit has been implemented in 0.35 μ m CMOS. Reported dark current is 0.93 nA/cm².

3.1.8. Conventional APS

There has also been several conventional APS structures reported in the literature. Here we will compare several parameters of the reported APS. Table 3-1 compares three photogate APS structures and Table 3-2 compares 7 different photodiode APS structures.

| Reference | Tech. μm | Pix. size µm | Array size | FF % | Read noise | Dark Cur. pA/cm ² | FPN mV | DR dB |
|-----------------|-------------|-----------------|---------------|---------|------------|---------------------------------|-----------|----------|
| Nixon [3.3] | 1.2 | - | 256×256 | - | 138 µV | 500 | - | - |
| Yonemoto [3.17] | 0.35 | 7.4 | 640×640 | 24:47 | | 370 | 8:24 | - |
| Sunetra [3.2] | 2 | 40 | 128×128 | 26 | 28 e | 1000 | 3 | 76 |

Table 3-1: Different photogate APS structures

| Reference | Tech. μm | Pixel size µm | Array size | FF % | Read noise | Dark Cur. pA/cm ² | FPN mV | DR dB |
|-----------------|-------------|------------------|---------------|---------|------------|---------------------------------|-----------|----------|
| Cheng [3.15] | 3.5 | 7.5 | 3×3 | 42.6 | | - | - | - |
| Shih [3.13] | 0.25 | 5.8 | 352×288 | 58 | - | 93 | 5.3 | - |
| McIlrath [3.5] | 0.7 | 15 | 512×768 | - | - | - | - | - |
| Ricquier [3.18] | 0.5 | 6.6 | 512×512 | 15 | - | - | 5 | 50 |
| Zhou [3.19] | 1.2 | 24 | 128×128 | 29 | 303 | 600 | 6 | 72 |
| Casadeu [3.20] | 0.6 | 12.8 | 64×64 | 28 | 106e | - | 2 % | 64 |
| Mehta [3.21] | 0.5 | 20.3 | 92×52 | 10 | - | -11 | 1 % | - |

Table 3-2: Different photodiode APS structures

3.2. APS pixels with internal comparator and integrator

The number of transistors that could fit into a pixel was limited in past. This was due to the large size of transistors compared to the desired pixel pitch for medium- to high-resolution imagers. However, deep submicron technologies have made it

possible to put more transistors into the same die area. This has made the transition from passive pixel sensors (1 transistor per pixel) to active pixel sensors (3 transistors) and beyond, posbbile. It is now feasible to do parts of the data processing within the pixel and to develop smart pixels. Smart pixel systems are integrated and can perform sophisticated tasks faster than conventional imaging systems. In the following subsections, we analyze two APS pixels with in-pixel circuitry that are the core of many smart pixels. We have designed and fabricated a three transistor APS, an APS pixel with internal comparator, and an APS pixel with internal integrator in standard 0.18 μ m CMOS technology with the layouts shown in Figure 3-10. In the following, we compare the performance of these APS circuits, and their suitability for different types of applications [3.22].



Figure 3-10: Layouts of different APS structures. (a) Three transistor APS has the simplest layout and highest fill-factor. (b) The APS with comparator has 8 transistors. However, our compact design has kept the fill-factor at a high level. (c) The APS with integrator. This design considers a capacitor in each pixel that reduces the fill-factor of the pixel. However, the fill-factor is still at a reasonable level.

3.2.1. APS with comparator

The general structure of our APS pixel with an internal comparator is shown in Figure 3-11(a), with the detailed schematic of the circuit shown in Figure 3-12. The pixel consists of 8 transistors including the reset transistor, with the layout shown in Figure 3-10(b). The pixel has a reference level input and its output has a digital "High" or "Low" value, depending of the value of the reverse voltage across the photodiode relative to the value of reference voltage of the comparator, V_{REF} . The photodiode and

reset transistor combination of the pixel works in the same manner as the conventional APS. The sense node voltage is compared to the reference level, and the result of the comparison is the output of the pixel. Figure 3-11(b) shows different signals from the pixel and how they correspond to each other. Waveforms 1 and 2 in Figure 3-11(b) are the measured reset signal and output of the pixel. Waveform 3 is an illustration of the internal sense node voltage, and waveform 4 is the reference level. After reset, the sense node voltage is above the reference level and the output is low. The sense node voltage will decrease during integration, and if the light level is high enough, it will cross the reference level. Therefore, the duration of the output signal of the pixel. Compared to the conventional APS where the output is the voltage swing, for APS with the comparator, the output is the duration of the low-level pulse shown in Figure 3-11(b).



Figure 3-11: APS with comparator. (a) General schematic and (b) Measured and illustrated waveforms. Channel 1 is the applied reset signal and channel 2 is the measured output, v_0 , of the pixel. Channel 3 and 4 show how the sense node voltage and reference level stand with respect to each other to generate the output.

The time at which the output of the pixel goes from "High" to "Low" is fixed by the externally applied reset. The time at which the pulse comes back to "High" however, is affected by the noise that is present in the sense node voltage. The noise sources

that contribute to the total noise of the sense node voltage are the same as the three-transistor APS described above in Section 2.4. In this APS with a comparator, an easy way to quantify the noise in from of the jitter in the rising edge of the output pulse of the comparator. Figure 3-13(a) shows the jitter of the output, captured on the storage oscilloscope screen. Figure 3-13(b) shows the root-mean-square (RMS) value of the jitter of the output, compared to the output pulse width. Figure 3-13(b) shows that the signal-to-noise ratio of the output is not the limiting factor in detection of the low-light-levels using this structure. However, sensing lower light levels requires higher integration times to let the sense node voltage drop enough to cross the reference level. This is similar to the three transistor APS, with the difference being that now the reference level can also be adjusted to optimize the detection of the light intensity range of interest.



Figure 3-12: Full circuit of Figure 3-11(a) with the dimensions of the photodiode and transistors.



Figure 3-13: (a) Measured output of the APS with comparator, zoomed in to show the jitter in its output. This jitter is the noise of the output as the pulse width is the output of the pixel. (b) Measured signal (pulse width) and noise (jitter) of the output of the pixel, as a function of light powers.

The main advantage of this structure is the immediate analog-to-digital conversion of the signal, inside the pixel, thus eliminating the readout noise of the consequent stages of the imager. It will also provide a parallel and fast A/D conversion of the signal, making it possible to achieve faster scanning times.

3.2.2. APS with integrator

In most of the APS structures, including the two that are described above, the photocurrent is integrated by the junction capacitance of the photodiode. A diode

however, is not a perfect capacitor, as the junction capacitance changes with the applied bias. As a result, output of the APS becomes nonlinear and this has an impact on both the signal and the SNR characteristics. It should be mentioned that the sense node voltage capacitance of an APS has a parallel component equal to the gate-source capacitance of the buffer transistor (M_2 in Figure 2-2(a)). One can reduce the effect of nonlinear capacitance of the photodiode, by making the gate-source capacitance of M_2 high, such that it dominates the sense node capacitance. This solution will keep the capacitance at the sense node voltage relatively constant. However, it will result in an increase in the size of the buffer transistor, thus reducing the fill-factor of the pixel. It will also reduce the charge-to-voltage conversion gain of the pixel, thus degrading its sensitivity. An integrator, using an operational amplifier, can solve this problem by keeping the sense node voltage constant and integrating the current in its fixed capacitor. We have designed a pixel with a current integrator that integrates the photocurrent into an on-chip metal-oxide-metal capacitor. The schematic of the APS with integrator is shown in Figure 3-14(a), with its layout shown in Figure 3-10(c)and the detailed schematic shown in Figure 3-15.



Figure 3-14: APS with integrator. (a) General schematic of the pixel and (b) its measured waveforms. Channel 1 shows the measured output of the pixel, while channel 2 shows the reset signal applied to the pixel, for a 2.5 ms readout time.

The measured output of the APS with integrator is shown in Figure 3-14(b). After the reset period, the capacitance of the integrator is discharged. During integration, the

operational amplifier of the integrator keeps the bias over the photodiode fixed. This causes the photocurrent generated in the photodiode to be integrated in the capacitor rather than the photodiode. The output of the integrator will then increase in proportion to the generated photocurrent during the integration time.



Figure 3-15: Full circuit of Figure 3-14(a) with the dimensions of the photodiode and transistors. Junction capacitance of the photodiode is approximately 300 fF.

Figure 3-16 shows how the output of the APS with integrator varies with the incident light power. The measurements are done for light at different wavelengths and they show good linearity of the output with respect to the power of incident light, unless the pixel is saturated.



Figure 3-16: Output of the APS with integrator, sampled at different levels of incident light power. Measurements are done at different wavelengths. It can be observed that a good linearity exists in the output, unless the output saturates, as shown in the curve for the 700 nm light.

Analysis of the shot noise during integration, for the APS with integrator, is similar to the three transistor APS with the only difference being in the value of the capacitance. However, the effect of 1/f noise will be more important now, as different elements of the integrator also contribute to the 1/f noise. It is important to remember that frequency domain analysis is not applicable for the analysis of 1/f noise in this circuit, as APS is a switched circuit, and the 1/f noise will appear as a cyclo-stationary process in its output [3.23].

One advantage of the proposed APS with integrator design is that the size of the photodiode and the capacitance of the integrator can be chosen independently. Thus the capacity of the pixel can be adjusted while keeping the photosensitive area of the pixel fixed. The main advantage of this structure, however, is its performance in dark. The amplifier of the structure keeps the bias applied to the photodiode fixed. The bias level is controlled by the input V_B which is very close to zero. At these small bias voltages, the dark current generated in the photodiode is small compared to the dark current of the conventional APS generated at a bias close to V_{DD} [3.14]. As a result,

the output voltage read from the pixel at dark will be small, compared to the three transistor APS.

3.2.3. Comparison

Three different APS structures are introduced in this work. Each of the structures has characteristics that make it suitable for certain types of applications. Table 3-3 compares these structures and some of their key performance measures. The three transistor APS has the simplest structure and highest fill-factor. It is suitable for applications that require ultra-high resolution imaging. It has also the least noisy output, because it has the least number of transistors in its data path to the output.

| | APS | APS with comparator | APS with integrator |
|------------------|--|------------------------|--|
| Photodiode size | $20 \mu \mathrm{m} \times 20 \mu \mathrm{m}$ | 10 μm × 10 μm | $10 \mu \mathrm{m} \times 10 \mu \mathrm{m}$ |
| Transistor/pixel | 3 | 8 | 6 |
| Fill-factor | 63 % | 36 % | 15 % |
| Output swing | 1 V | 2.2 V | 0.8 V |
| Dark output | 50 mV/s | 210 mV/s | 16 mV/s |

Table 3-3: Comparison of the APS structures

The APS with the comparator structure has an acceptable fill-factor of 36 % due to our compact design, and this is shown in Figure 3-10(b). It has a digital output, which makes it applicable to ultra-fast digital imagers. It is possible to adjust the reference level and the integration time, thus achieving good sensitivity at the desired light levels. It also has the widest dynamic range, as the sense node voltage is read and converted to a digital level immediately, and the overhead voltage drops of the amplifier and buffer stages do not affect the output.

The APS with integrator structure has a low fill-factor. It has a low dynamic range, is slow, thus it is not suitable for applications that require high scanning rates. However, its output is the most linear with respect to incident light power, and it has an internal dark current cancellation mechanism. These two features make this APS structure a good candidate for low-level light imaging using longer integration times.

3.3. Multisampling, time-domain APS

Imaging techniques that are used for detection of low levels of light do not generally have high dynamic range. Time-domain APS is a different class of CMOS imagers that may be considered if a combination of moderate speed, sensitivity and dynamic range is required. In this section, we introduce an alternative architecture for time-domain CMOS imagers with multisampling and synchronous readout circuit [3.24]. There have been time-domain sampling techniques reported for CMOS imaging [3.25], which similarly to our method, perform a comparison to a reference level within the pixel. Our method however uses a clocked comparator as well as a pixel-level flip-flop, which can result in time and power savings.

The method presented in this work performs in-pixel A/D conversion allowing more than 8-bit data resolution without reducing the fill-factor of the pixels. The proposed architecture employs a clocked comparator in each pixel that performs a fast and synchronized comparison between the sense-node voltage and the reference voltage in parallel for the whole array. Then, a clocked D flip-flop, which is also designed inside the pixel, captures and stores the state of each pixel. In the array structure, the D flip-flops of the pixels in each row are connected in series to create a shift-register. The shift registers provide synchronous readout of the pixels. We characterize the limits of the architecture as a function of the frame rate, array size and illumination level.

3.3.1. Architecture and frame-rate analysis



Figure 3-17: (a) Multisampling pixel architecture. Each pixel consists of an n⁺/p-sub photodiode, a PMOS reset transistor, a clocked comparator and a D flip-flop. The PMOS reset transistor has W/L = 0.4/0.4, and the photodiode size is $5 \,\mu m \times 20 \,\mu m$. (b) Time diagram of the circuit signals. Output of the comparator, V_{CMP} , becomes high with the first clock after the sense node voltage drops below V_{REF} .

Figure 3-17 shows the pixel architecture and the time diagram of the pixel operation. The pixel is composed of an n⁺/p-well photodiode, a reset PMOS transistor, a clocked comparator and an edge-triggered D flip-flop with asynchronous inputs. First, the reset transistor is turned on to charge the photodiode capacitance to about $v_S = V_{DD}$. Also, during the pixel reset, the D flip-flop is cleared to Q = 0. The integration time starts by V_{RESET} going low. During the integration time, the photocurrent discharges the photodiode capacitance and v_S decreases with time as shown in Figure 3-17(b). The capacitance of the photodiode, C_{PH} , varies with the applied bias [3.26]. However, the variation is small and the photodiode capacitance C_{PH} can be assumed constant. For a given i_{PH} , the v_S varies linearly with time following:

$$v_{S}(t) = V_{\rm DD} - \frac{i_{\rm PH}}{C_{\rm PH}} t$$
 (3-1)

To provide synchronous sampling of pixels for the whole array, the comparators are activated by a global low-active clock signal, CLK_CMP. When CLK_CMP = 0, v_S is compared to V_{REF} , and the comparator output switches to $V_{\text{CMP}} = 1$ once the

photodiode voltage drops below V_{REF} , as shown in Figure 3-17(b). Consequently, the output of the D flip-flop is set to Q = 1, as the comparator output is connected to the asynchronous preset (PR) input of the D flip-flop. After reset, as stated above, and before the preset happens, the output of the D flip-flop is Q = 0. In this way, the flip-flop output equals to the result of the sampled comparison between v_S and V_{REF} . Note that the asynchronous input PR can occur only when the global signal CLK_CMP is also active. Between CLK_CMP pulses, the flip-flop can be used as a cell in a shift register, clocked by the CLK_SR signal which has a much higher frequency. In this manner the sampled pixel outputs are shifted out of the array before the next round of sampling. A 32×32 pixel array was implemented in 0.35 μ m CMOS technology in this work. The pixel is $30 \,\mu$ m $\times 26 \,\mu$ m with a fill-factor of 16 %. The complete array structure is shown in Figure 3-18.



Figure 3-18: Architecture of the multisampling, time-domain APS array.

The schematic of the integrated comparator and the D flip-flop circuits are shown in Figure 3-19. Figure 3-19(a) shows the clocked comparator circuit that has two stages: a pre-amplifier stage and a "track-and-latch" stage [3.27]. The D flip-flop circuit is a dynamic single-clock D flip-flop with an inverter connected to the output and two

transistors to perform the asynchronous preset and clear, with its schematic shown in Figure 3-19(b). Compared to previously reported circuits [3.28], the dynamic single-clock flip-flop provides fast operation, lower number of transistors and requires only a single clock signal.



Figure 3-19: Schematic of the integrated (a) clocked comparator and (b) details of the circuit. (c) D flip-flop, with PMOS W/L = 0.4/0.4 and NMOS W/L = 0.4/0.35.

The total pixel integration time, t_{int} , is divided into sampling periods of length ΔT_S , resulting in 2^N possible values for output illumination level, where N is give by

$$N = \log_2(t_{\rm int} / \Delta T_S). \tag{3-2}$$

74

The maximum frame rate can be obtained from (3-2) for a given ΔT_S , to be $(1/\Delta T_S)2^{-N}$. The frame rate relates exponentially to the number of bits. For $\Delta T_S = 10^{-4}$ for example, it is about 10 frames/s for 10 bits, and 40 frames/s for 8 bits of data resolution.

The circuit has to be fast enough to shift out the information from the D flip-flops of the whole array within the sampling time ΔT_s . The maximum operation frequency of the multiplexer is lower than the maximum operation frequency of the shift-register. Thus, the sampling time of the whole array, T_s , is mainly limited by the multiplexer delay, T_{MUX} , and is given by

$$T_{S} = T_{\text{CLK}_\text{CMP}} + \left(\frac{C \cdot L}{M}\right) \cdot T_{\text{MUX}}, \qquad (3-3)$$

where T_S is the time required to read out 1 bit/pixel from the whole array, $T_{\text{CLK}_\text{CMP}}$ is the time required for the clocked comparator to operate, $C \cdot L$ is the total number of the pixels in the array and M is the number of output bits of the multiplexer (16 in the case of Figure 3-18).



Figure 3-20: Minimum sampling time for different array sizes.

The sampling period of the pixels, ΔT_S , must be greater than the minimum sampling delay of the array, T_S , that is calculated above, which limits the number of bits per pixel for a given frame rate. Assuming t_{int} corresponds to 30 frames/s, $T_{CLK_CMP} = 200$ ns and $T_{MUX} = 5$ ns, Figure 3-20 shows the minimum sample time (T_S) for square arrays of different sizes $(C \cdot L = D^2)$ and readout multiplexer with several number of outputs (*M*). Also, Figure 3-20 shows the maximum number of bits/pixel that each array can achieve. For example, for the given constants, a 1000 × 1000 array can accommodate 8 bits/pixel, while it cannot accommodate 10 bits/pixel.

3.3.2. Experimental results

The proposed architecture for CMOS imagers was implemented in analog mixed signal (AMS) 0.35 μ m technology. The pixel size is 30 μ m × 26 μ m and the fill-factor is about 16 %, with 32 transistors per pixel. The number of transistors per pixel is lower than the similar architectures that have more than 50 transistors per pixel [3.29]. An n^{+}/p -sub photodiode was chosen due to the smaller layout area that it would need. The measurements were performed using an illuminator (Spectra Physics, with 100 W Xenon lamp), optical filters and an integration sphere in a dark room. Figure 3-21(a) shows the measurement result for the characteristic discharge time versus illumination intensity, using a constant voltage of $V_{\text{REF}} = 1.5$ V. Unlike conventional CMOS imagers where the pixel output is directly proportional to the light level, in the time-domain approach, the output is inversely proportional to the intensity of the incident light. This inherent non-linearity has to be corrected, using digital processing for example, if a linear output is desired [3.30]. Analysis of the slope in Figure 3-21(a) shows that the pixel sensitivity is about 3.4 V/s-Lux. In dark, the pixel discharge time was very long, about 37 seconds, indicating low dark current of the photodiode.



Figure 3-21: (a) Discharge time of a pixel measured at constant reference voltage of 1.5 V and (b) spectral response of the pixel.

Figure 3-21(b) shows the normalized spectral response in the range of 400 nm to 830 nm. The spectral response is higher in the range of wavelengths from 450 nm to 680 nm, and decreases for wavelengths outside this range. This spectral response is typical for the shallow n^+/p -sub photodiodes.

3.4. Lateral BJT

The gate-controlled lateral BJT, GC-LBT, is a hybrid device [3.31] that can operate as a bipolar, a MOS transistor or a combination of both transistors. It is a device that can have controlled photoresopnse or controlled spectral response. In this work, we investigate the CG-LBT operating as a controllable sensor with high sensitivity. The devices are fabricated in standard 0.18 μ m CMOS technology. Measurements of the hybrid devices and a careful analysis of the characteristics of the devices are presented. It is shown that the measurement results have good agreement with the theoretical derivations.

3.4.1. Structure

The cross-section of the GC-LBT is shown in Figure 3-22(a). The device has four terminals – Drain (D), Body (B), Source (S) and Gate (G). Figure 3-22(a) shows the lateral BJT in parallel with the MOSFET. It also shows the vertical BJT with the

n-well (V_{DD} terminal), body and source/drain regions corresponding to its collector, base and emitter, respectively. Figure 3-22(b) shows the layout of the device, fabricated in standard 0.18 μ m CMOS technology. The six metal paths that connect the device can be seen on the layout, corresponding to the four terminals of the device. The n-well is connected to V_{DD} , and the substrate is grounded.



Figure 3-22: (a) Cross-section of the GC-LBT, and its internal lateral and vertical transistors. (b) Photomicrograph of the fabricated GC-LBT. (c) top view of the device with showing the size of the important regions of the device.

In the GC-LBT shown in Figure 3-22(a), photo-generation occurs in the depletion regions of the n-well/p-sub, p-well/n-well, n^+/p -well junctions and in the depletion region below the gate. The photocurrent generated in the n-well/p-sub junction flows

between V_{DD} and ground, and does not contribute to the device output. All the other photocurrents are injected into the body.

The photo-generation is proportional to the depth and volume of the depletion regions. Considering that the n^+/p -well junctions of the drain and source and the channel depletion region, they are shallow and small in area, compared to the p-well/n-well junction. We expect the photocurrent generated in p-well/n-well depletion region to be the dominant component.

3.4.2. Principle of operation of GC-LBT as photodetector

The GC-LBT device can operate in several different modes. Figure 3-23 explains how the CG-LBT works as an image sensor in body floating and V_{GB} constant operation mode. This is the mode of operation that is most suitable for low-light-level applications. Figure 3-23 shows the steps in which the photoresopnse of the device is obtained.

Figure 3-23(d) shows the linear relationship between the generated photocurrent (I_{BPH}) and illuminated light power (P_{OP}) . It shows how much photocurrent is generated in the body of the device as a result of photogeneration. Figure 3-23(c) shows the I_{BS} - V_{BS} curve of body-source junction measured in the dark. It shows how the induced I_{BS} current in the device would change the floating body voltage. It is a reverse-biased diode I-V curve. Figure 3-23(b) shows the I_D - V_{BS} characteristics of the transistor, for several biasing V_{GB} voltages. Curves in Figure 3-23(d), (c) and (b) can be combined to analytically obtain the photoresponse of the device, which is the I_D - P_{OP} characteristic. The analytic derivations are also tested against some measurement points that are shown in Figure 3-23(a).



Figure 3-23: Body floating and V_{GB} constant operation mode. (d) Body current generated vs. incident light power, (c) body voltage vs. body current characteristics and (b) the MOSFET drain current vs. the body voltage. The (a) photoresponse characteristics of the device is derived from the (d), (c) and (b) curves.

At body floating and constant V_{GB} operation mode, the GC-LBT shows very high responsivity and wide dynamic range for the output current. The range of the output current can be controlled using V_{GB} . This tunable photoresponse characteristic of GC-LBT can be used to adjust it to different applications. By adjusting V_{GB} , the internal gain of the device can be used to bring the output current to higher levels. However, Figure 3-23(a) also shows that for gain values of more than 10³, the range of the output current is reduced due to the saturation of the device.

3.5. APS array



Figure 3-24: Photomicrograph of the array structure fabricated in 0.18 μ m CMOS technology.

We have also designed and fabricated a 16×16 array of three-transistor active pixel sensors, with a pixel size of 40 μ m × 40 μ m and a 45 percent fill-factor. Figure 3-24 shows a photomicrograph of the APS array. Although the array can be operated in the conventional APS mode, it is primarily designed to test the application of DC level mode of operation of APS that will be introduced in detail in Chapter 4. The array has global V_{DD} and reset signals. However, each row select and each column output bus is connected to an individual pad. Implementation of on-chip decoders for selecting the rows, and on-chip A/D and shift registers for reading the outputs could reduce the number of pads needed for the chip. We have measured a FPN of about 1% for the conventional APS mode of operation and a FPN of about 2% for the DC level mode of operation of APS. This was expected, as will be described in the next section, due to the fact that DC level mode of operation does not perform CDS, and is greatly dependent on the reset transistor.

Chapter 4

DC LEVEL MODE **APS**

Active pixel sensors, in general, have an output with low signal-to-noise ratio for low levels of light [4.1]. In many applications, the level of light that should be detected is very low, in the order of microwatts per square centimeter and less [4.2]. It is desired to improve the sensitivity of APS for lower levels of light. One way to increase the sensitivity of APS is to increase its photodiode size. This solution however, will decrease the resolution of the imager, and will not be suitable for applications that require high spatial resolution [4.3]. Another solution is to lengthen the integration time of the APS. The pixel is capable of detecting lower levels of light with longer integration times. However, the rate of temporal variation of the sample can limit the applicability of this solution [4.4]. Also, at long integration times, the internal dark current of the pixel may saturate it. In this chapter we will introduce a new mode of operation for APS that can detect lower levels of light compared to conventional APS, while being able to maintain its high spatial resolution.

Figure 4-1 shows the simulated sense node voltage of the APS circuit with the schematic shown in Figure 2-2(a). Figure 4-1 shows several reset and integration cycles of the sense node voltage, simulated for three different levels of photocurrent. The voltage drop during integration, which is shown in Figure 4-1 as the swing output, is proportional to the power of incident light. This is expected, as for higher levels of light, the photocurrent is higher and discharge of the capacitance of the photodiode happens faster. Interestingly, Figure 4-1 also shows that the DC level of

the sense node voltage varies with light. We will show later, that this variation is mainly due to the incomplete reset of the photodiode, during the short reset time. Figure 4-1 also suggests that the DC level can have much more significant variation than the swing for similar levels of incident light. Our analysis and measurements that will be presented in this chapter approve this fact, and show that DC level can in fact detect two orders of magnitude lower levels of light than swing, for the same pixel structure [4.5], [4.6].



Figure 4-1: Total sense-node voltage versus time for different levels of photocurrent corresponding to different low-light-level illumination conditions. At the absence of photocurrent, the swing output is due to the internal dark current of the photodiode. The DC level varies more than the swing, for the same level of incident light.

There is an interesting story behind how DC level output first came to my attention. I had just received my first APS chip, and I had it set up in the dark room for photoresponse measurement. The photodetector was installed in the dark room in front of the light source. The lights where off in the room and I was observing the APS output on the osciloscope in dark. I was about to turn the Xenon light source on, that my supervisor opened the door and came in to discuss the progress of research. At the moment that he opened the door, I observed a significant drop of the DC line

of the APS output, which was due to the small amount of light that came into the dark room when the door was opened.

4.1. Analysis of DC level mode

In Chapter 2 we discussed the signal and noise analysis of conventional APS, which is the APS swing output. Analysis of the sense node voltage of APS pixel in general, or its DC level in particular, is missing in the literature. This is mainly due to the fact that the swing has always been considered the output of APS and the analytical work has been focused on the signal and noise of the swing output. In this section we will introduce the exact analytic derivation of the signal and noise of the DC level of the sense node voltage.

4.1.1. Sense node voltage during reset

During the reset period of the APS operation cycles, the gate of the reset transistor $(M_1 \text{ in Figure 2-2(a)})$ is set to V_{DD} . M_1 is turned on in order to bring v_S up to V_{DD} . However, as v_S increases during reset, the gate-source voltage across M_1 decreases and eventually goes below the threshold voltage of M_1 . In sub-threshold mode of operation, a transistor can supply much less current; thus, the speed of reset drops drastically. In one example, it takes less that 0.2 ns for M_1 to bring the sense node voltage from 0 V to $V_{DD} - V_T$, while it takes more than 1 ms for it to bring v_S the rest of the way up to V_{DD} [4.7].

In low-level light conditions, where v_s does not drop much during integration, M₁ will always operate in sub-threshold. The reset time is much shorter than the time necessary for complete reset. As a result, the reset will always be incomplete. The drain current i_D of a transistor in sub-threshold is given by [4.8]

$$i_{D} = \frac{W}{L} I_{0} e^{\left(\frac{\nu_{\rm GS}\kappa}{\nu_{T}} - \frac{\nu_{\rm SB}(1-\kappa)}{\nu_{T}}\right)} \left(1 - e^{-\nu_{\rm DS}/\nu_{T}}\right),\tag{4-1}$$

where W and L are the width and length of M₁, respectively, v_T is the thermal voltage, κ is a correction parameter that represents the slope of variation of the surface potential, ψ_S , with respect to the gate voltage in the sub-threshold [4.9], v_{SB} is the

source-body voltage, v_{GS} is the gate-source voltage, and v_{DS} is the drain-source voltage across M₁. The sense-node voltage will be obtained by solving (4-1) together with

$$\frac{dv_{S}(t)}{dt} = \frac{i_{D}(t) - i_{\rm PH}(t) - i_{\rm DK}(t)}{C_{\rm PH}(v_{S}(t))}.$$
(4-2)

First, (4-1) is simplified to have i_D explicitly in terms of the sense-node voltage v_S i.e.,

$$i_{D} = \frac{W}{L} I_{0} e^{\left(\frac{v_{SS}\kappa}{v_{T}} + \frac{v_{SB}\kappa}{v_{T}} - \frac{v_{SB}}{v_{T}}\right)} \left(1 - e^{-\frac{v_{DS}}{v_{T}}}\right)$$
$$= \Gamma e^{-\frac{v_{SB}}{v_{T}}} \left(1 - e^{-\frac{v_{DS}}{v_{T}}}\right)$$
$$= \Gamma \left(e^{-\frac{v_{SB}}{v_{T}}} - e^{-\frac{v_{DB}}{v_{T}}}\right) = \Gamma e^{-\frac{v_{S}}{v_{T}}} - \Lambda, \qquad (4-3)$$

where

$$\Gamma = \frac{W}{L} I_0 e^{\frac{\nu_G \kappa}{\nu_T}} \text{ and}$$

$$\Lambda = \Gamma e^{-\frac{\nu_D}{\nu_T}}.$$
(4-4)

The common body of the pixel is grounded ($v_B = 0$). Now, combining (4-2) and (4-3), the following differential equation for v_S during reset is obtained:

$$\frac{dv_{s}(t)}{dt} = \frac{\Gamma}{C_{\rm PH}(v_{s}(t))} e^{\frac{-v_{s}(t)}{v_{T}}} - \frac{\Lambda + i_{\rm PH}(t) + i_{\rm DK}(t)}{C_{\rm PH}(v_{s}(t))}.$$
(4-6)

During the short reset period, the photocurrent and the dark current can be assumed constant. The capacitance of the photodiode does not change much either, due to the

limited variation in v_s . Thus, $C_{PH}(v_s(t)) = C_0$ is assumed. Equation (4-6) then has a closed-form solution given by

$$\nu_{S}(t) = \nu_{T} \left(-\ln B + \ln \left[A - e^{\frac{tB}{\nu_{T}}} \left(A - Be^{\frac{\nu_{1}}{\nu_{T}}} \right) \right] \right), \tag{4-7}$$

where v_1 is the initial value, which is the value of v_s at the beginning of reset as shown in Figure 4-1, and A and B are defined as:

$$A = \frac{W}{LC_0} I_0 e^{\frac{v_G \kappa}{v_T}} \text{ and}$$
(4-8)
$$B = A e^{\frac{v_D}{v_T}} + \frac{i_{\rm PH} + i_{\rm DK}}{C_0}.$$
(4-9)

In (4-8) and (4-9), Γ and Λ have been replaced using (4-4) and (4-5). Equation (4-5) is the result of the reset time analysis. It gives the sense node voltage during reset time, assuming $v_S(0) = v_1$. The equation assumes that the reset transistor is in sub-threshold during the reset time, meaning that $V_{DD} - v_1$ should be smaller than the threshold voltage of the reset transistor. Sense node voltage at the end of reset, v_2 , is simply given by $v_S(t_r)$ in (4-5), where t_r is the duration of the reset period.

A fundamental problem caused by incomplete (sub-threshold or soft) reset for conventional APS is image lag. Improving the quality of reset is possible by employing better reset structures [4.10], [4.11]. Correlated double sampling (CDS) can also remove this image lag to some extent. Our approach, however, is using the incomplete reset to its advantage, and it does not need CDS. It is sufficient to sample the sense-node voltage only once, at the middle of the integration period, to get the desired output signal value. However, there are some drawbacks to this choice. Unlike the swing, the DC level varies nonlinearly with the input photocurrent. Post-processing can be added to compensate for the nonlinear response, if needed. In addition, it takes some time for the DC level to settle to its steady state value. In Figure 4-1 for example, it takes about 0.5 s for the DC level of the sense node, which

has $i_{PH} = 30$ fA, to settle to the desired level. It should be noted however, that a regular APS operation also needs long integration times for detecting low photocurrent levels. For a similar current, it would take about 1 s for the sense node voltage to drop half way from V_{DD} . Finally, from the device perspective, the DC level depends on the properties of both the photodiode and the reset transistor. Compared to the swing, which is only dependent on the photodiode, the DC level is more susceptible to chip-to-chip variation.

4.1.2. Sense node voltage after integration and DC level mode analysis

Figure 4-1 shows the v_S under periodic integration and reset for a $V_{DD} = 2.5$ V. We mentioned before that an incomplete reset happens due to the sub-threshold operation of the reset transistor. The value of v_S at the end of reset period is defined as v_2 , and that at the end of integration period is defined as v_1 . The differential value, $(v_2 - v_1)$, has always been analyzed and extracted as the output value of APS. Precise values of v_2 and v_1 however have not been calculated. We obtain these values here using equation (4-7) and Table 2-1 in the following.

Equation (4-7) gives the sense node voltage during the reset period. Value of sense node voltage at the end of reset period, v_2 , is obtained by replacing t with t_r in (4-7). The result is

$$v_{2} = -v_{T} \ln B + v_{T} \ln \left(A \left(1 - e^{-\frac{t_{r}B}{v_{T}}} \right) + B e^{-\frac{t_{r}B}{v_{T}}} e^{\frac{v_{1}}{v_{T}}} \right),$$
(4-10)

where A and B are given in equations (4-8) and (4-9) and t_r is the duration of reset period.

In section 2.3.2, value of sense node voltage during the integration period was analyzed and calculated. The value of sense node voltage at the end of integration time, v_1 , can be extracted in a similar way, from Table 2-1, to be

$$v_{1} = \left[\left(v_{2} + \varphi \right)^{3/4} - \frac{3(i_{\rm DK} + i_{\rm PH})}{4C_{0}} \left(v_{2} + \varphi \right)^{-1/4} t_{\rm int} \right]^{4/3} - \varphi , \qquad (4-11)$$

where t_{int} is the duration of the integration period. Equation (4-10) calculates v_2 having v_1 , and equation (4-11) calculates v_1 having v_2 . For a given set of parameters of operation for an APS pixel, equations (4-10) and (4-11) can be solved together to obtain the steady-state values of both v_1 and v_2 , and consequently $(v_1 + v_2)/2$ which is the DC level output of the pixel. Figure 4-2 shows the analytically extracted DC level output and compares it to the analytically extracted swing output.



Figure 4-2: Steady-state DC level $((v_1 + v_2)/2)$ and swing $(v_2 - v_1)$ output of the sense node versus i_{PH} . The DC level has a value close to V_{DD} for zero photocurrent. The curve shown is the displacement of the DC level output from its dark-level value, which corresponds to the output signal. As the DC level corresponding to the zero photocurrent is constant for every pixel, CDS will not be necessary.

Figure 4-2 shows that the DC level output has higher values for lower levels of incident light. However, this advantage becomes less significant for larger induced photocurrents, and eventually the swing becomes even better. The DC level also saturates faster and has lower dynamic range.

4.1.3. Noise analysis of DC level mode: Auto-regressive noise model

In section 2.4, we derived equations for the noise of APS sense node voltage during integration and also during reset. In this section, we introduce the noise analysis of the DC level of the APS sense node voltage.



Figure 4-3: Block diagram showing how reset and integration noise contribute to the steady DC level. Reset noise and integration noise are represented by V_{n2} and V_{n1} respectively. The total noise is calculated in $(v_1 + v_2)/2$.

For noise analysis, the signal flow in an APS pixel is modeled with a periodic reset and integration system, using the feedback system shown in Figure 4-3. Each function in Figure 4-3 represents the relationship between the input and the output of each block. F(v) represents reset, and G(v) represents integration. For example, F accepts v, which is the signal value at the beginning of reset, and generates F(v), which is the signal value at the end of reset. V_{n1} and V_{n2} are the integration and reset noises respectively, which are added to the sense node voltage at the end of their corresponding period. We calculate the noise for fixed values of i_{PH} , t_{int} , t_r , and for the steady-state values of v_1 and v_2 shown in Figure 4-1. The goal is to assume V_{n1} and V_{n2} as the inputs to the system and calculate the noise in v_1 and v_2 and consequently $(v_1 + v_2)/2$ as the output of the system.

We start by rewriting equation (4-10) to obtain F(v) as

$$F(v) = -v_T \ln B + v_T \ln \left(A \left(1 - e^{\frac{t_r B}{v_T}} \right) + B e^{\frac{t_r B}{v_T}} e^{\frac{v}{v_T}} \right), \tag{4-12}$$

and rewriting equation (4-11) to obtain G(v) to be
$$G(\nu) = \left[\left(\nu + \varphi \right)^{3/4} - \frac{3(i_{\rm DK} + i_{\rm PH})}{4C_0} \left(\nu + \varphi \right)^{-1/4} t_{\rm int} \right]^{4/3} - \varphi \,. \tag{4-13}$$

The noise analysis of the system in Figure 4-3 is done by Taylor series expansion of (4-12) and (4-13) to the form given by

$$F(\nu + V_n) = F(\nu) + \frac{\partial F}{\partial \nu} \Big|_{\nu} V_n = F(\nu) + \alpha V_n \text{ and}$$
(4-14)

$$G(\nu + V_n) = G(\nu) + \frac{\partial G}{\partial \nu} \Big|_{\nu} V_n = G(\nu) + \beta V_n.$$
(4-15)

Equation (4-14) shows that the output noise of F is related to the input noise by a factor of $(dF/dv)|_v$ which we define as α and calculate it to be

$$\alpha = \frac{dF}{dv}\Big|_{v} = \frac{Be^{\frac{t_{r}B}{v_{T}}}e^{\frac{v}{v_{T}}}}{A\left(1 - e^{\frac{t_{r}B}{v_{T}}}\right) + Be^{\frac{t_{r}B}{v_{T}}}e^{\frac{v}{v_{T}}}}.$$
(4-16)

Similarly we have

$$\beta = \frac{dG}{dv}\Big|_{v} = \left[\left(v + \varphi\right)^{3/4} - \frac{3(i_{\rm DK} + i_{\rm PH})}{4C_{0}} \left(v + \varphi\right)^{-1/4} t_{\rm int} \right]^{1/3} \times \left[\left(v + \varphi\right)^{-1/4} + \frac{3(i_{\rm DK} + i_{\rm PH})}{4C_{0}} \left(v + \varphi\right)^{-5/4} t_{\rm int} \right].$$

$$(4-17)$$

Equations (4-16) and (4-17) suggest that the noise power of the output of the *F* (and also *G*) block is linearly proportional to the input noise power with the ratio $\alpha^2 (\beta^2)$. Given these parameters, the output noise power in $(v_1 + v_2)/2$ based on the input reset and integration noise powers can be calculated for the system of Figure 4-3 to be

$$\overline{V_n^2} = \frac{1}{4} \left(\overline{V_{n1}^2} \frac{\alpha^2 \beta^2 + \alpha^2}{1 - \alpha^2 \beta^2} + \overline{V_{n2}^2} \frac{\alpha^2 \beta^2 + \beta^2}{1 - \alpha^2 \beta^2} \right),$$
(4-18)

which is the general formula for the noise of the sense node DC level voltage.

Expanding (4-17) and considering only the highest order nonzero terms, results in the following approximation for β :

$$\beta \approx 1 - \frac{(i_{\rm DK} + i_{\rm PH})^2 t_{\rm int}^2}{8C_{\rm PH}^2 (\nu + \varphi)^2}.$$
(4-19)

In practice, the value predicted for the sense node voltage given in (4-13) at the end of integration time is very close to the one given using the linear equation of (2-1). Figure 4-4(a) shows the calculated values of β given in (4-17) and (4-19) for different photocurrent levels. It shows that the assumption $\beta = 1$ is relatively accurate for low-level light conditions.



Figure 4-4: (a) Exact values of β obtained in (4-17) and (4-19) are shown vs. i_{PH} , where $t_{int} = 30$ ms and $v_2 = 2.3$ V. Note that for low photocurrents, $\beta \approx 1$. (b) Simplified noise diagram of Figure 4-3, assuming $\beta = 1$.

Assuming $\beta = 1$ means that the noise in v_s at the beginning of integration will appear at the end of integration with the same power. Thus, the noise analysis ends up in the simple system of Figure 4-4(b), which, assuming steady-state conditions, results in an autoregressive noise in the DC level with the total power give by

$$\overline{V_n^2} \approx \frac{1}{2} \left(\overline{V_{n1}^2} + \overline{V_{n2}^2} \right) \frac{\alpha^2}{1 - \alpha^2} \,. \tag{4-20}$$

The noise calculated in (4-20) varies with t_r as α given in (4-16) is a function of t_r . If t_r gets large for example, α tends to be 0. This means that a good reset is performed, which suppresses most of the noise. Remember that a perfect reset should leave no noise in the sense node. On the other hand, if t_r is too small, α will tend to be 1. In this case, almost all of the noise power will be handed to the next stage of integration, and

a large value of autoregressive noise will accumulate in the output DC level. This is the disadvantage of choosing small values for the reset time.

4.2. DC level SNR optimization

Figure 4-5(a) shows how the DC level output and its noise vary with the reset time. For larger values of reset time, the signal value is small. As the reset time becomes smaller, the noise increases more rapidly. Therefore, SNR will have an optimum value as the reset time is varied. Figure 4-5(b) shows how SNR varies with t_r . In this example, the optimum SNR occurs at a reset time of 0.05 μ s.



Figure 4-5: (a) Output DC level and its noise vs. reset time. Both the signal and noise increase with decreasing the reset time. The noise however, increases more sharply. (b) The SNR of the output DC level has an optimum. In this example, $i_{PH} = 10$ fA, and $t_{int} = 30$ ms.

The APS circuit is also simulated for the DC level output to verify the SNR calculations. We have used the periodic steady state (PSS) and periodic noise (Pnoise) analysis of the Cadence Spectre tool for the switched noise simulation. Figure 4-5(b) shows the simulated SNR curve. The simulation suggests a maximum

SNR of about 55.3 dB for a reset time of 0.04 μ s, which is close to the results of our theory with a maximum SNR of 56 dB. The slight difference in SNR is due to the difference in the sub-threshold model of the reset transistor. The effect is more significant for smaller reset times. For larger reset times, better reset happens, and the outcome is less sensitive to the sub-threshold model.

This calculation presents SNR values in the range of 54–56 dB. These are high SNR values compared to reports in the literature. A maximum SNR of about 45 dB is shown in [4.12] for an i_{PH} of above 1 pA. Many SNR curves have been shown in [4.13], with each maxima well below 50 dB. For an output signal of about 0.7 V, Tian et al. [4.7] represents a maximum SNR of about 51 dB. The improved reset solution of [4.14] reports SNR values of about 52 dB. Our method has achieved better performance for lower level light as the DC level is a more sensitive output for smaller i_{PH} values, as shown in Figure 4-2.

Increasing t_{int} can improve the performance of the conventional APS. We have shown in section 2.5 that the maximum SNR can be achieved by varying t_{int} , which does not depend on i_{PH} Figure 2-10(b). Even though increasing the integration time is a simple and effective approach, it may not be practical for some applications. By varying t, and using the proposed DC level, better SNR can be achieved with the photodetector operating at the same speed.

The optimum SNR that was achieved, however, can vary with both t_{int} and i_{PH} . Considering the constraints imposed by the application, the values of t_{int} and t_r can be jointly optimized. The result will be better than having t_{int} fixed and varying t_r only. For example, with the same parameters that resulted in Figure 4-5(b), an optimum SNR of 59 dB is obtained by letting the device integrate for a longer time. For $t_{int} = 70$ ms, the optimum is achieved at $t_r = 0.1 \ \mu$ s. Figure 4-6(a) shows how the SNR achieved by our theory varies with both the integration and the reset times. The simulated SNR surfaces are very close to the surfaces of Figure 4-6(a) and are shown separately in Figure 4-6(b).



Figure 4-6: (a) Theoretical and (b) simulated SNR curves of the proposed DC level method as a function of both the integration time and the reset time. The surfaces correspond to $i_{\rm PH} = 3$ fA (lower) and $i_{\rm PH} = 12$ fA (upper).

4.3. Measurements and comparison

Figure 4-7 shows the measured signal-to-noise ratio (SNR) of the pixel. The SNR values have been evaluated by multiple measurements of the signal at each level of light input. About 50 to 100 voltage samples are collected at each illumination level, and their mean is interpreted as the signal value, and their standard deviation as the noise. The

SNR has been evaluated for both swing $(v_2 - v_1)$ and DC level $(v_2 + v_1)/2$. The chip is illuminated at 640 nm using a narrowband filter ($\Delta\lambda \approx 20$ nm). The light power is measured with a Newport power meter calibrated at the same wavelength. Our low levels of light power are achieved by using several attenuators in the optical path. At light powers less than $0.1 \,\mu$ W/cm², the measured power by the power meter is very noisy compared to the DC level of our pixel, which is still very stable. At these low levels of light, the output of the power meter has been sampled multiple times, and then averaged to provide the light power values shown.



Figure 4-7: Analytically derived SNR of the APS, measured SNR values for our APS, and SNR values reported for some other low-light-level APS circuits in the literature (from the top: [4.12], [4.13], [4.15], [4.7]). The data has been gathered from a variety of pixel sizes. The size of the pixels used in the experiments affects the reported SNR values at different light powers. The data have been adjusted to compensate for the size differences and to make a fair comparison of the different reported SNR values.

Measurements in Figure 4-7 show that the DC level of the output can detect light levels which are two decades of less power compared to the swing of the same pixel. The DC level has about 20 dB better signal-to-noise ratio than the swing at about $1 \,\mu\text{W/cm}^2$. The DC level output has also been compared to some SNR values of other APS circuits reported in literature. Figure 4-7 shows some SNR points achieved in the

work of El Gamal *et al.* [4.12], Carlson [4.13], Zhou *et al.* [4.15], and Tian *et al.* [4.7]. It should be noted that parameters like the pixel size, integration time or readout rate, or the illumination spectrum affect the SNR of the APS, and they should be considered to make a fair comparison of the performance of the pixels. Appropriate changes have been made to the SNR points in Figure 4-7 to account for these differences. For example, the integration times of the pixels were 30 ms in all works except in [4.13] which was 8 ms, for which a 3 dB correction was made to the SNR value. For the light power at the low levels of Figure 4-7, the SNR of the DC level stands well above the conventional APS.

The high SNR of the DC level approach is a combined result of having higher signal levels and lower noise levels. Figure 4-2 compares the analytically obtained signal levels for the two approaches for the same integration time of 30 ms. Although Figure 4-2 suggests that the DC level approach generates a higher signal value than the conventional swing, lhe ower level of noise also greatly contributes to the higher SNR of Figure 4-7.



Figure 4-8: Measured swing of the sense node voltage of the APS vs. the power of light at different wavelengths. The curves show that the generated photocurrent of the APS approximately doubles by changing the wavelength of light in the visible range.

Figure 4-8 shows the measured variation of the output of our APS within the

visible range spectrum. It shows a factor of two difference between the responses at the lower end and the higher end of the spectrum, which corresponds to doubling of the photocurrent of the APS. The power of the shot noise will also be doubled, causing an approximately 1.5 dB increase in the SNR value. Doubling the pixel area, or the integration time of APS will also increase its SNR by about 1.5 dB.

The DC level mode of operation of the APS, eliminates the need for CDS. We have observed that at low-light-levels, the swing of the output of APS is negligible, and the output voltage looks like a DC line, as shown in Figure 4-1. Thus, a single sample of the output, preferably at the middle of the integration period, is enough. Displacement of the DC level value from its dark level corresponds to the output of the pixel. It should be noted, however, that if the APS has to be used in an application where temperature variation is significant over short periods of time, then the dark value of the DC level can be affected, and should also be sampled.

The DC level mode of operation of APS does not alter the pixel structure, which preserves the high fill-factor advantage of conventional APS. The DC level performance can be improved by altering the reset mechanism. This can be achieved by decreasing W/L of the reset transistor, decreasing the voltage applied to its gate during reset, or shortening the reset time. These changes will reduce the quality of reset, and increase the sensitivity of the DC level. Our experiments show that variation of the V_{DD} of the reset transistor has negligible effect on the output DC performance. Thus, the reset transistor and the source follower can share the same V_{DD} line. This improved sensitivity can complement the other attractive features of the CMOS photodetectors compared to PMTs, APDs, and CCDs, and can potentially replace them in many emerging biomedical applications where low-light-level sensitivity is a requirement.

Chapter 5

AVALANCHE PHOTODIODES AND APD-BASED

SYSTEMS

Very weak optical signals have to be measured in different fields of sciences including nuclear physics, chemistry, biology, and astronomy [5.1], [5.2]. For example, very low levels of fluorescence emission should be detected from the spots on a DNA microarray that correspond to weakly expressed genes of the sample [5.3]. Detection of these light levels can be done using charge coupled devices (CCDs) with ultra-low-noise readout circuitry [5.4], [5.5], or modern CMOS photodetectors [5.6], [5.7], [5.8]. In these devices, the generated photocurrent is integrated in internal capacitors, to convert the photocurrent to a voltage. Therefore, detecting lower levels of light with these devices requires longer integration times.

Applications like quantum cryptography [5.9], profilometry of remote objects [5.10], and fluorescence spectroscopy [5.11], however, require both high sensitivity and fast response of the photodetector. For example, photomultiplier tubes (PMTs) with microchannel plates are commonly used in fluorescence spectroscopy applications to detect single photons in pico- to nano-seconds regime [5.12], [5.13]. In terms of sensitivity and fast temporal response, PMTs are the best photodetectors available and are widely used in applications such as fluorescence lifetime measurements. For the emerging miniaturized and portable applications, however, PMT based photodetection systems have several significant disadvantages including: 1)

requirement of high voltage (~1 kV or higher), which needs bulky specialized circuitry and power supplies; 2) use of glass vacuum tubes that are very fragile and large in size which is not ideal for rugged and size sensitive medical and industrial applications; and 3) time-consuming individualized production/quality control with significantly high cost [5.14], [5.15], [5.16].

Avalanche photodiodes (APDs) operated in Geiger mode [5.17], are the semiconductor equivalent of PMTs. Avalanche photodiodes are used in discrete packages made with special processes, and are often connected to a detection and control electronic chip [5.18]. To increase the use of APD-based detector systems for biomedical applications, integration of the APD and peripheral circuitry on the same chip is highly desired [5.19].

Standard CMOS technology can be used to integrate the photodetector and driving circuits on the same chip. Such CMOS circuits are inexpensive and typically consume low power. Also fast and compact digital circuit modules are available in CMOS. For imaging applications, the active pixel sensor (APS) structure is the most popular pixel configuration in CMOS. The APS consists of a photodiode, and reset, buffer and select transistors. Recent APS circuits in CMOS technology have improved in resolution and sensitivity [5.20], [5.21]. However, the APS uses a photocurrent integration technique, so it cannot offer both high speed and low-light detection characteristics at the same time.

5.1. Overview of APD implementations in literature

Fabrication of APDs in CMOS technology makes it possible to achieve the benefits of the APD as photodetector, and the necessary peripheral circuits on the same chip for an integrated system. However, APDs are difficult to make in CMOS technology, as they need special fabrication steps that might not be available in standard CMOS process. Nevertheless, significant advances have been reported by several groups [5.22]–[5.26]. In [5.22], results of a Geiger mode avalanche photodiode (GMAP) fabricated in 1.5 μ m CMOS for use as a photo-receiver was reported. A data rate of 1 Gb/s in the optical data link was achieved from simulations in this work. In [5.23],

several silicon avalanche photodiodes (SAPDs) were fabricated in 0.8 μ m CMOS technology. The SAPDs had a 0.5 mm² area, with a 400 pA/mm² measured dark current, but they were not operated in Geiger mode. In [5.24], the performance of a linear array of single photon avalanche diodes (SPADs) with passive quenching in 0.8 μ m CMOS technology was reported. For the 5 μ m APD, the dark count was 100 Hz and the dead time of the output was 1 μ s. In [5.25], a SPAD with active quench and reset circuits in 0.8 μ m CMOS technology was described. A peak detection efficiency of 45 % for a 10 V applied excess bias was reported. At this voltage, the dark count was 40 kcounts/s at room temperature. The overall size of the chip that operates a single 12 μ m diameter APD was 1.1 mm × 2 mm. In [5.26], a SPAD array in 0.35 μ m technology was described. The peak photon detection probability for this SPAD array was 5 % for a 3 V excess bias, and the dead time was 40 ns.

5.2. APD design

In this work, we have designed and fabricated an APD, along with the driving circuitry, in a standard $0.18 \,\mu\text{m}$ CMOS technology [5.27]. In this section, the structure of the APD device and its guard ring will be introduced. Fabrication of the APDs is discussed in section 5.3. Then, in section 5.4, the APDs will be characterized, and the breakdown mechanism will be discussed. Geiger-mode of operation of the APDs are measured and analyzed in both passive and active structure in sections 5.5 and 5.7. Our results are also compared with those for the previous implementations of APDs in CMOS.

5.2.1. APD layout

A regular p^+/n -well diode is fabricated in standard CMOS technology as a p^+ region implanted within an n-well region. In this diode, the breakdown current will not flow uniformly across the area of the p^+ region. The breakdown region of such a diode will be at its edge (this will be discussed later in section 5.4). This due to the higher peak electric field caused by the narrower depletion region at the corners of the diode junction. As the reverse bias increases, the electric field at the perimeter will reach the

onset of avalanche first, and the current will flow there. In APDs, however, it is desired for the breakdown region to be spread over the area of the diode and not at its corners. We have made this possible by creating a p-type guard ring around the p^+ active area of the APD, as shown in Figure 5-1. To create the guard ring, an n-well region is placed within the p^+ region, which is against the conventional rules of the standard CMOS. In our design, the width of the guard ring is 3 μ m, with a depth of approximately 0.5 μ m. The doping concentration of the p-well is in the range of 10^{17} cm⁻³, compared to 10^{19} cm⁻³ for the p⁺ region. It will be shown that the designed device has excellent avalanche characteristics. However, it should be noted that standard CMOS technology is targeted for digital and analog applications and not optical imaging devices. Most of our design parameters are not optimum, and are dictated by constraints of the fabrication technology. But because it is a standard technology, the cost is very low.



Figure 5-1: (a) Cross section and (b) plan view of the layout of our APD. Putting an n-well, inside a p^+ region, creates the avalanche area and also the guard ring.

5.2.2. Device simulation

Figure 5-2 shows the profile of the electric field created in our APD. The GENESIS simulation package is used to simulate some of the APD performance characteristics. The structure is produced with MDRAW, and the electric field profile is obtained with DESSIS [5.28]. Figure 5-2 shows that the peak electric field is spread under the active region of the APD, which is the p^+/n -well junction.



Figure 5-2: Device simulation of the APD under reverse bias, using the DESSIS tool. It shows that the maximum electric field will appear in the desired p^+/n -well junction.

5.3. APD fabrication

We have fabricated our APD in a standard 0.18 μ m, single poly, six metal, salicide CMOS technology. We have fabricated APDs with three different diameters: 5 μ m, 10 μ m, and 20 μ m. Figure 5-3 shows the photomicrograph of these APDs, with octagonal active regions. The guard rings of the APDs are shielded by metal layers. A circular shape is desired for APDs to reduce the possibility of corner breakdown. However, the layout rules for the technology does not allow for a circular shape, so instead, the octagonal shape, which is closest to a circle that can be made, is designed. Measurements presented later show no corner breakdown of our APDs.



Figure 5-3: (a) Photomicrograph of the chip containing APD devices and circuit. Layouts of our APDs with (a) 5 μ m, (b) 10 μ m and (c) 20 μ m diameters. Design rules of the technology do not allow circular features. We have used 45° rotated lines to draw octagons, the closest shape that can be generated to circles.

5.4. APD characterization

The doping concentration levels in CMOS increase as the technology scales down, causing an increase in the peak electric field in the depletion region of the diodes. Therefore, the breakdown voltage decreases and the width of the depletion region will also decrease. Eventually, the doping levels can become high enough, resulting in a very thin depletion region and tunneling breakdown will replace avalanche breakdown. Tunneling breakdown is known to happen for diodes with a breakdown voltage of about 7 V and lower.

For photon counting applications, we are interested in a diode that breaks down by avalanching. To our knowledge, all previous implementations of APDs in CMOS, have used $0.35 \,\mu$ m or larger technology scales. Therefore, it is important to first

investigate the breakdown mechanism of our APD made in this smaller dimension CMOS technology.



5.4.1. I-V characteristics

Figure 5-4: Measured *I-V* profiles for different diodes. While a regular p^+/n -well diode shows a low breakdown voltage, our APDs with guard ring show an avalanche breakdown at 10.2 V. The 5 μ m APD however, has a high breakdown voltage.

Figure 5-4 shows the measured *I-V* curves for three different diodes that we have made in CMOS 0.18 μ m technology. The measured curves are obtained with a 1 mA current compliance to protect the diodes. For a regular CMOS p⁺/n-well diode that has no guard ring, that is the p⁺ region being surrounded in the n-well as shown in Figure 5-5(a), breakdown happens at approximately 6.7 V. It also does not have a sharp breakdown profile, indicating that edge breakdown is occurring. Our APD, with the structure shown in Figure 5-5(b), has a very sharp breakdown at 10.2 V. The curve shows that the guard ring is effectively eliminating the edge breakdown of the p⁺/n-well diode. The high breakdown voltage also suggests that the breakdown mechanism is avalanche, which will be proven later when the temperature-dependent analysis of the breakdown characteristics is described.



Figure 5-5: (a) Breakdown site of a regular p^+/n -well diode compared to (b) the breakdown site of the 10 μ m APD and (c) the breakdown site of the 5 μ m APD. The line shows the extent of the depletion region in the n-well.

The 10 μ m and 20 μ m APDs have similar breakdown behavior. However, interestingly, the 5 μ m APD shows a different profile. Its breakdown starts at around 15.4 V with an edge breakdown like behavior. Figure 5-5 illustrates the reason for the different breakdown characteristic of this diode. Figure 5-5(b) shows the cross-section of the 10 μ m APD and the boundary of its depletion region. The effective area of the APD is reduced due to the depletion region around the guard ring. The area of the 10 μ m APD is large enough to accommodate this depletion region such that the breakdown happens at the desired p⁺/n-well junction. However, for the 5 μ m APD shown in Figure 5-5(c), the p-well regions get so close that the active area of the APD is almost fully depleted. Therefore, the p⁺/n-well junction will no longer be working and the APD performs like a p-well/n-well diode. The breakdown will now happen at the sides of the p-well as shown in Figure 5-5(c). We have measured the breakdown voltage of a separate p-well/n-well diode, made in CMOS 0.18 μ m technology, to be 15.2 V. This confirms that the 5 μ m APD operates like a p-well/n-well diode.

5.4.2. Breakdown voltage vs. temperature

The breakdown voltage of the APD varies significantly with temperature. It was shown [5.29] that the breakdown voltage of silicon and other semiconductor APDs at temperature T can be described by

$$V_{\rm BR} = V_{\rm B0} [1 + \beta (T - T_0)], \qquad (5-1)$$

where V_{B0} is the breakdown voltage at temperature T_0 (typically room temperature), and β is the temperature coefficient of the breakdown voltage. Previous studies

[5.30][5.31] show that the value of β is positive for diodes with avalanche breakdown and negative for diodes with tunneling breakdown. The theoretical derivation of β is presented in [5.32] and the theoretical values of β are compared to measured values for several diodes. A value of $7.2 \times 10^{-4} \, {}^{\circ}\text{C}^{-1}$ for β is predicted in [5.32] for a diode with an avalanche breakdown voltage of about 10.2 V.



Figure 5-6: Variation of the breakdown voltage of APDs with temperature. The rate of change is approximately 7 mV°C⁻¹ that results in $\beta \approx 7 \times 10^{-4}$ °C⁻¹.

Figure 5-6 shows how the measured breakdown voltage of our APDs varies with temperature. A breakdown voltage of 10.2 V is observed at room temperature (20 °C), and a value of $\beta = 7 \times 10^{-4}$ °C⁻¹ is extracted for the thermal variation of the breakdown voltage. The positive value of β shows that the breakdown mechanism of our diode is indeed avalanche. The measured β is also in good agreement with the theoretical value [5.32].

A breakdown voltage of 23 V is reported for an APD fabricated in standard 0.35 μ m CMOS [5.26]. We have measured a 10 V breakdown voltage for our APD made in 0.18 μ m CMOS. Considering this trend, the breakdown voltage of APDs made in CMOS 0.13 μ m or smaller, will be low, and the breakdown mechanism will be more likely by tunneling. Thus, it can be expected that standard 0.18 μ m or 0.13 μ m, may

be the smallest geometry CMOS technology for which an on chip Geiger mode APD fabrication is feasible.

5.4.3. Discussion on breakdown mechanism and microplasma

Previously in this section, we discussed the mechanism of avalanche breakdown in APDs. The APD layout ensures that the maximum electric field happens across the active area of the APD rather than its edges or corners. Impact ionization requires an electric field of at least $E_m = 300 \text{ kV/cm} [5.33]$. In a reverse-biased diode, the peak is located at the metallurgic junction. When the reverse bias is just above the breakdown voltage, a narrow strip of high electric field region around the metallurgic junction performs the impact ionization, rather than the whole depletion region.



Figure 5-7: Schematic of an abrupt p/n-junction at avalanche breakdown. The width of the depletion region with an electric field high enough for impact ionization, w_m , is only a small fraction of the total width of the junction depletion region.

The high electric field region of Figure 5-7 can be only a few atoms wide. In this narrow region, any device imperfection can cause a local disturbance of the electrical field that can lead to a reduction of the breakdown voltage below the breakdown voltage of the surrounding uniform junction. These tiny spots will be the site of the localized avalanche breakdown of the device. This breakdown condition is generally regarded as being a solid-state analog of a gas discharge plasma, and is called microplasma [5.34]. The microplasma can occur at threading dislocations [5.35],

metal-rich precipitates [5.36], diffusion-induced stacking faults, dopant impurity dislocations [5.37], diffusions voids [5.38] and cracks or mechanical damage [5.39].

At the onset of avalanching, microplasmas switch on and off randomly, producing current pulses of constant height. The microplasma is on for an increasing fraction of the time as the voltage increases until it becomes quiescent. The current carried by microplasma is limited by heating, resistance and space charge effects [5.40].



Figure 5-8: (a) Measured I-V curve of one of our 10 μ m APDs at the onset of breakdown. This region is also known as the multiplication region of the APD, where the current (dark current here) is multiplied by a finite M. The curve clearly shows that the current increases in steps, before complete breakdown. (b) A zoomed version of (a) drawn in linear scale. Different sections of the current curve have resistive characteristics. Resistance of each of the microplasma regions are calculated. It can also be clearly seen that the third microplasma turns on and off a few times before being permanently on.

Figure 5-8 shows the mechanism of microplasma regions in one of our APDs. The I-V curves are obtained by a semiconductor parameter analyzer, with a 1 k Ω resistor in series with the APD. Figure 5-8(a) shows the I-V curve of the APD in semi-log-scale. At about 10.05 V, the avalanche multiplication starts to increase the reverse current of the APD. The increase however, does not sharply continue beyond 10.15 V, as it seems to saturate. This saturation in semi-log-scale is in fact a linear

relationship, or resistive characteristic, meaning that the microplasma tube is acting like a resistance. The resistance is calculated in the linear scale of Figure 5-8(b) to be $R_1 \approx 74 \text{ k}\Omega$. At above 10.28 V, a second microplasma tube is turned on. The microplasma tubes will now perform like two resistors in parallel, with the resistance of the second microplasma $R_2 \approx 12.9 \text{ k}\Omega$. At around 10.31 V, the third microplasma becomes active. As it was mentioned before, a microplasma tube can turn on and off at the onset of avalanche. This can clearly be seen in Figure 5-8(b). The resistance of the third parallel microplasma is calculated to be around $R_3 \approx 4.8 \text{ k}\Omega$. At 10.4 V, so many microplasma tubes are on that the APD can generate currents more than 1 mA.



Figure 5-9: Different *I-V* curves obtained for 9 different APDs with the same layout fabricated on different dies in CMOS $0.18 \,\mu m$ technology.

The location of microplasma tubes in an APD active region is random. As a results, APDs that are fabricated with the same layout through the same process can have different onsets for activation of APD breakdown. Figure 5-9 shows several measured *I-V* curves for 9 different APDs fabricated in the same process on different dies. A standard deviation of 29.1 mV is observed in the onset of activation of the fist microplasma of the APDs. A standard deviation of 50 mV is observed for the complete breakdown voltage of the APDs, with a mean around 10.25 V. Also, it can be observed in Figure 5-9 that the microplasmas of different APDs have different activation threshold and characteristics. In Geiger-mode operation of APDs, an

infinite multiplication is desired for every incident photon. It means that several microplasma locations are desired with the onsets of activation as close as possible. In other words, the APDs with the least difference between the onset of first microplasma and onset of infinite gain are desired. In Figure 5-9, the best APD has a difference of less than 0.3 V.



Figure 5-10: Photomicrograph of the APD circuit, with the microscope light on. The circuit consists of a 10 μ m APD with a 100 k Ω resistor in series. The APD has a measured 10.2 V breakdown voltage. Photomicrographs taken with the microscope light off, for a reverse bias of (b) 19 V, (c) 20 V, (d) 21 V, (e) 22 V and (f) 23 V.

It is reported that APDs emit light from the microplasma sites during breakdown [5.40]. We have examined this fact by looking at an APD during breakdown in the dark. Figure 5-10(a) shows a photomicrograph of an integrated 10 μ m APD in series with a 100 k Ω resistor, with the circuit schematic shown in Figure 5-11(a). Figure 5-10 shows several photos taken from the same spot on the chip at dark. When the applied voltage, V_{DD} , is gradually increased, the APD starts to emit light at 19.3 V. When the applied voltage is decreased from a level higher than 20 V, the APD stops emitting light at 19.1 V. Figure 5-11 also shows the APD voltage, v_s , captured on the

oscilloscope screen. Figure 5-11(b) is taken at 19 V bias, where the APD is working in Geiger-mode. This mode of operation of APD is used for single photon detection and will be descried in detail in Section 5.5. Figure 5-11(c) shows the APD signal at 20 V, where the APD is constantly on, and emits light. The APD current in Figure 5-11(c) is measured to be about 80 μ A. When the applied voltage is increased above 20 V, the light emission from the APD increases, as shown in Figure 5-10. The voltage across the APD also increases, from about 10.5 V at 20 V, to about 11.5 V at 23 V. This series resistance in sustaining breakdown condition is know to be R_s, and is considered an effect of space charge, Ohmic drops and local heating [5.41] (which is approximately 50 k Ω in this example).



Figure 5-11: The APD circuit (a) and its measured signal, v_s , at (b) 19 V and (c) 20 V applied V_{DD} . The series resistor R = 100 k Ω and the probe resistor R_{PROBE} = 1 M Ω .

The explanation of the observations of Figure 5-10 and Figure 5-11 can be done by a closer look at the *I-V* curve of Figure 5-8(a) which is measured for the same APD. Figure 5-8(a) shows that, although a few microplasma sites can be activated by an applied reverse bias in the range of 10 to 10.4 V, a complete breakdown $(M \rightarrow \infty)$ happens at current levels above 80 μ A. In the circuit of Figure 5-11(a), the APD current is limited by the large series resistor, R, which is 100 k Ω , in parallel with the oscilloscope probe resistor connected to the sense node, which is 1 M Ω . At applied bias levels below 20 V (Figure 5-11(b)), this resistor limits the breakdown current to levels below 80 μ A, where the APD has a finite gain. In this region, the avalanche is not self-sustaining and the microplasma tubes have a short lifetime. At biases above 20 V (Figure 5-11(c)), however, the APD current goes above 80 μ A, where the APD

gain is infinite, the avalanche is self sustaining, and the microplasma tubes are constantly on. The large breakdown current that continually passes through the narrow microplasma tubes results in considerable heating of the microplasma regions and light emission from the APD.

5.4.4. Quantum efficiency of Geiger-mode APDs

Calculation of quantum efficiency of APDs is similar to regular photodiodes. However, for Geiger-mode APDs, there is a fundamental difference. In a regular photodiode, if a photogenerated carrier appears in the depletion region of the diode, it will contribute to the photocurrent. In Geiger-mode APD however, a carrier in the depletion region may or may not trigger an avalanche. A brief analytical derivation of the probability of avalanche trigger by an injected carrier follows.

Let's define $P_e(x)$ to be the probability that an electron, injected at distance x from the n^+ edge of depletion region, triggers an avalanche ($P_h(x)$ is similarly defined). Thus, the probability that a pair, at distance x, can trigger an avalanche is given by

$$P_{\text{pair}} = P_e + P_h - P_e P_h.$$
(5-2)

Similarly, the probability $P_e(x + \Delta x)$, that an electron starting at position $x + \Delta x$ triggers an avalanche, is given by

$$P_e(x + \Delta x) = P_e(x) + \alpha_e \Delta x P_{\text{pair}}(x) - P_e(x) \alpha_e \Delta x P_{\text{pair}}(x), \qquad (5-3)$$

where α_e is the electron ionization coefficient. Parameters α and β are the ionization coefficient for electrons and holes respectively, defined for the impact ionization as a number of collisions resulting in ionization per unit length traveled by a single carrier though the avalanche region. Impact ionization coefficients depend on electric field [5.42] and are believed to be given by

$$\alpha, \beta = A_{n,p} e^{-B_{n,p}/E}, \tag{5-4}$$

with the parameters defined as

$$A_n = 3.8 \times 10^6 \text{ V/cm},$$

 $A_p = 2.25 \times 10^7 \text{ V/cm},$
 $B_n = 1.75 \times 10^6 \text{ V/cm},$ and
 $B_n = 3.26 \times 10^6 \text{ V/cm}.$

Equations (5-2) and (5-3), and a similar equation to (5-3) for holes, result in the following differential equations:

$$\frac{dP_e}{dx} = (1 - P_e)\alpha_e [P_e + P_h - P_e P_h], \text{ and}$$

$$\frac{dP_h}{dx} = -(1 - P_h)\alpha_h [P_e + P_h - P_e P_h], \quad (5-5)$$

with the two boundary conditions given by

$$P_e(0) = 0$$
, and (5-6)

$$P_h(w) = 0$$
. (5-7)

The differential equation of (5-5) is solved to give the triggering probabilities that are shown in Figure 5-12.



Figure 5-12: (a) Triggering probabilities at several excess biases vs. the starting position of the carriers in the APD depletion region. (b) The triggering probabilities for carriers starting as minority carriers at the edge of the depletion region (taken from [5.43], figures 4 and 5).

The measurements of Figure 5-12 are done on a 27 V, n^+/p diode, on a 0.5 Ω cm p-type substrate. Although our APDs are different, it is expected that the same theories apply to the derivation of its triggering probability. We have studied the triggering probability of our APDs by measuring its dark count vs. bias. Dark count is the rate of the avalanche events triggered by an APD at no illumination. At fixed temperature, the flux of carriers into the depletion region of the APD can be assumed constant, and the increase in the dark count of the APD can be assumed to be purely caused by the increase of the triggering probability of avalanche by a single carrier. Figure 5-13 shows the measured dark count of our APD vs. the applied excess bias. It also shows a fitted curve to the measurement points. It shows a relatively linear variation, which is in good agreement with the prediction of Figure 5-12(b). A more complete study of the dark count will be presented in the next section.



Figure 5-13: Dark count of our 10 μ m APD, at room temperature, for different values of excess bias. The dark count varies linearly for small values of excess bias and it is in good agreement with the theoretical prediction of Figure 5-12 shown with the solid line.

5.5. Comparison

In the previous sections, we presented an overview of the APDs that are reported in the literature, and we also introduced and characterized our APD device. Now we can compare our device to the previous implementations of APD. Table 5-1 shows different parameters of these APDs. Our APD has the lowest breakdown voltage, and as a result, it consumes less power and it is easier to be implemented in miniaturized systems. However, our APD suffers from high dark rate, as we will discuss it in detail in the next section.

Table 5-1: Comparison of some of the reported APD implementations in CMOS with our APD. Note that the 50 kHz dark count for our APD in this table is for the worst case according to Figure 5-13.

| | Technology (µm) | Breakdown voltage (V) | Diameter (µm) | Peak PDP (%) | Dark current / |
|--------|--------------------|--------------------------|------------------|-----------------|-------------------|
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | count |
| [5.22] | 1.5 | 30 | 20 | - | 33 pA |
| [5.23] | 0.8 | 19 | 800 | | 200 pA |
| [5.24] | 0.8 | 26.8 | 5 | - | 100 Hz |
| [5.25] | 0.8 | 16 | 12 | 45 | 40 kHz |
| [5.26] | 0.35 | 23 | 6 | 5 | 6 Hz |
| Our | 0.18 | 10 | 10 | 5.5 | 50 kHz |

5.6. Geiger-mode passive APD

Avalanche photodiode is the semiconductor equivalent of photomultiplier tube [5.10]. The APD is a photodiode that its breakdown mechanism is avalanche and it can operate in two modes. In the first mode, the APD is reverse-biased slightly below its breakdown voltage. The high internal electric field at such bias conditions results in impact ionization of accelerated carriers in the depletion region with the lattice atoms. Each carrier that is injected in the electric field will then be multiplied, resulting in a gain. This internal gain is used in APDs to amplify the small photocurrents generated by low-levels of incident light.

The second mode of operation of APDs is called Geiger mode. In this mode, the APD is reverse-biased above its breakdown voltage. A single carrier in this mode is enough to trigger a sustaining avalanche current. This current should be detected and quenched by external circuitry. There are passive and active circuits that perform this task. In this section, we will focus on the passive approach. In section 5.7, APD with active circuitry will be discussed.





Figure 5-14: Geiger-mode of operation of APD. (a) Schematic of a passive APD circuit and (b) its measured sense node voltage vs. time. Each drop corresponds to a photon arriving at a random time. (c) Schematic of an APD in series with an active load and (d) its measured sense node voltage. The active load is a PMOS transistor with $W/L = 10 \times 9 / 0.3$. The voltage scale in both (b) and (d) is 100 mV, and the time scale is 20 μ s for (b) and 2 μ s for (d).

Figure 5-14(a) shows the circuit that operates the APD in Geiger mode. It consists of an APD in series with a large resistor (100 k Ω in our design). The total reverse-bias applied to the APD in this circuit, V_{DD} , is above the breakdown voltage (V_{BR}) of APD. When an electron-hole pair is generated in the depletion region of the APD, caused by an incident photon or thermal generation, it triggers the avalanche process, and results in a large current to flow across the APD. The breakdown current passes through the external resistor and brings the sense node voltage, v_S , down. As a result, the bias across the APD drops and eventually becomes less than V_{BR} , terminating the breakdown process. This is called passive quenching, and its process can be better

observed in Figure 5-14(b). Each sharp drop in the sense node voltage of Figure 5-14(b) corresponds to an incident photon (or thermal generation). After the breakdown is quenched, the sense node recharges towards V_{DD} with an RC time constant, C being the junction capacitance of the APD in parallel with parasitic capacitances of the pads, wirings and probe.

In the design of CMOS integrated circuits, transistors are preferred to resistors. We have also implemented and measured an APD in series with an active load instead of a resistor, as shown in Figure 5-14(c). By properly biasing the gate of the transistor, the circuit can be operated in Geiger-mode at the desired recharge speed Figure 5-14(d) shows the measured v_S obtained for the circuit of Figure 5-14(c). The difference between an RC recharge and an active load recharge can be seen by comparing Figure 5-14(b) and Figure 5-14(d). The active load can be a good replacement of a resistor in a Geiger-mode APD circuit considering its smaller layout area, and also the possibility of adjusting its recharge speed by changing the bias voltage of the transistor.

5.6.2. Dark count

It was mentioned earlier that an avalanche event can be triggered by either an incident photon, or a thermally generated electron-hole pair. The number of pulses per second that are generated by an APD in the absence of light is called dark count. Dark count sets the lower limit on the number of photons that can be detected per second. This is why APDs are cooled for low-light-level detection applications. The variation of the dark current of an APD with temperature follows the Meyer-Neldel law:

$$I_{D} = I_{0} e^{-E_{A}/kT}, (5-8)$$

where E_A is the activation energy. Studying the activation energy can provide insight into the sources of the dark count. For diodes in which the origin of dark carriers is pure thermal generation, the activation energy is normally approximately equal to half of the energy band gap of the material. However, in diodes with a narrow depletion region, a dark carrier can be generated after tunneling into a mid-gap trap state. In the

diodes in which the generation of dark carriers is assisted by tunneling, the activation energy becomes smaller [5.44].



Figure 5-15: Dark count vs. temperature for an excess bias of 0.5 V. The dark count doubles approximately every 30 °C. Note that to extract the activation energy reported, we plotted $\ln(I_D)$ versus the inverse of the Absolute Temperature.

The measured dark counts of our 10 μ m and 20 μ m APDs are shown in Figure 5-15. The variation of the dark count with temperature is measured for a fixed V_E of 0.5 V. The figure indicates that the dark count increases exponentially with temperature. The activation energy of the diode is ~0.2 eV, which shows the dominance of the tunneling-assisted generation of the dark carriers. Note that this activation energy E_A was obtained from a plot of $\ln(I_D)$ against the inverse of the absolute temperature that is shown in Figure 5-16, according to (5-8). Also, our APD's dark count is relatively higher than the dark counts at 40 kHz reported in [5.25] or less than 1 kHz reported in [5.24] because of its lower breakdown voltage. The high doping concentration levels of 0.18 μ m CMOS cause a narrow depletion region, resulting in significant tunneling-induced dark carriers and increased dark count.

122



Figure 5-16: plot of $\ln(I_D)$ against the inverse of the absolute temperature used for extracting the activation energy.

5.7. Geiger-mode APD with active peripheral circuitry

5.7.1. Basics of peripheral circuitry: Schematic and layout



Figure 5-17: (a) Schematic of the APD circuit with active quench and active reset and (b) diameter of the APD, size of the resistor in ohm, and W/L of the transistors of the circuit in micron. The timing block consists of two mono-stables in series. Each mono-stable has a bias input that adjusts the width of the output pulse. The first mono-stable causes a delay, and second mono-stable dictates the width of the output of the timing block.

Figure 5-17 shows the schematic of APD and its associated peripheral circuits for operation in Geiger mode. When no current flows in the APD, its reverse bias is equal

to $(V_{DD} + V_{OP})$. This voltage is above the APD's breakdown voltage V_{BR} . Several terms have been used in the literature for the difference between these voltage levels such as: over-voltage, excess voltage and excess bias. We will use the term excess bias in this work. The value of the excess bias, V_E , is then given by

$$V_E = V_{\rm DD} + V_{\rm OP} - V_{\rm BR} \,. \tag{5-9}$$

An electron-hole pair can be generated in the depletion region of the APD, either by an incident photon or thermal generation. The electron and hole will then accelerate in opposite directions in the high electric field. They will collide with the lattice atoms, and release other carriers to start the avalanche process. This avalanche current builds up very fast. The current will flow in the quench resistor R, and cause the voltage at the sense node, v_s , to decrease. The quenching loop sense transistor, M_S, will sense this drop, and immediately turn on the quench transistor, M_Q, to quickly bring v_s down to zero. Now, the reverse bias applied to the APD is down to V_{OP} , which is less than V_{BR} . The avalanche process will stop and the current in the APD will immediately dissipate. The action performed by M_Q is called active quenching, and it causes the duration of the avalanche current flow in the APD to be short.

The sense node voltage is kept at zero for a hold-off time, in order to reduce the probability that a subsequent after-pulse is triggered by the release of a trapped carrier. The hold-off time is controlled by a mono-stable in the timing block. At the end of the hold-off time, M_Q will be turned off and the reset transistor M_R will be turned on. Transistor M_R will bring v_S back to V_{DD} to make the APD ready for the next incoming photon. This is called active reset, and its duration is controlled by a second mono-stable in the timing block. At the end of reset time, M_R is turned off and APD is ready to detect another photon.



Figure 5-18: The schematic of the mono-stable circuit used in the APD periphery. M1 and M2 have W/L of 5/0.35, and M3 has W/L of $4 \times 2.5/0.3$. The mono-stable is triggered by the falling edge of the input, and it generates a low level output pulse with the width that is adjusted by the V_{BM} input.

The timing block in Figure 5-17, consists of two mono-stables. The first one controls the quench time of the APD, and simply causes a delay between the time it senses the input, and the time that it activates M_R . The second mono-stable controls the reset time, which is the duration of the output pulse that keeps M_R on. Both mono-stables have a 500 fF internal capacitor, and bias inputs that control the output pulse duration. Figure 5-18 shows a simplified schematic of the mono-stable circuit used in this work [5.45]. Input V_{BM} is used to adjust the width of the output pulse of the mono-stable.

We have also fabricated the full circuit of Figure 5-17, and a photomicrograph of its layout is shown in Figure 5-19. Thick-oxide transistors are used so that 3 V for V_{DD} can be used instead of the 1.8 V that is typical of 0.18 μ m CMOS technology. This higher V_{DD} will ensure that enough excess bias is applied to the APD when turned on, and that enough margin exists between V_{OP} and V_{BR} . The APD can be displaced with respect to the peripheral circuit, to achieve a total pixel area of about 90 μ m × 100 μ m. Most of this area is taken by the capacitors of the mono-stables. The pixel reported in [5.10], which is a simple passive quenched APD with an inverter and a buffer, has a 1.1 % fill-factor. Our pixel, with active quench and active reset circuits, has the same fill-factor. This has become possible by using a smaller scale CMOS technology.


Figure 5-19: Photomicrograph of the layout of the APD with the peripheral circuits. A large part of the layout area is taken by the capacitors, which are seen as the two L-shaped features at the bottom of the Photomicrograph.

5.7.2. Analytic derivation of APD system output

We have measured the performance of the APD with active reset and quench circuits. The dead time of an APD circuit is the time during which the APD cannot sense any incoming photon. It is the duration of the output pulse of the circuit that corresponds to a single incident photon (or thermally generated electron-hole pair). The dead time sets the upper limit on the number of photons that can be detected per second.



Figure 5-20: Equivalent circuits used for analytical derivation of the sense node voltage during (a) active quench and (b) active reset.

The dead time of an APD circuit can be analytically derived. Most of the dead time is taken by the active quench and active reset periods. When the avalanche process begins, and the sense node voltage decreases by one threshold voltage of M_S , then the active quench loop turns on the quench transistor. Figure 5-20(a) shows the approximate equivalent circuit during active quench. During this period, transistor M_Q brings v_S down to zero. The relation governing the sense node voltage will then be

$$\frac{V_{\rm DD} - v_{\rm S}(t)}{R} = C_{\rm APD} \frac{dv_{\rm S}}{dt} + i_{\rm BR} + \mu_{\rm N} C_{\rm ox} \frac{W_{\rm Q}}{L_{\rm Q}} \left[(V_{\rm DD} - V_{\rm TN}) v_{\rm S}(t) - \frac{v_{\rm S}(t)^2}{2} \right], \tag{5-10}$$

with initial condition $v_S = V_{DD} - V_{TP}$. In equation (5-10), W_Q and L_Q are width and length of transistor M_Q and V_{TN} is its threshold voltage. In our design, $W_Q/L_Q = 170$. The breakdown current of the APD is i_{BR} and C_{APD} is the capacitance of the APD measured to be 200 fF for the 10 μ m APD at a reverse bias close to 10 V. At the beginning of reset, the sense node voltage and the APD current are both zero. Transistor M_Q is turned off and M_R is turned on. Figure 5-20(b) shows the circuit during reset. The equation governing the sense node voltage will then be

$$\frac{V_{\rm DD} - v_{\rm S}(t)}{R} + \mu_{\rm P} C_{\rm ox} \frac{W_{\rm R}}{L_{\rm R}} \left[(V_{\rm DD} - V_{\rm TP}) [V_{\rm DD} - v_{\rm S}(t)] - \frac{1}{2} [V_{\rm DD} - v_{\rm S}(t)]^2 \right] = C_{\rm APD} \frac{dv_{\rm S}}{dt},$$
(5-11)

with initial value $v_S = 0$ V. In equation (5-11), W_R and L_R are width and length of transistor M_R and V_{TP} is its threshold voltage. In our design, $W_R/L_R = 300$. For a period of time at the beginning of reset, transistor M_R is in saturation. However, this time is very short as the sense node voltage will increase very fast and push transistor M_Q into the linear regime of operation. Therefore, equation (5-11) is a good approximation for the whole reset period.

5.7.3. Measurement of APD system output

The output of the circuit of Figure 5-17 has been measured to evaluate the response of the APD and peripheral circuits to incident photons. The output pad and measurement probes are connected to the node v_0 in Figure 5-17 to avoid loading the small capacitance of the sense node. Figure 5-21 shows the variation of the sense node voltage of our circuit as a function of time.



Figure 5-21: Measured and simulated sense node voltage of the APD circuit. The dead time is about 30 ns.

Since the start of avalanche in the APD, v_s will start to drop with passive quenching. It takes about 7 ns for v_s to reach a level that turns on the quench loop. Figure 5-21 also shows a quench time of about 15 ns and a reset time of about 8 ns. The times for active quench and active reset can be adjusted using the mono-stables of the timing block. These delays add to an overall dead time of about 30 ns. Previous implementations of APDs in CMOS have reported dead times of 60 ns [5.25] and 40 ns [5.10], [5.26]. These times are primarily affected by the capacitance of the APD including the capacitance of the guard ring, the size of the reset and quench transistors, and how well they can source or sink current. Figure 5-21 also shows the calculated v_s using equations (5-10) and (5-11), which is in good agreement with the measured results.

5.7.4. Measurements of photo-response and spectral response

Finally, the sensitivity and spectral response of our APD is investigated. The probability of detection of a photon (PDP) indicates the percentage of incoming photons that trigger a pulse in the output of the APD circuit. The PDP is measured by evaluating the number of photons incident on the APD, and counting the number of pulses in its output. The rate of the incoming photons is evaluated based on the power of the incident light at a certain wavelength. The number of pulses generated by the

APD is measured in a fixed time interval several times and then averaged. Measurements are done using a stable wide-spectrum Xenon lamp, connected to an integrating sphere through band-pass filters and attenuators to adjust the wavelength and flux of the incident photons on the APD. Measurements are performed on a vibration isolation optical table. Measurements are repeated in dark, and the dark count is subtracted from the count of the output pulses of the APD at each measurement point. Figure 5-22 shows the measured PDP as a function of the wavelength of the incoming light, at different levels of V_E for the 10 μ m APD.



Figure 5-22: Probability of detection of photons for different wavelengths. Increasing the excess bias will increase the probability of detection. Oscillations in the curves are due to the several dielectric layers of CMOS on top of the APD.

The width of the depletion region and the strength of the electric field increase in an APD by applying higher V_E . This will make it easier for an electron-hole pair to start the avalanche breakdown. This is why the PDP increases with V_E , as shown in Figure 5-22. However, increasing V_E , will also increase the dark count and noise of the APD. Also, in practice, when the APD is implemented in CMOS along with the active quench and reset circuits, V_E cannot be greater than V_{DD} . This is according to (5-9) and the fact that $V_{OP} < V_{BR}$. Our APD shows a maximum PDP of about 5.5 % for a V_E of 2 V. The PDP will improve with increasing excess bias, as reported in some previous publications. For example, in [5.26], a peak PDP of 5 % for a V_E of 3 V was reported. In [5.10], the PDP was in 20 % range for a V_E of 5 V, and in [5.25], the peak

PDP was 45 % for a V_E of 10 V. Note that the PDP can be further improved in our device by removing the passivation layer from the surface of the chip.

PDP also varies with wavelength. The active region of the APD is a p+/n-well diode, which is very shallow in 0.18 μ m technology. As a result, in longer wavelengths, many of the absorbed photons generate carriers that will recombine before reaching the active region. On the other hand, photons with very short wavelength will be absorbed too close to the silicon dioxide interface to be detected. This is why the PDP in Figure 5-22 decreases for shorter and longer wavelengths. The oscillations that are observed in the PDP of Figure 5-22 are due to the effect of several narrow layers of the silicon dioxide that are deposited on top of the silicon.

Chapter 6

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

6.1. Conclusions

CMOS photodetectors have been considered in this work for low-light-level applications. Several biomedical applications are introduced, like DNA microarrays and camera pill, that require an integrated imaging system that is able to detect very low levels of light. Some of the current photodetectors and imaging systems, like photomultiplier tubes and charge-coupled devices, are introduced. Advantages and disadvantages of these imagers are described in contrast to integrated imaging systems in CMOS technology.

CMOS circuits are low power, cheap, and highly integrated. It is however difficult to achieve high quality photodetection in CMOS, as the technology is not optimized for imaging. It is highly desired to have photodetectors in CMOS that can detect low levels of light. In this thesis we have introduced the challenges in making CMOS imaging systems. The effect of scaling is also described in Chapter 1. The rest of thesis introduces several CMOS pixel structures and imaging systems.

Active pixel sensor is the most commonly used CMOS pixel structure. A comprehensive review of current APS structures, and their variations have been presented in Chapters 2 and 3. Three transistor APS is the pixel structure that is used in most of the APS imaging systems. Signal and noise of this pixel structure has been comprehensively analyzed in this thesis in Chapter 2. We have reported the maximum

SNR of a conventional APS pixel, which is a function of the photodiode capacitance and source voltage. A new model for the capacitance of the photodiode is proposed. This model results in very accurate prediction of the APS signal. The model is verified by measurements on an APS fabricated in 0.18 μ m standard CMOS technology.

Different variations of APS are fabricated, measured and compared in this work. Chapter 3 introduces APS structures with in-pixel comparator, in-pixel integrator, multisampling time-domain pixel, and lateral BJT structure. Out compact design for the APS with comparator offers a 2.2 V sense node voltage swing, with a fill-factor of 36%. The APS with integrator achieves the excellent dark output drop rate of 16 mV/s. The multisampling APS structure offers high resolution imaging at high bitrates due to its parallel internal ADC mechanism. The lateral BJT structure has high responsivity, as it can have internal gain of more than 10^3 .

Also, measurements and calculations of Chapter 4 on our fabricated APS suggest that it can be operated in a different mode (DC level output) to get better low-light-level sensitivity. Noise of the DC level of APS has been analyzed in this work for the first time. While conventional APS normally detects light levels down to $1 \,\mu$ W/cm², The DC level can detect light powers in the order of 10 n W/cm². At $1 \,\mu$ W/cm², The DC level output has a 25 dB SNR, which is 10 dB above the best conventional APS. The DC level mode preserves the simple APS structure, it does not need CDS, and the reset time and reset transistor sizes can be adjusted to optimize its sensitivity. However, the DC level mode of operation responds slower to the temporal changes of the incident light power, as it might need several integration and reset cycles to converge.

Active pixel sensors, and all its variations, are integrating devices. They integrate the photocurrent during a fixed integration time before generating the output voltage that is proportional to the incident light level. This integration time should be shorter for high-speed applications, and it should be longer for high-sensitivity applications. As a result, APS or its variations are not applicable to many biomedical applications that require both sensitivity and speed. Fluorescence lifetime imaging for example,

requires detection of emissions in cellular level that decay with nanosecond time constants. Photomultiplier tubes are used in these applications. PMTs are excellent choices that are sensitive and fast. However, they are fragile and bulky, and cannot be integrated. Avalanche photodiodes are semiconductor equivalent of PMTs that are considered in Chapter 5.

In this work, several single photon APDs, along with their peripheral circuitry, are integrated in standard 0.18 μ m CMOS technology. Octagonal APDs with 5 μ m, 10 μ m and 20 μ m diameter active region have been fabricated. The 10 μ m and 20 μ m APDs exhibit good avalanche breakdown characteristics with a breakdown voltage of 10.2 V. Temperature variation of the APDs confirm the avalanche mechanism of breakdown. We expect that it will not be possible to make APDs with much smaller scale CMOS technologies, as the breakdown mechanism will switch to tunneling. The microplasma effect is examined for our APDs to further investigate its breakdown mechanism. Microplasma emission has been observed for our APDs above 20 V reverse bias, which is the upper limit for operation of the APD in Geiger mode.

On-chip passive and active circuits for Geiger mode operation of APDs have been fabricated and measured in Chapter 5. Active quench and reset circuits have been successfully implemented and measured. Our integrated APD and peripheral circuits had a measured dead time of about 30 ns and a PDP of about 5.5% at an excess bias of 2 V –results that are comparable or better than the best published results to date. Fabrication of APDs in 0.18 μ m technology improves the fill factor and increases the speed of the pixel. There is also a limit on how small the APD can be made when a standard CMOS technology is used. This is because of the interference of the depletion region of the guard ring with the APD effective sensing area.

The proposed CMOS photodetectors and imaging systems of this work can be used in a wide range of applications. The DC level APS can be used in applications like the camera pill, where low levels of light have to be measured at a relatively low frame rate. If higher frame rates are desired, then the APS with a comparator can be used. The APS with an integrator can be used in DNA microarray applications due to its dark current cancellation ability, and the fact that high spatial resolution is not

needed. Finally, for fast and high sensitivity applications such as like fluorescence lifetime imaging, the fully integrated 2D-APD array system can be used.

6.2. Recommendations

Several areas of the research that have been done during this PhD work can be continued and expanded. Also, new solutions can be proposed for several applications that have been considered in this work. These variations can range from simply changing some of the proposed pixel structures, to seeking solutions in different fabrication technologies. Following are some recommendations for possible future research that are related to this work.

Several solutions that are proposed in this work can be further improved. In the following paragraphs, improvements in resolution, sensitivity and speed will be discussed in the framework of the circuits that are proposed in this work. Then, new possible photodetector solutions in CMOS will be discussed. Finally, application of other CMOS technologies, or non-CMOS solutions will be considered that can expand the applications of the proposed imaging systems.

Most of the low-light-level applications that were considered in this work did not require high spatial resolution. This is an important fact in the trade-off between resolution and sensitivity. In many applications, like consumer photography, high resolution is greatly desired. In order to improve the resolution of the pixel structures that are proposed in this work, the photodiode size can be decreased, and instead, microlenses can be implanted on the array. Some of the in-pixel circuits can also be shared among blocks of several pixels to decrease the average pixel size.

Although sensitivity has been the main focus of this work, most of the solutions that were introduced were at the functional level, or circuit level. The quantum efficiency of the detectors in general can be improved by removing the thin, opaque passivation layer that is deposited on the CMOS circuit at the end of the process. Microlenses can improve the fill-factor of the pixel. Layered color detection schemes, instead of color filter arrays, also improve the overall quantum efficiency.

The speed/sensitivity trade-off was well discussed in this work. It was said in general, that APS solutions, including the DC level, can not offer both high speed, and high sensitivity, and APDs are the only solution for such applications. There are however, approaches to improve the speed of APS pixels. Global shutters are used in high speed applications, both for CCD and CMOS imagers where the level of incident light is relatively high. Frequency response, and parasitic capacitances of the peripheral circuits can also be considered and analyzed for obtaining optimum speed. The speed of the APD can also be improved by decreasing the parasitic capacitance of the guard ring that is parallel to the APD capacitance. The dead-time of the active APD circuit can also be improved by decreasing the series resistor and increasing the W/L of the reset and quench transistors, and choosing faster mono-stable circuits.

It is possible to expand some of the solutions that are proposed in this work. First, the design parameters of an APS can be optimized to achieve maximum sensitivity in DC level mode of operation. Second, a high-resolution array of DC level mode APS can be fabricated with on-chip row and column control circuitry for high-resolution low-light-level applications like DNA microarrays. Third, an accurate model for APDs can be developed (which is currently missing in the literature) that is applicable to GM-APD circuits. Fourth, layout of the CMOS GM-APD and its peripheral circuits can be optimized to achieve response times of 1 ns or less.

There are other photodetector structures or imaging systems that can be implemented in CMOS. Photogate structures and transfer gates can be implemented for on-chip correlated double sampling. Multi-layer photodiodes can be used for filter-free color detection that also optimizes the photosensitivity. Phototransistors can be used instead of photodiodes because they have better responsivity due to internal amplification.

Although the implementations of this work are in CMOS $0.18 \,\mu\text{m}$, other CMOS technologies have also been discussed in several places in this thesis. We have considered the effect of downscaling on photodetection, and also predicted the performance of APDs fabricated in smaller scale CMOS. The implementations of this work however, have all been in CMOS $0.18 \,\mu\text{m}$. It is desired to implement several devices, with the exact same layout, in several different CMOS technologies and

measure the actual difference. In particular, the possibility of successful implementation of APDs in 0.13 μ m and smaller-scale CMOS technologies can be verified. BiCMOS technology can also be considered, due to some excellent light detection performances of bipolar phototransistors. Non-CMOS technologies can also be considered to compare the spectral response of the detectors, and to achieve better light detection in deep UV, or infrared.

REFERENCES

- [1.1] B. J. Hosticka, W. Brockherde, A. Bussmann, T. Heimann, R. Jeremias, A. Kemna, C. Nitta, and O. Schrey, "CMOS imaging for automotive applications," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 50, no. 1, pp. 173-183, Jan. 2003.
- [1.2] I. Takayanagi, M. Shirakawa, K. Mitani, M. Sugawara, S. Iversen, J. Moholt, J. Nakamura, and E. R. Fossum, "A 1.25-inch 60-frames/s 8.3-M-pixel digital output CMOS image sensor," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 40, no. 11, pp. 2305-2314, Nov. 2005.
- [1.3] K. Yoon, C. Kim, B. Lee, and D. Lee, "Single-chip CMOS image sensor for mobile applications," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 37, no. 12, pp. 1839-1845, Dec. 2002.
- [1.4] T. Vo-Dinh, G. D. Griffin, A. L. Wintenberg, D. L. Stokes, J. Mobley, M. Askari, and R. Maples, "Advanced biochip: Principle and applications in medical diagnostics and pathogen detection," in *Proc. Int. Symp. Circuits and Syst.*, May 2003, vol. 3, pp. 622-625.
- [1.5] M. J. Deen and O. Marinov, "Noise in advanced electronic devices and circuits," in *Proc. 18th Int. Conf. Noise Phys. Syst. And 1/f Fluctuations*, Aug. 2005, vol. 780, no. 1, pp. 3-12.
- [1.6] http://phys.chem.ntnu.no/~bka/images/MicroArrays.jpg
- [1.7] J. Wang, "Survey and summary from DNA biosensors to gene chips," *Nucleic Acids Research*, vol. 28, no. 16, pp. 3011-3016, 2000.
- [1.8] P. Baldi, G. W. Hatfield, DNA Microarrays and Gene Expression: From Experiments to Data Analysis and Modeling. Cambridge University Press, UK, 2002.
- [1.9] N. Faramarzpour and S. Shirani, "Lossy and lossless compression of DNA microarray images," in *Proceedings of the IEEE Data Compression Conference*, Utah, pp. 538, March 2004.
- [1.10] N. Faramarzpour, M.M. Eldesouki, M.J. Deen, Q. Fang, S. Shirani, and L.W.C. Liu, "CMOS imaging for biomedical applications," *IEEE Potentials*, vol. 27, no. 3, pp. 31-36, May/June 2008.
- [1.11] D Axelrod, "Total internal reflection fluorescence at biological surfaces," Noninvasive Techniques in Cell Biology, pp. 93-127, Wiley-Liss, New York, 1990.
- [1.12] H. J. Yoon, S. Kawahito, "A CMOS image sensor for fluorescence lifetime imaging," in Proc. 5th IEEE Conf. Sensors, Daegu, Korea, pp. 400-403, Oct. 2006.
- [1.13] www.andor.com/biology/?app=116
- [1.14] M. Zellweger, D. Goujon, R. Conde, M. Forrer, H. Bergh, and G. Wagnieres, "Absolute autofluorescence spectra of human healthy, metaplastic, and early cancerous bronchial tissue in vivo," J. Applied Optics, vol. 40, no. 22, pp. 3784-3791, Aug. 2001.
- [1.15] M. B. Wallace, V. L. Durkalski, J. Vaughan, Y. Y. Palesch, E. D. Libby, P. S. Jowell, N. J. Nickl, S. M. Schutz, J. W. Leung, P. B. Cotton, "Age and alarm"

symptoms do not predict endoscopic findings among patients with dyspepsia: a multicentre database study," *Gut*, vol. 49, pp. 29-34, 2001.

- [1.16] http://www.medgadget.com/archives/img/21524eso1.jpg
- [1.17] http://hackerfriendly.com/wp/wp-content/uploads/2007/06/pillcam.jpg
- [1.18] http://www.drugdevelopment-

technology.com/projects/cilanserton/images/7_ibs_fig.jpg

- [1.19] M. Yu, "M2A(TM) capsule endoscopy: A breakthrough diagnostic tool for small intestine imaging," *Gastr. Nurs.*, vol. 25, no. 1, pp. 24-27, 2002.
- [1.20] D. S. Mishkin, R. Chuttani, J. Croffie, J. DiSario, J. Liu, R. Shah, L. Somogyi, W. Tierney, L. M. Wong Kee Song and B. T. Petersen, "ASGE technology status evaluation report: wireless capsule endoscopy," *Gastrointestinal Endoscopy*, vol. 63, no. 4, pp. 539-545, 2006.
- [1.21] K. Arshak, E. Jafer, G. Lyons, D. Morris, O. Korostynska, "A review of lowpower wireless sensor microsystems for biomedical capsule diagnosis," *Microelec. Int.* vol. 21, no. 3, pp. 8-19, 2004.
- [1.22] E. A. Johannessen, L. Wang, C. Wyse, D. R. S. Cumming, and J. Cooper, "Biocompatibility of a lab-on-a-pill sensor in artificial gastrointestinal environments," *IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng.*, vol. 53, no. 11, pp. 2333-2340, 2006.
- [1.23] M. Kfouri, O. Marinov, P. Quevedo, N. Faramarzpour, S. Shirani, L. W. C. Liu, Q. Fang and M. J. Deen, "Towards a miniaturized wireless fluorescence-based diagnostic imaging system," *IEEE J. Selected Topics Quantum Electronics*, vol. 14, no. 1, pp. 226-234, Jan./Feb. 2008.
- [1.24] http://www.dpreview.com/news/0601/06010503boylesmith.asp
- [1.25] T. H. Lee, R. P. Khosla, B. C. Burkey, W. C. Chang, G. R. Moore, D. L., Losee, and K. Y. Wong, "A four million pixel CCD image sensor," in *Proc. Int. Symp. VLSI Tech. Systems and Applications*, Taiwan, May. 1989, pp. 41-44.
- [1.26] "CCD technology primer," DALSA Inc, Waterloo, Ontario, Canada, 2000, www.dalsa.com.
- [1.27] http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Image:Pmside.jpg
- [1.28] http://www-sk.icrr.u-tokyo.ac.jp/sk/gallery/index-e.html
- [1.29] G. Weckler, "Operation of p-n junction photodetectors in a photon flux integrating mode," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 2, pp. 65-73, Sep. 1967.
- [1.30] P. Noble, "Self-scanned silicon image detector arrays," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 15, no. 4, pp. 202-209, April 1968.
- [1.31] F. Andoh, K. Taketoshi, J. Yamazaki, M. Sugawara, Y. Fujita, K. Mitani, Y. Mutazawa, K. Miyata, and S. Araki, "A 250 000 pixel image sensor with FET amplification at each pixel for high-speed television cameras," in *ISSCC Dig. Tech. Papers*, 1990, pp. 212-213.
- [1.32] A. El Gamal and H. Eltoukhy, "CMOS image sensors," *IEEE Circuits Devices Mag.*, vol. 21, no. 3, pp. 6-20, May/Jun. 2005.
- [1.33] H. S. Wong, "Technology and device scaling considerations for CMOS imagers," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 43, no. 12, pp. 2131-2142, Dec. 1996.
- [1.34] http://www.siliconsultant.com/SIlifetime.htm

- [1.35] E. R. Fossum, "CMOS image sensors: electronic camera-on-a-chip," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 44, no. 10, pp. 1689-1698, Oct. 1997.
- [1.36] B. G. Streetman, S. Banerjee, *Solid State Electronic Devices*, Prentice-Hall Inc., 1995.
- [1.37] IRE Symbols Committee et al., "IEEE standard letter symbols for semiconductor devices," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 11, no. 8, pp. 392-397, Aug. 1964.
- [1.38] N. Faramarzpour, M.J. Deen, and S. Shirani, "Signal and noise modeling and analysis of CMOS active pixel sensors," *Journal of Vacuum Science and Technology: Special Issue for the Canadian Semiconductor Technology Conference*, vol. A24, no. 3, pp. 879-882, May/June 2006.
- [1.39] N. Faramarzpour, M.J. Deen, S. Shirani, Q. Fang, L.W.C. Liu, F. Campos, and J.W. Swart, "CMOS based active pixel for low-light-level detection: Analysis and measurements," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 54, no. 12, pp. 3229-3237, Dec. 2007.
- [1.40] N. Faramarzpour, M.M. Eldesouki, M.J. Deen, S. Shirani, and Q. Fang, "CMOS photodetector systems for low-level light applications," *Journal of Materials Science: Materials in Electronics*, [In press] 7 pages, Oct. 2007.
- [1.41] N. Faramarzpour, M.J. Deen, and S. Shirani, "An approach to improve the signal-to-noise ratio of active pixel sensor for low-light-level applications," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 53, no. 9, pp. 2384-2391, Sep. 2006.
- [1.42] N. Faramarzpour, M.J. Deen, S. Shirani, and Q. Fang, "Fully integrated single photon avalanche diode detector in CMOS 0.18µm technology," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 55, no. 3, pp. 760-767, Mar. 2008.
- [2.1] R. H. Nixon, S. E. Kemeny, C. O. Staller, and E. R. Fossum, "128 × 128 CMOS photodiode-type active pixel sensor with on-chip timing, control and signal chain electronics," *Charge-Coupled Devices and Solid-State Optical Sensors V, Proc. SPIE*, vol. 2415, pp. 117-123, 1995.
- [2.2] E. Oba, K. Mabuchi, Y. Iida, N. Nakamura, and H. Miura, "A 1/4-inch 330 k square pixel progressive scan CMOS active pixel image sensor," *ISSCC Dig. Tech. Papers*, San Francisco CA, Feb. 1997, pp. 180-181.
- [2.3] P. Denyer, J. E. Hurwitz, D. J. Baxter, and G. Townsend, "800 k-pixel CMOS sensor for consumer still cameras," *Solid-State Sensor Arrays: Development* and Applications, Proc. SPIE, vol. 3019, pp. 115-124, 1997.
- [2.4] A. Krymski, D. Vanblerkom, A. Andersson, N. Block, B. Mansoorian, and E. R. Fossum, "A high speed 500 frames/s 1024 × 1024 CMOS active pixel sensor," in *Proc. Symp. VLSI Circuits*, 1999, pp. 137-138.
- [2.5] S. Kleinfelder, S. H. Lim, X. Q. Liu, and A. El Gamal, "A 10000 frames/s 0.18 μm CMOS digital pixel sensor with pixel/level memory," in *ISSCC Tech. Dig.*, San Francisco, CA, 2001, pp. 88-89.
- [2.6] I. Takayanagi, M. Shirakawa, K. Mitani, M. Suqawara, S. Iversen, J. Moholt, J. Nakamura, and E. R. Fossum, "A 1.25-inch 60-frames/s 8.3 M-pixel digital-output CMOS image sensor," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 40, no. 11, pp. 2305-2314, Nov. 2005.

- [2.7] N. Faramarzpour, M. J. Deen, S. Shirani, Q. Fang, L. W. C. Liu, F. S. Campos, and J. W. Swart, "CMOS-based active pixel for low-light-level detection: Analysis and measurement," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 54, no. 12, pp. 3229-3237, Dec. 2007.
- [2.8] A. B. Glaser and G. E. Subak-Sharpe, *Integrated Circuit Engineering*, 2nd Ed. Reading, MA: Addison Wesley, 1979.
- [2.9] Y. Wada, S. Nishimatsu, and N. Hashimoto, "Arsenic ion channeling through single crystal silicon," J. Electrochem. Soc., vol. 127, no. 1, pp. 206-210, Jan. 1980.
- [2.10] S. Yang, S. J. Morris, S. Tian, K. B. Parab, and Al F. Tasch, "Monte Carlo simulation of Arsenic ion implantation in (100) single-crystal Silicon," *IEEE Trans. Semiconductor Manufacturing*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 49-58, Feb. 1996.
- [2.11] R. M. Corless, G. H. Gonnet, D. E. G. Hare, D. J. Jeffey, and D. E. Knuth, "On the Lambert function," *Adv. Comput. Math.*, vol. 5, pp. 329-359, 1996.
- [2.12] T. C. Banwell and A. Jayakumar, "Exact analytical solution for current flow through diode with series resistance," *Electronics Lett.*, vol. 36, no. 4, pp. 291-292, Feb. 2000.
- [2.13] N. Faramarzpour, M. J. Deen, and S. Shirani, "Signal and noise modeling and analysis of complementary metal-oxide semiconductor active pixel sensors," J. Vacuum Sci. Technol.—Special Issue Canadian Semiconductor Technol. Conf., vol. A24, no. 3, pp. 879-882, May/Jun. 2006.
- [2.14] D. A. Neamen, *Semiconductor Physics and Devices*, 3rd Ed. New York: McGraw Hill, 2003.
- [2.15] H. Tian, B. Fowler, and A. El Gamal, "Analysis of temporal noise in CMOS photodiode active pixel sensor," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 36, no. 1, pp. 92-101, Jan. 2001.
- [2.16] H. Tian, A. El Gamal, "Analysis of 1/f noise in switched MOSFET circuits," IEEE Trans. Circuits Systems, vol. 48, no. 2, pp. 151-157, Feb. 2001.
- [3.1] E. R. Fossum, "CMOS image sensors: electronic camera-on-a-chip," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 44, no. 10, pp. 1689-1698, Oct. 1997.
- [3.2] S. K. Mendis, S. E. Kemeny, R. C. Gee. B. Pain, C. O. Staller, K. Quiesup, and E. R. Fossum, "CMOS active pixel image sensors for highly integrated imaging systems," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 32, no. 2, pp. 187-197, Feb. 1997.
- [3.3] R. H. Nixon, S. E. Kemeny, B. Pain, C. O. Staller, and E. R. Fossum, "256 × 256 CMOS active pixel sensor camera-on-a-chip," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 31, no. 12, pp. 2046-2050, Dec. 1996.
- [3.4] S. Kavadias, B. Dierickx, D. Scheffer, A. Alaerts, D. Uwaerts, and J. Bogaerts, "A logarithmic response CMOS image sensor with on-chip calibration," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 35, no. 8, pp. 1146-1152, Aug. 2000.
- [3.5] L. G. McIlrath, V. S. Clark, P. K. Duane, R. D. McGrath, and W. D. Waskurak, "Design and analysis of a 512 × 768 current-mediated active pixel array image sensor," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 44, no. 10, pp. 1706-1715, Oct. 1997.

- [3.6] A. Bermak, F. Boussaid, A. Bouzerdourn, "A low power current-mode pixel with on-chip FPN cancellation and digital shutter," in *Proc. ISCAS*, May 2004, vol. 2, pp. 345-348.
- [3.7] S. Decker, R. D. McGrath, K. Brehmer, and C. G. Sodini, "A 256 × 256 CMOS imaging array with wide dynamic range pixels and column-parallel digital output," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 33, no. 12, pp. 2081-2091, Dec. 1998.
- [3.8] B. Fowler, A. El Gamal, and D. X. D. Yang, "A CMOS area image sensor with pixel-level A/D conversion," in *Proc. IEEE 41st ISSCC*, Feb. 1994, pp. 226-227.
- [3.9] D. X. D. Yang, B. Fowler, and A. El Gamal, "A 128 × 128 pixel CMOS area image sensor with multiplexed pixel level A/D conversion," in proc. *IEEE Custom Integrated Circuits Conf.*, 1996, pp. 303-306.
- [3.10] L. G. McIlrath, "A low-power low-noise ultra-wide-dynamic-range CMOS imager with pixel-parallel A/D conversion," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 36, no. 5, pp. 846-853, May 2001.
- [3.11] S. Kleinfelder, S. Lim, X. Liu, and A. El Gamal, "A 10000 frames/s CMOS digital pixel sensor," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 36, no. 12, pp. 2049-2059, Dec. 2001.
- [3.12] I. Takayanagi, M. Shirakawa, K. Mitani, M. Sugawara, S. Iversen, J. Moholt, J. Nakamura, and E. R. Fossum, "A 1.25-inch 60-frames/s 8.3-M-pixel digital-output CMOS image sensor," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 40, no. 11, pp. 2305-2314, Nov. 2005.
- [3.13] Y. C. Shih and C. Y. Wu, "A new CMOS pixel structure for low-dark-current and large-array-size still imager applications," *IEEE Trans. Circuits and Systems*, vol. 51, no. 11, pp. 2204-2214, Nov. 2004.
- [3.14] Y. C. Shih and C. Y. Wu, "An optimized CMOS pseudo-active-pixel-sensor structure for low-dark-current imager applications," in *Proc. ISCAS*, March 2003, vol. 1, pp. 809-812.
- [3.15] H. Y. Cheng and Y. C. King, "An ultra-low dark current CMOS image sensor cell using n⁺ ring reset," *IEEE Electron Device Lett.*, vol. 23, no. 9, pp. 538-540, Sep. 2002.
- [3.16] H. Y. Cheng and Y. C. King, "A CMOS image sensor with dark-current cancellation and dynamic sensitivity operations," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 50, no. 1, pp. 91-95, Jan. 2003.
- [3.17] K. Yonemoto, H. Sumi, R. Suzuki, T. Ueno, "A CMOS image sensor with a simple FPN-reduction technology and a hole accumulated diode," in *Proc. IEEE ISSCC*, 2000, pp. 102-103.
- [3.18] N. Ricquier and B. Dierickx, "Active pixel CMOS image sensor with on-chip non-uniformity correction," *IEEE Workshop on CCD and Advanced Image Sensors*, Dana Point, Calif., 1995.
- [3.19] Z. Zhou, B. Pain, and E. Fossum, "A CMOS imager with on-chip variable resolution for light-adaptive imaging," in *Proc. IEEE 45th ISSCC*, Feb. 1998, pp. 174-175.

- [3.20] B. Casadei, J. P. Lenormand, B. Cunin, and Y. Hu, "Design and characterization of a fast CMOS APS imager for high speed laser detection," in *Proc.* 18th IEEE IMTC, 2001, vol. 2, pp. 1065-1069.
- [3.21] S. Mehta and R. Etienne-Cummings, "Normal optical flow measurement on a CMOS APS imager," in *Proc. ISCAS*, 2004, vol. 4, pp. 848-851.
- [3.22] N. Faramarzpour, M. M. El Desouki, M. J. Deen, S. Shirani, and Q. Fang, "CMOS photodetector systems for low-level light applications", *J. Material Sciences: Material in Electronics*, [In press] 7 pages, Oct. 2007.
- [3.23] H. Tian and A. El Gamal, "Analysis of 1/f noise in switched MOSFET circuits," *IEEE Trans. Circuits and Systems*, vol. 48, no. 2, pp. 151-157, Feb. 2001.
- [3.24] F. S. Campos, O. Marinov, N. Faramarzpour, F. Saffih, M. J. Deen, and J. W. Swart, "A multisampling time-domain CMOS imager with synchronous readout circuit", in *Proc. SBCCI*, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, Sep. 2007, pp. 53-58.
- [3.25] Q. Luo, Z. J. Chen, J. G. Harris, S. Clynes, M. Erwin, "System and method to facilitate time domain sampling for solid state imager," US patent 20030076432.
- [3.26] C. H. Lai, A. C. King, and S. Y. Huang, "A 1.2-V 0.25-µm clock output pixel architecture with wide dynamic range and self-offset cancellation," *IEEE Sensors Journal*, vol. 6, no. 2, pp. 398-405, Apr. 2006.
- [3.27] R. J. Baker, W. H. Li, and D. E. Boyce, *CMOS Circuit Design and Layout*, 1st edition. Piscataway, N.J.: IEEE Press, 1998.
- [3.28] J. Yuan and C. Svensson, "New single-clock CMOS latches and flip-flops with improved speed and power savings," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 32, no. 1, pp. 62-69, Jan. 1997.
- [3.29] A. Kitchen, A. Bermak, and A. Bouzerdoum, "PWM digital pixel sensor based on asynchronous self-reset scheme," *IEEE Electron Device Lett.*, vol. 25, no. 7, pp. 471-473, July 2004.
- [3.30] X. Guo, Z. J. Chen, J. G. Harris, "CMOS imager having asynchronous pixel readout in order of pixel illumination," *US patent* 6660989.
- [3.31] Z. Yan, M. J. Deen, and D. S. Malhi, "Gate-Controlled Lateral NPN BJT: Characteristics, Modeling and Circuit Applications," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 44, no. 1, pp. 118-128, Jan. 1997.
- [4.1] A. J. P. Theuwissen, "CCD or CMOS image sensors for consumer digital still photography?" in *Proc. Int. Symp. VLSI*, Apr. 2001, pp. 168-171.
- [4.2] R. A. Yotter and D. M. Wilson, "A review of photodetectors for sensing lightemitting reporters in biological systems," *IEEE Sensors J.*, vol. 3, no. 3, pp. 288-303, Jun. 2003.
- [4.3] J. Wang, "Survey and summary: From DNA biosensors to gene chips," *Nucleic Acids Res.*, vol. 28, no. 16, pp. 3011-3016, Aug. 2000.
- [4.4] H. K. Ki, C. Buehler, K. Bahlmann, and P. T. C. So, "Usage of multi-anode PMT on the multi-photon fluorescence spectroscopy and video rate microscopy," in *Proc. 24th EMBS/BMES*, Oct. 23-24, 2002, vol. 2, p. 1206.
- [4.5] N. Faramarzpour, M. J. Deen, and S. Shirani, "An approach to improve the signal-to-noise ratio of active pixel sensor for low-light-level applications," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 53, no. 9, pp. 2384-2391, Sep. 2006.

- [4.6] N. Faramarzpour, M. J. Deen, S. Shirani, Q. Fang, L. W. C. Liu, F. S. Campos, and J. W. Swart, "CMOS-based active pixel for low-light-level detection: Analysis and measurements," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 54, no. 12, pp. 3229-3237, Dec. 2007.
- [4.7] H. Tian, B. Fowler, and A. El Gamal, "Analysis of temporal noise in CMOS photodiode active pixel sensor," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 36, no. 1, pp. 92-101, Jan. 2001.
- [4.8] C. Mead, Analog VLSI and Neural Systems. Reading, MA: Addison Wesley, 1989.
- [4.9] Y. Tsividis, *Operation and Modeling of the MOS Transistors*, 2nd ed. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1999.
- [4.10] B. Fowler, M. D. Godfrey, J. Balicki, and J. Canfield, "Low noise readout using active reset for CMOS APS," in *Proc. SPIE*, vol. 3965, pp. 126-135, Jan. 2000.
- [4.11] B. Fowler, M. D. Godfrey, and S. Mims, "Analysis of reset noise suppression via stochastic differential equations," in *Proc. IEEE Workshop CCD and AIS*, Jun. 2005, pp. 19-22.
- [4.12] A. El Gamal and H. Eltoukhy, "CMOS image sensors," *IEEE Circuits Devices Mag.*, vol. 21, no. 3, pp. 6-20, May/Jun. 2005.
- [4.13] B. S. Carlson, "Comparison of modern CCD and CMOS image sensor technologies and systems for low resolution imaging," in *Proc. IEEE Sens.*, Jun. 2002, vol. 1, pp. 171-176.
- [4.14] L. J. Koslowski et al., "Pixel noise suppression via SoC management of tapered reset in a 1920 × 1080 CMOS image sensor," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 40, no. 12, pp. 2766-2776, Dec. 2005.
- [4.15] Z. Zhou, B. Pain, and E. R. Fossum, "Frame-transfer CMOS active pixel sensor with pixel binning," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 44, no. 10, pp. 1764-1768, Oct. 1997.
- [5.1] S. A. Soper, J. H. Flanagan, B. L. Legendre, D. C. Williams, and R. P. Hammer, "Near-infrared, laser-induced fluorescence detection for DNA sequencing applications," *IEEE J. Selected Topics in Quantum Electronics*, vol. 2, no. 4, pp. 1129-1139, Dec. 1996.
- [5.2] N. S. Nightingale, "A new silicon avalanche photodiode photon counting detector module for astronomy," *Exp. Astronomy*, vol. 1, pp. 407-422, 1991.
- [5.3] J. Wang, "Survey and summary: From DNA biosensors to gene chips," *Nucleic Acids Research*, vol. 28, no. 16, pp. 3011-3016, Aug. 2000.
- [5.4] B. E. Bruke, R. K. Reich, J. A. Gregory, W. H. McGonagle, A. M. Waxman,
 E. D. Savoye, and B. B. Kosicki, "640 × 480 back-illuminated CCD imager with improved blooming control for night vision," in *IEDM Tech. Dig.*, Dec. 1998, pp. 33-36.
- [5.5] S. Adachi, H. Simada, H. Gotoh, and K. Mizobuchi, "A novel lateral overflow drain technology for high quantum efficiency CCD imagers," in *IEDM Tech. Dig.*, Dec. 2000, pp. 693-696.
- [5.6] T. Watabe, M. Goto, H. Ohtake, H. Maruyama, M. Abe, K. Tanioka, and N. Egami, "New signal readout method for ultrahigh-sensitivity CMOS image sensor," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 50, no. 1, pp. 63-69, Jan. 2003.

- [5.7] T. H. Hsu, Y. K. Fang, D. N. Yaung, J. S. Lin, S. G. Wuu, H. C, Chien, C. H. Tseng, C. S. Wang, S. F. Chen, C. Y., Lin, C. S. Lin, and T. H. Chou, "An effective method to improve the sensitivity of deep sub-micrometer CMOS image sensor," *IEEE Electron Device Lett.*, vol. 26, no. 8, pp. 547-549, Aug. 2005.
- [5.8] N. Faramarzpour, M. J. Deen, and S. Shirani, "Signal and noise modeling and analysis of complementary metal-oxide semiconductor active pixel sensors," *J. Vac. Sci. Technol. A*, vol. 24, no. 3, pp. 879-882, May 2006.
- [5.9] K. J. Gordon, V. Fernandez, P. D., Townsend, and G. S. Buller, "A short wavelength gigahertz clocked fiber optic quantum key distribution system," *IEEE J. Quantum Electron.*, vol. 40, no. 7, pp. 900-908, Jul. 2004.
- [5.10] C. Niclass, A. Rochas, P. A. Besse, and E. Charbon, "Design and characterization of a CMOS 3D image sensor based on single photon avalanche diodes," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 40, no. 11, pp. 1847-1854, Nov. 2005.
- [5.11] H. K. Ki, C. Buehler, K. Bahlmann, and P. T. C. So, "Usage of multi-anode PMT on the multi-photon fluorescence spectroscopy and video rate microscopy," in *Proc.* 24th *EMBS/BMES*, vol. 2, Oct. 23-26, 2002, pp. 1206.
- [5.12] M. Kfouri, O. Marinov, P. Quevedo, N. Faramarzpour, S. Shirani, L. W. C. Liu, Q. Fang and M. J. Deen, "Towards a miniaturized wireless fluorescence-based diagnostic imaging system," *IEEE J. Selected Topics Quantum Electronics*, vol. 14, no. 1, pp. 226-234, Jan./Feb. 2008.
- [5.13] Q. Fang, T. Papaioannou, J. A. Jo, R. Vaitha, K. Shastry and L. Marcu, "Time-domain laser-induced fluorescence spectroscopy apparatus for clinical diagnostics," *Rev. Scientific Instruments*, vol. 75, no. 1, pp. 151-162, 2004.
- [5.14] *Photomultiplier Tubes: Basics and Applications*, 3rd ed., Hamamatsu photonics k.k., 2006.
- [5.15] S. Mazeres, V. Borrel, C. Magenc, J. L. Courrech, and R. Bazer-Bachi, "APD detectors for biological fluorescence spectroscopy," *Nuclear Inst. Methods Physics Research A*, vol. 567, no. 1, pp. 255-259, 2006.
- [5.16] M. Asif Khan, M. Shatalov, H. P. Maruska, H. M. Wang, and E. Kuokstis, "III-Nitride UV devices," *Jpn. J. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 44, pp. 7191-7206, 2005.
- [5.17] J. C. Jackson, A. P. Morrison, D. Phelan, and A. Mathewson, "A novel silicon Geiger-mode avalanche photodiode," in *IEDM Tech. Dig.*, Dec. 2002, pp. 797-800.
- [5.18] F. Zappa, A. Lotito, and S. Tisa, "Photon-counting chip for avalanche detectors," *IEEE Photonics Tech. Lett.*, vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 184-186, Jan. 2005.
- [5.19] B. F. Aull, A. H. Loomis, J. A. Gregory, and D. J. Young, "Geiger-mode avalanche photodiode arrays integrated with CMOS timing circuits," *Device research conf. digest*, vol. 56, pp. 58-59, Jun. 1998.
- [5.20] I. Takayanagi, M. Shirakawa, K. Mitani, M. Suqawara, S. Iversen, J. Moholt, J. Nakamura, and E. R. Fossum, "A 1.25-inch 60-frames/s 8.3 M-pixel digital-output CMOS image sensor," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 40, no. 11, pp. 2305-2314, Nov. 2005.

- [5.21] N. Faramarzpour, M. J. Deen, S. Shirani, "An approach to improve the signal-to-noise ratio of active pixel sensor for low-light-level applications," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 53, no. 9, pp. 2384-2391, Sep. 2006.
- [5.22] A. M. Moloney, A. P. Morrison, J. C. Jackson, A. Mathewson, and P. J. Murphy, "Geiger-mode avalanche photodiode with CMOS trans-impedance amplifier receiver for optical data link applications," in *IT&T. Conf. Transmission Tech.*, Oct. 2002, pp. 251-257.
- [5.23] A. Rochas, A. R. Pauchard, P. A. Besse, D. Pantic, A. Prijic, and R. S. Popovic, "Low-noise silicon avalanche photodiodes fabricated in conventional CMOS technologies," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 49, no. 3, pp. 387-394, Mar. 2002.
- [5.24] L. Pancheri and G. F. Dalla Betta, "CMOS distance sensor based on single photon avalanche diode," *Research in Microelectronics and Electronics*, vol. 2, pp. 103-106, Jul. 2005.
- [5.25] S. Tisa, F. Zappa, and I. Labanca, "On-chip detection and counting of single-photons," in *IEDM Tech. Dig.*, Dec. 5-7, 2005, pp. 815-818.
- [5.26] C. Niclass, M. Sergio, and E. Charbon, "A single photon avalanche diode array fabricated on deep-submicron CMOS technology," in *Proc. Design Automation and Test in Europe*, Munich, Mar. 2006, pp. 81-86.
- [5.27] N. Faramarzpour, M. J. Deen, S. Shirani, and Q. Fang, "Fully integrated single photon avalanche diode detector in CMOS 0.18 μm technology," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 55, no. 3, pp. 760-767, Mar. 2008.
- [5.28] www.cadence.com
- [5.29] K. G. McKay, "Avalanche breakdown in silicon," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. 94, no. 4, pp. 877-884, May 1954.
- [5.30] C. L. F. Ma, M. J. Deen, L. E., Tarof, and J. C. H. Yu, "Temperature dependence of breakdown voltages in separate absorption, grading, charge and multiplication InP/InGaAs avalanche photodiodes," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 42, no. 5, pp. 810-818, May 1995.
- [5.31] C. L. F. Ma, M. J. Deen and L. Tarof, "Characterization and Modelling of SAGCM InP/InGaAs Avalanche Photodiodes for Multigigabit Optical Fiber Communications," *Advances in Imaging and Electron Physics*, Editor P. Hawkes, Academic Press, New York, vol. 99, pp. 65-170, 1998.
- [5.32] M. S. Tyagi, "Zener and avalanche breakdown in silicon alloyed pn-junctions," *Solid-state Electron.*, vol. 11, pp. 99-128, Jan. 1968.
- [5.33] O. Marinov, M. J. Deen and J. A. J. Tejada, "Theory of microplasma fluctuations and noise in silicon diode in avalanche breakdown," *J. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 101, no. 6, pp. 1063, Mar., 2007.
- [5.34] K. S. Champlin, "Microplasma fluctuations in silicon," J. Appl. Phys., vol. 30, no. 7, pp. 1039-1050, Jul. 1959.
- [5.35] A. G. Chynoweth and G. L. Pearson, "Effect of dislocations on breakdown in silicon p-n junctions," *J. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 29, no. 7, pp. 1103-1110, Jul. 1958.
- [5.36] C. J. Varker and K. V. Ravi, "Oxidation-induced stacking faults in silicon. II. Electrical effects on pn diodes," J. Appl. Phys., vol. 45, no. 1, pp. 272, Jan. 1974.

- [5.37] C. Donolato, P. G. Merli, and I. Vecchi, "Characterization of microplasma sites in silicon n⁺-p junctions," *J. Electrochem. Soc.*, vol. 124, pp. 473, 1977.
- [5.38] J. W. Gaylord, "Microplasma observations in silicon junctions using a scanning electron beam," J. Electrochem. Soc., vol. 113, pp. 753, 1966.
- [5.39] N. F. B. Neve, K. A. Hughes, and P. R. Thornton, "Scanning electron microscope as a means of studying microplasmas at high resolution," *J. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 37, no. 4, pp. 1704, Mar. 1966.
- [5.40] M. Lesniak and D. B. Holt, "Defect microstructure and microplasmas in silicon avalanche photodiodes," *J. Material Sci.*, vol. 22, pp. 3547-3555, 1987.
- [5.41] R. H. Haitz, "Model for the electrical behavior of a microplasma," J. Appl. Phys., vol. 35, no. 5, May 1964.
- [5.42] S. Reggiani, E. Gnani, M. Rudan, G. Baccarani, C. Corvasce, D. Barlini, M. Ciappa, W. Fichtner, M. Denison, N. Jensen, G. Groos, and M. Stecher, "Measurement and modeling of the electron impact-ionization coefficient in silicon up to very high temperatures," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 52, no. 10, pp. 2290-2299, Oct. 2005.
- [5.43] W. G. Oldham, R. R. Samuelson, and P. Antognetti, "Triggering phenomena in avalanche diodes," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 19, no. 9, Sep. 1972.
- [5.44] M. A. Itzler, R. Ben-Michael, C, F. Hsu, K. Slomkowski, A. Tosi, S. Cova, F. Zappa, and R. Ispasoiu, "Single photon avalanche diodes (SPADs) for 1.5 μm photon counting applications," *J. Modern Optics*, vol. 54, no. 2-3, pp. 283-304, Jan. 2007.
- [5.45] D. Cronin, A. M. Moloney, and A. P. Morrison, "Simulated monolithically integrated single photon counter," in *High Frequency Postgraduate Student Colloquium*, Manchester, Sep. 6-7, 2004, pp. 9-14.

APPENDIX A

%Signal-to-noise ratio of APS vs. integration time, considering our model for the capacitance of the photodiode

```
clc; clear;
```

```
K = 1.38 * 10^{-23};
T = 300;
q = 1.6 * 10^{-19};
idc = 2.28 * 10^{-15};
iph = 50 * 10^{-15};
Cph = 22 * 10^{-15};
V0 = 2.1;
Phi = 0.7;
A = (3 * 10^{-4})^{2}; AlphaH = 2 * 10^{-3}; mu = 1350; x = 1 * 10^{-4};
N = iph * x / (q * mu * Phi * A);
K1 = AlphaH / N;
Vd = 2.5;
Vt = 0.0259;
CB = 1; CE = 150;
DeltaT = 10^{-2};
for c = cB : cE
    tint(c) = c * DeltaT;
    &Calculation of noise
    Vnres2(c) = 0 * K * T / (2 * Cph);
    Vnsh2(c) = q * (iph + idc) * tint(c) / Cph^2;
    Vnlf(c) = (K1 * (iph + idc)^2 / (4 * pi^2 * Cph^2)) * tint(c)^2;
    Vn(c) = (1 * Vnres2(c) + 1 * Vnsh2(c) + 1 * Vn1f(c))^{0.5};
    &Calculation of signal
    Simple models
    Vs(c) = (iph / Cph(c)) * tint;
    %Vsat = V0 + Vt * log (idc / (iph + idc));
    Vs(c) = ((iph/Cph(c)) * tint * Vsat) / (Vsat + (iph/Cph(c)) *
tint);
    &Vs(c) = V0 - Vt * log( (idc / (iph + idc)) - ((idc / (iph +
idc)) - exp(V0 / Vt)) * exp(-tint(c) * (idc + iph) / (Vt * Cph)) );
    %Our model with saturation
    if c == 1
        Vss(c) = V0;
    else
        Vss(c) = Vss(c - 1) + DeltaT * (-iph + idc * (exp(-Vss(c - 1))))
1)/Vt) - 1)) / (Cph * ((V0 + Phi)/(Vss(c - 1) + Phi))^(1/4));
    end
    Vs(c) = V0 - Vss(c);
    %Vt = ( (V0 + Phi)^1.5 - 3 * (iph + idc) * (V0 + Phi)^0.5 *
tint(c) / (2 * Cph) )^(2/3) - Phi;
    8Vs2(c) = V0 - Vt;
    %Vs3(c) = Vs(c) - iph^2 * tint(c)^2 / (4 * Cph^2 * (V0 + Phi));
```

SNR(c) = 20 * log10(Vs(c) / Vn(c));end

[max, maxi] = max(SNR); maxi, SNR(maxi)

figure(1); set(gca, 'fontsize', 20); plot(tint, SNR, 'LineWidth', 2); ylabel('SNR (dB) (s)'); grid; xlabel('Integration time (s)');

APPENDIX B

```
%DC level signal calculation
clc; clear;
t = [0 : 0.005 : 1];
V0 = 2.5;
Cph = 22 * 10^{-15};
Phi = 0.7;
Trst = 0.2 * 10^{-6};
Tint = 30 \times 10^{-3};
Idk = 2.28 * 10^{-15};
WL = 10;
Vb = 0.7;
Mu = 1350; q = 1.6 * 10^{-19}; Es = 11.8 * 8.85 * 10^{-24};
Na = 10^17; PhiF = 0.0259 * log(Na/(1.5 * 10^10)); VsP = 2.47;
IO = Mu * Vb^2 * (2 * q * Es * Na)^{0.5} / (4 * PhiF + 2 * VsP)^{0.5};
Vgb = 2.5; Vdb = 2.5;
k = 1.3;
I = 2.3 * 10^{-15};
Vt = 0.0259;
for KK = 1 : 2000 - 5
    Iph(KK) = Idk + (KK - 1) * 10^{-15};
    V(1) = 2.1;
    T(1) = 0;
    for j = 2 : 100;
        if mod(j, 2) == 1
            %Integration
            V(j) = V(j - 1) - (Iph(KK) / Cph) * Tint;
            V(j) = ((V(j - 1) + Phi)^{(3/4)} - (3*Iph(KK)/(4*Cph)) *
(V(j - 1) + Phi)^{(-1/4)} * Tint)^{(4/3)} - Phi;
            %V(j) = Vt * log( (Idk / Iph(KK)) - ((Idk / Iph(KK)) -
exp(V(j - 1) / Vt)) * exp(-Tint * Iph(KK) / (Vt * Cph)) );
            T(j) = T(j - 1) + Tint;
        else
            A = ((WL / Cph) * I0 * exp(Vgb * k / Vb));
            B = A * exp(-Vdb / Vb) + I / Cph;
            K = A - B * exp(V(j - 1) / Vb);
            V(j) = Vb * (-log(B) + log(A - K * exp(-Trst * B / Vb)))
);
            T(j) = T(j - 1) + Trst;
        end
    end
    Sw(KK) = V(j) - V(j - 1);
    DCL(KK) = (V(j) + V(j - 1))/2;
end
figure(1);
```

```
set(gca, 'fontsize', 36);
plot(Iph * 10^12, DCL(1) - DCL, 'r', Iph * 10^12, Sw - Sw(1), 'b',
'linewidth', 4, 'markersize', 10);
legend('DC level', 'Swing');
xlabel('Photocurrent(pA)');
ylabel('Output(V)');
%**********Draw sample ones
figure(2);
TE = 67;
Iph(KK) = Idk + 0 * 10^{-15};
V(1) = 2.1;
T(1) = 0;
for j = 2 : 100;
    if mod(j, 2) == 1
        %Integration
        V(j) = V(j - 1) - (Iph(KK) / Cph) * Tint;
        V(j) = ((V(j - 1) + Phi)^{(3/4)} - (3*Iph(KK)/(4*Cph)) * (V(j - 1))
- 1) + Phi)^(-1/4) * Tint)^(4/3) - Phi;
        %V(j) = Vt * log( (Idk / Iph(KK)) - ((Idk / Iph(KK)) -
exp(V(j - 1) / Vt)) * exp(-Tint * Iph(KK) / (Vt * Cph)) );
        T(j) = T(j - 1) + Tint;
    else
        A = ((WL / Cph) * I0 * exp(Vgb * k / Vb));
        B = A * \exp(-Vdb / Vb) + I / Cph;
        K = A - B * exp(V(j - 1) / Vb);
        V(j) = Vb * (-log(B) + log(A - K * exp(-Trst * B / Vb)));
        T(j) = T(j - 1) + Trst;
    end
end
set(gca, 'fontsize', 36);
plot(T(1:TE), V(1:TE), 'g', 'linewidth', 4, 'markersize', 10); hold
on;
xlabel('Time(s) DC level output Swing output');
ylabel('Sense node voltage(V)');
Iph(KK) = Idk + 10 * 10^{-15};
V(1) = 2.1;
T(1) = 0;
for j = 2 : 100;
    if mod(j, 2) == 1
        %Integration
        V(j) = V(j - 1) - (Iph(KK) / Cph) * Tint;
        V(j) = ((V(j - 1) + Phi)^{(3/4)} - (3*Iph(KK)/(4*Cph)) * (V(j))
- 1) + Phi)^(-1/4) * Tint)^(4/3) - Phi;
        %V(j) = Vt * log( (Idk / Iph(KK)) - ((Idk / Iph(KK)) -
exp(V(j - 1) / Vt)) * exp(-Tint * Iph(KK) / (Vt * Cph)) );
        T(j) = T(j - 1) + Tint;
    else
        A = ((WL / Cph) * I0 * exp(Vgb * k / Vb));
```

```
B = A * exp(-Vdb / Vb) + I / Cph;
        K = A - B * exp(V(j - 1) / Vb);
        V(j) = Vb * (-log(B) + log(A - K * exp(-Trst * B / Vb)));
        T(j) = T(j - 1) + Trst;
    end
end
plot(T(1:TE), V(1:TE), 'c', 'linewidth', 4, 'markersize', 10); hold
on;
Iph(KK) = Idk + 50 * 10^{-15};
V(1) = 2.1; %Initialize sense node voltage
T(1) = 0;
for j = 2 : 100;
   if mod(j, 2) == 1
       %Integration
        V(j) = V(j - 1) - (Iph(KK) / Cph) * Tint;
        V(j) = ((V(j - 1) + Phi)^{(3/4)} - (3*Iph(KK)/(4*Cph)) * (V(j))
- 1) + Phi)^(-1/4) * Tint)^(4/3) - Phi;
        %V(j) = Vt * log( (Idk / Iph(KK)) - ((Idk / Iph(KK)) -
exp(V(j - 1) / Vt)) * exp(-Tint * Iph(KK) / (Vt * Cph)) );
       T(j) = T(j - 1) + Tint;
    else
       %Reset
        A = ((WL / Cph) * I0 * exp(Vgb * k / Vb));
        B = A * \exp(-Vdb / Vb) + I / Cph;
        K = A - B * exp(V(j - 1) / Vb);
        V(j) = Vb * (-log(B) + log(A - K * exp(-Trst * B / Vb)));
        T(j) = T(j - 1) + Trst;
    end
end
plot(T(1:TE), V(1:TE), 'm', 'linewidth', 4, 'markersize', 10); hold
on;
```

legend('Photocurrent = 0pA', 'Photocurrent = 10pA', 'Photocurrent = 50pA');